
Date Published:23 September 2019     

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee

Tuesday 24 September 2019 at 10.00 am

Members' Room - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

ORGANISATION ITEMS

1  APOLOGIES Stephen Bace

2  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 24)

To consider:

- Draft minutes for the meeting held on 11 June 2019
- Draft minutes for the Joint meeting with Health Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee on 30 July 2019
- Draft minutes for the meeting held on 13 August 2019

Stephen Bace

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST Stephen Bace

SCRUTINY ITEMS

4  DRUG AND ALCOHOL BRIEFING (Pages 25 - 30) Sarah Scott

5  PARKING REVIEW 

A briefing to help members understand the process.

TO FOLLOW

Alexis Newport, 
Philip Williams

6  GLOUCESTERSHIRE SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD ANNUAL 
REPORT (Pages 31 - 64)

Sarah Jasper, 
Paul Yeatman

7  ANNUAL PUBLIC HEALTH REPORT (Pages 65 - 94) Sarah Scott



    

DIRECTORS' REPORTS

8  DIRECTOR PUBLIC HEATH REPORT (Pages 95 - 122) Sarah Scott

9  DIRECTOR ADULT SOCIAL CARE REPORT (Pages 123 - 142) Margaret Willcox 
OBE

10  CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT (Pages 143 - 146) Wayne Bowcock

Membership –  Cllr Phil Awford, Cllr Iain Dobie (Vice-Chairman), Cllr Andrew Gravells, 
Cllr Terry Hale, Cllr Jeremy Hilton, Cllr Stephen Hirst (Chairman), Cllr Carole Allaway Martin, 
Cllr Shaun Parsons and Cllr Steve Robinson

Added Members - 

Co-Opted Member - 

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer 
(Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/ e-mail: Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) 
prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Stephen Bace, Senior Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny Team)
:01452 324204/fax: 425850/e-mail: stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is permitted subject 
to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please contact Democratic Services (tel 
01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of 
the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services 
Officer on duty at the meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES of a meeting of the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
held on Tuesday 11 June 2019 at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:
Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Phil Awford
Cllr Jeremy Hilton
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Andrew Gravells

Cllr Steve Robinson
Cllr Iain Dobie
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin
Cllr Shaun Parsons

Substitutes:

Officers in attendance:

Cabinet Members:

Mark Astle, Assistant Chief Fire Officer
Margaret Willcox, Commissioning Director Adults
Mark Branton, Deputy Director: Adult Social Care
Sarah Scott, Director Public Health
Stephen Bace, Lead Democratic Services Adviser

Cllr Roger Wilson
Cllr Kathy Williams

Apologies:

1. APOLOGIES 

See above.

2. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

No additional declarations made.

3. TERMS OF REFERENCE 

3.1 Members noted the terms of reference for the Committee as agreed by Constitution 
Committee. The committee had been established as a result of the Scrutiny Review 
undertaken by members. 

3.2 The Committee had a work planning meeting scheduled for 28 June 2019 where 
members would have the opportunity to plan future agendas and identify the areas 
within their remit they would like to focus on. In addition to the regular Committee 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

meetings, there would be joint meetings with the Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for items that were cross cutting. It was suggested that a meeting be 
held in July with Health Scrutiny members to look at workforce planning.

3.3 At future Committee meetings, there would be a work plan item which would allow 
members to see the items that were coming up and to identify any additional work 
required.

4. CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT 

4.1 Wayne Bowcock the Chief Fire Officer had been unable to attend the meeting so 
Mark Astle presented the report in his absence. This report had been considered in 
the past by Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee and the same 
format was being presented to the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee. At work planning, members could discuss any revisions to the format 
and this would also be reviewed as part of the Chief Fire Officer’s consideration of 
the audit findings.

4.2 Members were informed that the HMICFRS Inspection team had visited the Fire 
and Rescue Service on the week commencing 8 April 2019 looking closely at 
systems and processes and speaking to teams and members of staff. There was a 
strategic briefing where the service had some positive feedback, as well as outlining 
some of the areas of improvement. The full inspection was undertaken on the week 
commencing 3 June 2019 which included focus groups and speaking to a large 
amount of frontline staff. The next step would be a report being published by the 
HMIC by the end of the year with a debrief prior to that on 13 June 2019. There 
would also be a wider report on ‘State of the Nation’ reflecting on other services and 
trends across the country. 

4.3 One member asked for a copy of the self-assessment that had been provided and 
asked who was invited to the debrief on 13 June 2019 and whether this might be a 
wider invite. In response it was stated that a copy of the assessment would be 
provided to members. With regards to HMIC briefing it was a small number of 
individuals to receive ‘bullet points’ without context. Once the document was 
produced it would come back to the service so there was an opportunity to 
challenge any inaccuracies. A response would be provided as to whether it could 
be a wider invite.
ACTION Mark Astle

4.4 The report also provided details of the Safer Firefighter programme, as well as a 
joint review of the civil protection team and an update on the work of the 
Community Safety Team.

4.5 In terms of the performance of the service, accidental dwelling fires continued to be 
a current concern with the 3rd quarter having seen an increase of 15 above target. 
Many of these fires were cooking and electrical related, staff continued to undertake 
Safe and Well visits highlighting safety in these areas. 77% of those visits were 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

carried out to high risk groups. Quarter 4  showed an end of year total of 8058 
visits, short of the aspirational target of 10,000. Nevertheless 78% of those visits 
were carried out to high risk groups. Prevention work around white goods was also 
important to help tackle the issue and in the fourth quarter there had been a 
decrease from 94 to 64 accidental dwelling fires.

4.6 In response to a question, it was explained that medical emergency was currently 
outside of the fire fighter role, but staff in Gloucestershire took it seriously. On call 
stations were designated by South West Ambulance Service to provide a single or 
dual response and every whole-time station would deliver cardiac response. It 
would be explored if those figures could be provided in the report although they are 
not part of the core data set. It was explained that following Glenfall, the Adult 
Social Care team had written a document as to how the Fire and Rescue Service 
works in this area. Integration with social care was highlighted by one member as 
an innovative approach and he asked that this be properly detailed within the 
report, including measures and figures where possible to show the impact.

ACTION Mark Astle

4.7 Following the meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee on 25 April 2019, a 
central database of findings and actions with owners had been developed and 
progress updates on each audit would report back to Audit and Governance. 

4.8 One member asked a question regarding the campaign relating to ‘white goods’; 
this was still an issue that needed  continuous awareness as to when goods were 
recalled. Information was provided to the public with regards to how to register their 
goods.

4.9 In response to a question it was explained that the Safe and Well team was 
relatively small and visits were delivered by frontline firefighters. 

4.10 One member suggested that it would be useful to delve into Trading Standards 
service and how it was performing regarding animal welfare, counterfeit goods and 
and how it dealt with Cyber Crime. This would be discussed at the work planning 
meeting with members keen that an overview of the whole service be provided.
ACTION Lead Members

4.11 Members noted that the scrutiny task group on the culture of the Fire and Rescue 
Service had reported to Cabinet in April 2019 and was included in the papers for 
Members’ information. A Cabinet Panel had been set up to help support the 
Cabinet Member and Chief Fire Officer in helping to facilitate change within the 
service.

5. ADULT SINGLE PROGRAMME 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

5.1 Mark Branton, provided members with an overview of the Adult Single Programme. 
The strategic direction was outlined for members, which focussed on supporting 
people to live independently. This had been reinforced by the Care Act.

5.2 Local Authority responsibility was outlined which included broader community 
services as well as lower level intermediate care and long term bed based and 
home care.

5.3 The Committee was advised that greater emphasis was being placed on targeted 
interventions based in part on research carried out by the University of Newcastle 
into patterns of decline due to frailty.  Although for some this might be a slow 
process with little support required until late in life for some the research showed 
more rapid early decline reducing independence and impacting on quality of life. It 
was important to be able to identify where on the decline curve an individual was in 
order to put together the right level of support and there was close working with 
both the public health team to identify this and with Health colleagues on delivering 
such interventions.

5.4 This work was part of the wider programme which consisted of over 80 projects 
aimed at delivering a modern adult social care fit for at least the next ten years, 
moving from a service model subject to meeting criteria thresholds to a model that 
prevents people entering care unnecessarily, reducing dependency and delaying 
people entering social care sooner than necessary. The aim was to manage 
demand for better outcomes within budget.

5.5 Members understood the components of ‘the offer’ which reflected the variety 
included and recognised the value of community as well as integration with health 
and adult social care. 

5.6 The programme was built into clusters in order to structure the work. This included:

 Community
 Population health management
 Housing
 Information and advice
 Technology
 Enhance independence offer
 Practice development
 Contract and market management

5.7 It was explained that this was based on a three tier approach. At tier one it was 
about having ‘something for everyone’, tier two was about providing help when it 
was needed and tier three was about ongoing support for those who needed it. This 
included conversations about helping individuals to help themselves by listening 
and connecting with them. At a later stage the conversation would be about working 
intensively with people who were in crisis and then about building a good life.

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

5.8 It was explained that the next step was  turning the conversations into better ones 
to enable greater connection and impact. This was a change in mind set and 
behaviours not merely about processes and forms and  working with people not 
doing things ‘to’ people. The emphasis was on ‘lives’ becoming what matters, less 
about ‘services. There were a new set of expectations which were clear and 
uncompromising with a focus on well-being.

5.9 The Cabinet Member, Cllr Roger Wilson, emphasised the importance of culture 
change outlining that the Adult Social Care team had worked hard over the 
previous two years with a focus on changing people’s lives. There were also 
considerable financial savings, but the focus was on individual’s health and well-
being. The roll out to the public had started in Spring 2019 including ‘know your 
patch’,. Changing the views of the public was the next step and was a long term 
piece of work. 

5.10 Members noted that the programme in the MTFS and Meeting the Challenge 
(MTC), provided more than 50% of the savings of MTC3, it would provide 10.498m 
in the current year  and had provided £11m in the previous year with the aim for a 
total £26m over  the three years of the programme. This was at the same time as 
making a real difference on the individuals seeking support. The Cabinet Member 
commended the team for the work they had carried out on this.

5.11 One member noted the recent Panorama programme about Somerset Social Care 
Services and stated it raised a number of questions. One of which was about 
individual carers contracts with those in the community locally and the member 
wondered if the County Council used a similar approach? In response it was 
explained that Somerset had a particular structure, but in Gloucestershire there was 
a personal assistant register so that the appropriate checks could be carried out but 
still provided a more local response from someone who was unqualified.  Members 
would be interested to see if there was any further work on this and the figures 
behind it.

5.12 One member suggested there was a lack of clarity regarding who paid for certain 
services, whether it was the NHS or the County Council and how that funding 
changed over time and an individual’s needs changed. It was explained that there 
were clear rules and national policy about where the funding responsibility sat. 
Nursing care was straightforward in that funding came from the NHS, but there 
were criteria around how Continuing Health Care was funded. It was suggested that 
there was a common misconception that once an individual was assessed and a 
service provided, that they would continue to have the same service for life. In 
reality as an individual’s needs changed that eligibility would be re-assessed to 
ensure it still provided the appropriate support. 

5.13 One member stated that a larger number of Forest of Dean service users were 
funded by the County Council than Cheltenham where a larger number were self-
funded. He queried the disparity in rates and was informed that the County Council 
set standard rates depending on service and that often self-funded users would be 
paying more. Some care providers would take both self-funders and local authority 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

funded individuals.  Traditionally the Forest of Dean had fewer self-funders because 
it reflected the financial position and demographics of that area.

5.14 One member discussed the ‘curve of decline’ about identifying what intervention 
would be required and asked if there was a toolkit to help the public recognise 
themselves on the curve.  In response it was explained that ‘Your Circle’ was built 
on similar lines but no specific toolkit had been developed. It was suggested that 
the people starting that process would not be seen by adult social care for a period 
of time. It was suggested that those individuals might become apparent through 
access to primary care services. 

5.15 In response to a question regarding recruitment of social workers it was explained 
that there were not a large number of applicants for each position. Investment had 
been put in place for existing staff who wanted to train to be a social workers and 
the Council was seeing some benefits from that. There was some discussion 
around the competitive rates of pay and it was explained that there was some 
benchmarking being undertaken to see where this Councils sat amongst other 
councils. Staff retention had been improved by clear progression pathways. 

5.16 One member asked whether the Adult Single Programme was unique to 
Gloucestershire or more of a regional or national scheme. It was explained that this 
was a national process, but the implementation of this was quite variable. The 
model had to be a local model. One of the priorities of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board was to tackle loneliness and isolation. In terms of understanding whether the 
programme had been successful it was suggested that this would be determined 
through a case study model and seeing examples of individuals leading richer lives. 
This needed to be looked at in conjunction with complaints to see if people have 
been left dissatisfied by the changes. Surveys were still being sent out to 
understand how individuals felt about the services they were using. At the moment 
the response from individuals had been positive.

 

6. DIRECTOR OF ADULT SOCIAL SERVICES REPORT 

6.1 Margaret Willcox, Director of Adult Social Care, introduced the report which 
provided an update of the relevant services including key activity and challenges. 
Members noted the update of the implementation of Liquid Logic Adults System 
with the proposed date for going live July 2020. In addition, the Committee were 
informed of the new criteria relating to Blue Badge Eligibility which would be 
implemented in August. The report contained further information regarding eligibility 
and how that would be assessed. The County Council was in the process of 
finalising the local authority guidance.

6.2 The Committee understood that the new provider of the Adults element of the 
carers support contract was now operational. The service was called the 
Gloucestershire Carers Hub provided by People Plus, with the main hub based in 
Gloucester City Centre. The transition to the new provider had gone well with many 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

staff TUPE’d across so their skills and experience was not lost. There had been no 
complaints during the transition. A sample was being carried out on satisfaction 
around the new service.

6.3 It was explained that Proud to Care Gloucestershire worked closely with local 
Providers and the Local Workforce Action Board on long term recruitment and 
retention strategies for the care sector. The focus was on recruiting into Domiciliary 
Care.

7. QUARTER 4 ADULT SOCIAL CARE PERFORMANCE REPORT 

7.1 The Committee noted the performance report which reflected performance at 
quarter 4 for 2018/19. This report had been produced for the Health and Care 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee which had previously had responsibility for it and 
was coming to the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee to close 
the financial year.

7.2 One member had a query around the indicator for permanent admissions aged 65+ 
to residential and nursing care homes per 100,000, it was suggested that the total 
figures were inconsistent with the client group breakdown. Clarity would be sought 
around this area.
ACTION Margaret Willcox

7.3 Members stated that they would welcome a performance workshop to help the 
committee to understand the performance indicators detailed and improve their 
understanding of the reports.
ACTION Lead Members

7.4 In response to a concern about performance on reablement and enablement care, it 
was explained that the service was working with a view to develop the reablement 
service with a paper going to Cabinet looking at community and bed based 
reablement. A lot of staff in the community area had been lost and so investment 
would be diverted across to this area to build up the service.

7.5 Members noted that the number of nursing care clients had reduced. The plan had 
been to reduce the amount of placements that were made and offer alternatives to 
stay in the community. Although improvement had been achieved this was not to 
the level indicated in the report so the detail would need to be checked. It was 
suggested there was also an inconsistency in the use of symbols. One member 
suggested that numbers should be provided alongside percentages so the 
committee could understand the number of peoples being affected. An alternative 
report would be shown at work planning.
ACTION Margaret Willcox

8. DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH REPORT 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

8.1 Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health introduced the report explaining that there 
was a commissioning role for services such as sexual health, healthy lifestyles as 
well as a role in supporting people in vulnerable circumstances. A lot of work was 
carried around with the Health and Wellbeing Board and working with partners 
particularly on the integrated care service.

8.2 Members noted the publication of the 2018 Gloucestershire Online Pupil Survey. 
The report provided a summary of the main findings and over the next two years 
the service would be taking an in-depth look at the results, including publication of 
‘deep dives’.

8.3 The Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee had previously queried 
attendances of sexual health services in Gloucestershire by over 60s. The 
response had been included in the report outlining that only 3% of attendances in 
2017 were among the over 60s. Overall diagnosis of STIs remained relatively low in 
older age groups and attendances at the service in Gloucestershire was highest 
among the 15-24 year olds age group. One member requested a list of where those 
services were being offered.
ACTION Sarah Scott

8.4 Members noted that following a successful bid for central government funding, two 
Somewhere Safe to Stay hubs had been set up to help people sleeping rough 
move away from a life on the streets for good. The hubs had been operating since 
March and had already supported a number of rough sleepers access 
accommodation. 

8.5 The new Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy had been presented 
in draft form to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 14 May. This had been 
developed through community and wider stakeholder engagement. 

8.6 Members understood that work had been carried out by the Public Health team to 
develop support for local planning authorities to maximise health benefits and 
minimise or avoid the negative impacts of development. A draft framework had 
been developed setting out consistent guidelines.

8.7 Members were informed that the staff influenza vaccination programme in 
Gloucestershire County Council had continued to grow. Work was being carried out 
with the CCG around three key programmes to improve care home resilience. 
Details were included in the report. In addition, this season 1,700 employees had 
been vaccinated, more than three times the number who accepted the vaccine 2 
years previously. 

8.8 One member commented on the somewhere safe to stay hub stating that he would 
be interested in a report being received by the Committee going into more detail as 
to what had been done in Cheltenham and Gloucester. One member stated that the 
hub provided a good example of the issue of homelessness being taken seriously 
and suggested that a visit be set up so that members could visit the hub. 
ACTION Work Plan

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

8.9 There was a detailed discussion around the ‘capacity’ of individuals who chose to 
live on the streets and the framework that was in place to help support them and 
assess their capacity to make that decision. 

8.10 One member suggested that the public were increasingly interested in air quality 
and that was informing their decisions in their lives such as school placements. The 
member stated that he hoped that Public Health would be taking a lead on this 
emphasising the threat to people’s lives. He felt that a forward looking proactive 
lead role was lacking and he hoped this was a gap they could fill. Another member 
commented on the importance of a joined up approach providing an example of 
building homes in areas where there had been existing concerns around air quality. 
In response it was explained that an air quality scrutiny task group had been set up. 
Public Health had taken a lead role on this and there was a group looking at this 
with regards to use of vehicles. Sarah Scott would be happy to provide further 
information to the Committee.
ACTION Sarah Scott

 

9. QUARTER 4 PUBLIC HEALTH PERFORMANCE REPORT 

9.1 The Committee received the 4th quarter performance report for public health 
2018/19 which had originally been produced for Health and Care Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. This included a proportion of the services provided linked to 
the priorities of the service and integrated care model. 

9.2 With regards to a question on vaping this was a live debate and there were studies 
being released regularly. The current position was that vaping was better than 
smoking where there were established links to ill health. If an individual wanted to 
quit smoking using vaping they would be supported in that.

9.3 It was explained that the latest data around sexually transmitted infections would be 
provided in the next performance report. There was a debate as to whether there 
was an increase in occurrences or whether there were now better services in place 
to help detect it. Members were provided with the details of the success of self-
testing kits particularly with regards to chlamydia

9.4  One member suggested that it would be helpful to see that services were targeting 
areas of deprivation and those who were most vulnerable and that a breakdown of 
the figures by district would be helpful. It was explained that the data was not 
routinely captured on that basis. All services had been redesigned to tackle 
inequalities with the example around the targeted work relating to sexual health. 
The Director would come back to the committee as to the best way to demonstrate 
that targeted approach.
ACTION Sarah Scott 

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

9.5 One member stated the importance of scrutiny being involved in policy 
development and that the scrutiny committee should not be seen as being 
‘backward looking’. He quoted from the LGA that:

 ‘In many councils, scrutiny has built up a reputation as a strong voice in the policy 
development process as a place where ideas for improvement can be debated and 
evaluated…it can act as a constructive critical friend and can have significant 
influence over policy’ 

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 12:05

Page 10



- 1 -

HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE
MINUTES of a meeting of the Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee held on Tuesday 30 
July 2019 at the Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:

Cllr Stephen Hirst (Chair)
Cllr Phil Awford
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin
Cllr Rob Vines
Cllr Steve Lydon
Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
Cllr Nigel Robbins

Cllr Steve Robinson
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Helen Molyneux
Cllr Martin Horwood
Cllr Pam Tracey
Cllr Dilys Neill

Substitutes:

In attendance:

Becky Parish – Associate Director Patient and Public Engagement (GCCG)
Candace Plouffe - Chief Operating Officer (Gloucestershire Care Services)
Dr Marion Andrews-Evans, Director of Quality and Nursing (GCCG)
Clare Hines - ICS Workforce and OD Project Manager ( 2gether NHS Foundation Trust)
Margaret Willcox – Director Adult Social Care (Gloucestershire County Council)
Sarah Scott – Director Public Health (Gloucestershire County Council)
Mel Walker – Human Resources (Gloucestershire County Council)
Mark Astle - Assistant Chief Fire Officer (Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service)
Cllr Tim Harman – Cabinet Member for Public Health and Communities

Apologies: Cllr Shaun Parsons, Cllr Iain Dobie, Cllr Andrew Gravells, Cllr Jeremy 
Hilton, Cllr Brian Oosthuysen, Cllr Suzanne Williams 

1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

See above.

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No additional declarations made.

3 GLOUCESTERSHIRE WORKFORCE 

3.1 Members were reminded that this was a joint committee meeting made up of Health 
Scrutiny and Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny members to consider 
workforce issues and challenges across the Integrated Care System. The purpose 
of the meeting was to receive information to help inform both committees’ work 
planning and to ensure members had the background on these issues to help 
understand future service changes.

Presentation

3.2 Members noted the presentation slides within the pack including the data bank 
which provided additional information. Mel Walker and Claire Hines took members 
through the presentation highlighting key areas of activity and providing points of 
clarification.

3.3 The total healthcare and public health workforce as well as the total paid adult 
social care and support workforce were shown on a pie chart for members. There 
was a total of just over 11,000 wholetime (wte) staff in Gloucestershire NHS Trusts.  
There was a total of 945wte medical staff of which 448wte were medical 
consultants. 3350 wte registered nursing and midwifery staff. This was alongside 
the volunteer workforce which was estimated to be at around 30,000. Unpaid carer 
support was at more than 50% of the total care available in Gloucestershire.

3.4 Risks and challenges:

 Top 3 workforce risks related to supply and capacity, recruitment and 
retention and leadership and succession planning. Work streams and 
interventions were in place to support solutions to address those risks.

 There were supply issues with registered nursing and paramedics  and 
experienced social workers were provided as two examples.

 There was uncertainty around the impact of a European Union exit on 
workforce numbers.

3.5 Collaboration and partnership working

 Important to share best practice and work together within the system. 
Members understood that the ICS worked collaboratively through the Local 
Workforce Action Board to determine shared risks. It was explained that 

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Gloucestershire was the only ICS to be represented by both NHS and Adult 
Social Care in the regional workforce planning arena..

3.6 Recruitment and retention initiatives 

 It was important to provide additional supply routes such as work with the 
University of Gloucestershire and University of West of England.

 Therapists were in short supply

 30 registered Nursing Associates were now in post with 41 to complete 
training in 2020 and a further 42 to commence in both September and April.

 Learning Disabilities support was a national issue for which there wasn’t a 
solution in place for yet.

 Apprenticeships routes were being explored with further discussions with the 
University of Gloucestershire. 

 At a national level a trailblazer scheme had been approved. The 
apprenticeship qualification would be offered to current social care assessor 
staff. The aim was to appoint up to 4 by March 2020 once the Universities 
were in a position to offer the programme. Procurement would be taking 
place to achieve this. 

 There was an agreed plan for the development of an apprenticeship hub.

 Members noted a variety of case studies were available for further reading.

 Succession planning was a big focus with individual schemes in place across 
employees. 

 ‘Grow your own’ was a focus particularly to support the capacity issues in 
radiology. Placements were provided to the largest number of students in the 
south west with internal development and support roles. 

 Established in 2017 as a result of the regional Proud to Care South West 
Partnership. There had been success in increased advertising and 
messages through TV, radio and social media. Gloucestershire was a pilot 
county for the National Adult Social Care recruitment campaign. During the 
campaign the PTC Glos jobs portal experienced a 54% increase in 
vacancies being advertised. 

3.7 Training and Development

 Supporting the upskilling of staff to ensure they are skilled to meet the 
changing demands on Gloucestershire’s services.
 

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

 ‘Proud to Learn’ platform was a rebadging of long standing multi agency 
programmes that had been in place for many years. High numbers were 
supported, over 13,000 completed safeguarding adults training in 2018/19, at 
the various levels including e-learning and utilising the train the trainer 
model. Over  6,000 multiagency staff completed dementia training in 
2018/19.  

 Training and development was an important factor in terms of building 
capacity and providing pathways for staff to move within the system. There 
were considerations as to how to use the new nursing associate role in adult 
social care and bridge the gap between support worker and traditional 
nursing care. 

 In adult social care members were informed of the three tier approach to 
support three conversations to achieve the best outcomes for people. This 
had been well received by those at the end of care and those providing it. 

 Staff health and wellbeing – members heard about the one Gloucestershire 
approach to health and wellbeing. The website GloW was one example.

 Diversity – going the extra mile, long term plan sets challenge around BME 
representation in leadership team.

 Consideration was being given to how the NHS staff survey could be 
mapped across with the GCC staff survey so that there could be greater link 
up in questioning.

3.8 Leadership

 Currently up to cohort 6 in the leadership programme, with more cohorts 
planned later in the year (additional 92 attendees).

 Broad cross section of system was represented including: 2gether Trust, 
Gloucestershire Care Services, Gloucestershire County Council, Police, and 
South Western Ambulance Trust.

 Adult Social Care Leadership – registered manager’s development 
programme linking with a level 5 qualification. Experienced adult social care 
managers had been invited to attend.

 Two programmes will have a certain degree of overlap – working to make 
them more collaborative and system wide.

3.9 Future workforce planning

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

In response to a question, it was explained that there were 416 whole full-time 
equivalent GPs in Gloucestershire and 945 whole-time equivalent medical staff of 
which 448 were medical consultants.

Much of the effort was aimed at reducing demand on GPs and Consultants in 
primary care by new and upskilled roles promoting self care which if fully effective 
could reduce the need for GPs by almost 90 wte.

Based on national evidence, the planning assumptions included a demand 
reduction of new GP requirements by 50% based on a range of measures including 
new and upskilled roles, digital developments, self-care, care navigation and social 
prescribing. The current plan for GPs in 5 years is to achieve 448wte GPs.

Members commented that the public wanted to see their doctor and not an 
assistant. It was about managing these expectations. Members were keen to have 
some the figures around the number of GPs and an understanding of what ‘good’ 
looked like. In addition it was explained that the private sector did not fit into these 
figures but had to be considered when looking at the ‘whole’. Members noted that 
over 50% of nurses nationally did not work for the NHS.

It was explained that Gloucestershire was second best in the region with regards to 
GPs per patients. Members felt that the positive comments made here did not 
reflect what the public were saying on the ground about GP wait times. It was 
explained that there was a national GP work crisis but that Gloucestershire 
compared favourably in the statistics but also in patient feedback.

50% of physio therapists go into private practice. This has to be kept in mind when 
we do work force modelling. 

Members of Health Scrutiny were reminded that at their September meeting they 
would be having an update on Primary Care and that part of the report in 
September would look at those comparison figures. 

There was some discussion regarding staff shortages in radiology which had led to 
urgent temporary service changes. One member asked how the shortage in 
radiography treatments in Gloucestershire had come about, given the forward 
planning that was carried out.  It was explained that the priority had been to ensure 
interventional radiology was staffed. Combined with high vacancy levels and 
sickness absence this created an urgent  situation. There had been successful 
recruitment over the summer and discussions with the university which would be 
reported to Health Scrutiny at future meetings. 

One member asked whether we were seeing evidence of a pathway from nursing 
associates through to registered nurse and asked what more could be done to 
encourage this. In response it was explained that those figures were not collected 
nationally. The focus was on values based recruitment with nursing positions being 
vocational rather than an academic career. In addition there was a focus on having 
the right training in place to allow this career progression. 

Page 15



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

3.10 Recruitment and retention of staff

There was some discussion around the ‘Proud to Care’ initiative and in particular 
the website and whether there was data to show how clicks on the website had 
translated into enquires and then recruitment. In response it was explained that 
these were provider vacancies and so there was no tracking to show what advert 
had led to recruitment. Work was underway with providers to help put in place 
mechanisms to record that data. It was difficult because some were generic adverts 
which were not always matched to a specific vacancy. It was free to advertise on 
the site because there was recognition on the importance of supporting providers. 

There was further discussion around the importance of care being considered as a 
career with opportunities to progress and specialise. There was an effort to move 
away from the perception of care being a low-paid low-entry job. Members were 
informed of the 67 ‘Proud to Care’ ambassadors who were part of this promotion.

In response to a question it was clarified that the Council did not commission 15 or 
20 minute appointments.

3.11 Apprenticeships

Members discussed the importance of ‘growing your own’ and the role that 
apprenticeships could have. There had been success in adult social care in the past 
with traineeships and now it was about working closely with the universities to start 
a 3 year programme in March 2020. In response to a question it was confirmed that 
the aim was to have one apprentice in each locality. Placements in the workforce 
would also be offered to social work students and newly qualified social workers but 
it was important to ensure the workforce balance was right with regards to 
experience. 

Members also received details of NHS apprenticeships. For the last four years work 
had been underway with Health Education England and the National Skills agency 
for up to 60 apprenticeships at any one time. The minimum age was 16. 

3.12 Requests for additional information

Some members requested additional information that would help add to the data 
they had already received. One member noted that the turnover in domiciliary care 
looked high at 48% and that it would be useful to see how that had changed over 
time and how comparable that was to other areas. 

It was explained that there was a lot of adult social care information that could be 
shared with members which would allow comparisons with other areas. 

Specifically relating to domiciliary care, the 48% related to movement from one 
agency to another for a modest pay rise. There were plans around ‘passports’ that 

Page 16



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

would mean that carers would not have to start fresh with the Council having made 
the move. Turnover in adult social care as a whole was quite high nationally.

Social care staff turnover in Gloucestershire was 0.3% higher than the South West 
average which put Gloucestershire in the middle with regards to statistical 
neighbours.

Members would be provided with additional data around key indicators that showed 
comparisons with other South West counties. 
ACTION Clare Hines/ Mel Walker

3.13 Implications of Brexit

Members discussed the impact of Brexit on workforce across the Integrated Care 
System. One member suggested that at this stage the options seemed clear 
including a no deal Brexit and wanted to understand what planning was in place to 
mitigate the risks of major staff turnover within the NHS and adult social care.

From an Adult Social Care perspective, work had been carried out with ADASS 
(Association of Directors of Adult Social Services) to map the movement of staff. 
When the announcement was made following the referendum there had been a 
number of adult social care staff who had left. Since then a number of people had 
applied for settled status. Commissioners were working directly with the homes 
monitoring work force on a weekly basis. Recruitment activity would also continue 
in the UK and in Europe and the rest of the world. 

From an NHS perspective, comprehensive plans were in place. Staff had been 
encouraged to apply for settled status. Shortly after the EU referendum it was noted 
that a number of staff had left through the uncertainty but also because of the 
impact on the  value of the Euro. The team reported to NHS England and 
arrangements were overseen from Central Government. The Local Resilience 
Forum provided updates across the County.

In response to further questions on the Local Resilience Forum, it was explained 
that preparations were focused and that all the agencies understood the risks 
associated with Brexit. Weekly conference calls were chaired by the Assistant Chief 
Constable and activity would increase as we moved closer to the October leave 
date. In addition members understood that the Local Health Resilience Partnership 
was in place and activity would increase in September. There had already been 
briefings with senior NHS colleagues.

One member raised the issue of insurance cover for medical practitioners citing 
concerns around there being no primary legislation to support them following Brexit. 
In response it was explained that those working within the NHS were automatically 
covered and that those working privately would take out their own insurance. 
Officers were not aware of any particular issue on this front. 

Page 17



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 15:30

Page 18



- 1 -

ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES of a meeting of the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
held on Tuesday 13 August 2019 at the Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:
Cllr Stephen Hirst (Chair)
Cllr Iain Dobie
Cllr Phil Awford

Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Steve Robinson
Cllr Shaun Parsons

Substitutes:
Cllr Will Windsor Clive for Cllr Andrew Gravells

Cllr Loraine Patrick for Cllr Carole Allaway Martin

Cllr Paul Hodgkinson for Cllr Jeremy Hilton

In attendance: Margaret Willcox OBE, Commissioning Director: Adults
Gillian Parkinson, Head of Legal Services
Simon Harper, Statutory Scrutiny Officer
Stephen Bace, Lead Democratic Services Adviser
Cllr Roger Wilson, Cabinet Member Adult Social Care 
Commissioning
Cllr Lesley Williams, Lead Signatory

Apologies:

1. APOLOGIES 

See above.

2. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

No additional declarations were made at the meeting.

Page 19



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

3. CALL-IN OF CABINET DECISION 

3.1 A report responding to the call-in and setting out the matters to be considered by 
the committee had been circulated before the meeting. The decision called in had 
been taken by the Cabinet on 24 July 2019 regarding the future provision of care 
homes in Gloucestershire. This related to the closure of Southfield and Wyatt 
House. 

The signatories of the call-in were

1. Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
2. Cllr Lesley Williams
3. Cllr Eva Ward 
4. Cllr Rachel Smith
5. Cllr Kate Haigh

Outline of the Process

3.2 The Chairman invited the Statutory Scrutiny Officer, Simon Harper, to set out the 
process for the committee to consider the call-in.  The procedure rules were set out 
in detail in the constitution. In summary, any Cabinet decision could be called in 
within a prescribed timescale. Call-in should only be used in exceptional 
circumstances and be invoked when there was evidence to suggest one or more of 
the prescribed grounds had been satisfied.

3.3 The committee were advised that members were to consider the grounds stated in 
the call-in notice which were:

 (Call in procedure rule 3.3) In making the decision, the Cabinet, Leader of 
Council or Cabinet Member took account of an irrelevant matter or failed to 
take account of a relevant matter.

 (Call in Procedure 3.4) The Cabinet, the Leader of the Council or a Cabinet 
Member or Officer under delegated powers acted contrary to the Cabinet 
Procedure Rules, the Access to Information about the County Council’s 
Formal Business and/ or the principles of decision making set out in part 2, 
Article 7.02 of the Constitution.

o (Part 2, Para 7.02.3) – They should take proper consultation with 
others.

o (Part 2 Para 7.02.8) – They should be properly reasoned and 
alternatives that are discounted should be identified and the reasons 
for their rejection explained adequately.

3.4 The first stage was for the committee to decide whether it agreed wholly or partially 
with the grounds for call-in. If they did agree with any of the grounds there were four 
possible options for the committee to decide.

Page 20



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

 Support the Cabinet’s decision without comment
 Make adverse comment about the way they reached their decision, but no 

adverse view on the decision itself.
 Propose changes to the decision, modifications or an alternative to achieve 

the same effect
 In exceptional circumstances, which the committee must determine, arrange 

for fill council to review or scrutinise the decision.

Initially the spokesperson for the signatories would be asked to speak followed by 
the Cabinet Member in response.

Consideration of the Call-in

3.5 Cllr Lesley Williams, as lead signatory of the call-in, outlined that the decision had 
been called in as the signatories believed that Cabinet had not taken proper 
consultation with residents, their families and the wider community or other 
stakeholders. In addition the due regard statement pack had not been published 
five full days before the meeting and she stated that it was not possible to be 
certain that Cabinet members had seen it. She added:

 The Council had commissioned ASV, an associate of the Constitution 
Institute, to discuss with residents and families the possible closure of the 
care homes. Cllr Williams referred to the report and stated that the proposals 
had not been in the formative stage and so this went against the Gunning 
principles. In addition there had been inadequate notice given to residents 
and no regard given to the responses. The Cabinet Member had determined 
that consultation was not necessary and she stated that this was not 
constitutional. 

 Cllr Williams explained that the reasons for rejection was not explained 
adequately or reasoned alternatives were not considered when residents’ 
views had not been properly obtained. It was suggested that even in the 
short amount of time, staff had come up with strong alternatives such as 
refurbishment of the homes, working with the Order of St Johns Trust to 
encourage more residents and reviewing GCC contracts.

 In relation to the Access to Information requirements she stated that the due 
regard statement had been published on 19 July 2019 and that this was not 
five clear working days before the meeting. She referred to legislation 
detailing that the agenda and reports should be made available within that 
timeframe.

 She requested that the decision be sent to full Council for consideration.

3.6 Cllr Roger Wilson, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning, 
responding to the call-in, introduced his report within the pack. He stated that 
neither of the grounds for call-in was valid adding:

Page 21



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

 The call-in statement was published on 19 July 2019, but the Council was 
not obliged to publish a due regard statement but did so voluntarily in order 
to demonstrate that the Cabinet had taken account of the equality duty. It 
was not a legal requirement to publish that document. 

 He explained that Cabinet was not obliged to consult before making a 
decision. If they chose to consult then they were obliged to follow the 
principles outlined in the constitution. In this case, Cabinet had conducted an 
engagement process independently facilitated by experts from the 
Constitution Institute to understand the views. The decision not to consult 
was taken as it was felt that a lengthy consultation process could lead to a 
reduction in staff. The threat of closure could lead to self funders leaving and 
reducing options for social care residents in the future. He expressed 
concern that the call-in process had delayed the decision and had seen that 
reduction in staff and movement of residents.

3.7 The first stage of the process was for the committee to decide whether they agreed 
wholly or partially with the grounds for call-in. The Chairman invited members to 
make comments and ask questions of all parties before putting it to the vote.

 Some members expressed concern regarding the lack of consultation. The 
Cabinet Member had highlighted that there was a need to move swiftly 
because of the tight timescales. One member suggested that it had been 
Cabinet who had determined the tight timescale and that there had been no 
need for that. One member provided the example of a press release from the 
Cabinet Member being released and then meetings being held within 2 days 
which gave the appearance of the decision having already been made. The 
Cabinet Member reiterated the importance of reducing the disruption that a 
lengthy process could cause. Constitution Institute advice had been followed 
to minimise the anxiety and worry of residents. 

 Some members’ spoke of the exemplary care provided at Wyatt House and 
Southfield and stated that every avenue should be explored. One member 
warned that this move would shorten the lives of the residents. 

 In response to a question, the Cabinet Member referred to the overall 
strategy that had been reaffirmed in June 2019 and that every opportunity 
had been made to ensure that all residents and staff and family members 
had been contacted. Once the decision was implemented there would be a 
consultation process looking at the impact.

 One member spoke strongly at the possible precedent of allowing this 
decision to stand without consultation having been taken. He referred to the 
potential of quick decisions being taken in relation to other care homes 
across Gloucestershire. He emphasised the need for proactive scrutiny 
ahead of the decision being taken. In response it was noted that the same 
process had been followed in relation to other care homes previously and the 

Page 22



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

Cabinet believed that it was the right approach. One member commented 
that those other decisions had not been called-in. The Chair suggested that 
a future item at the committee could look at the overall strategy and 
processes in relation to care homes. 

 It was suggested that the timescale from letters being sent to residents and 
those residents being able to engage with someone had been too short. It 
was explained that every effort had been made to contact families and that 
officers had worked weekends and evenings to ensure this engagement was 
carried out effectively. The Constitution Institute had not advised on the 
timescale, and experience of how to handle this was already in place at the 
Council.       

3.8 Following the discussion, the committee was asked to vote on whether they agreed 
wholly or partially with the grounds for call-in as set out in the call-in notice.

On being put to the vote, the grounds for call-in were not accepted. Therefore it was 

RESOLVED to support the Cabinet decision. The decision could therefore be 
implemented immediately without being considered again by the Cabinet, the 
Leader of the Council or Cabinet Member. 

CHAIR

Meeting concluded at 10:50

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Scrutiny Report on Adult Drug & Alcohol Services

24th September 2019

__________________________________________________________________

This report summarises the recent context for adult drug and alcohol treatment 
services in Gloucestershire, describes current activity and performance and identifies 
key priorities for the coming year. 

These services are complex and support people with a range of needs. As such, it 
should be noted that this is a top level summary and case studies are included to 
reflect some of this complexity.

Background

Gloucestershire County Council Public Health is responsible for commissioning the 
drug and alcohol treatment and recovery service for adults (18 and over). Improving 
outcomes from drug and alcohol services is a condition of the Public Health grant.

Since 1st January 2017, the Gloucestershire service has been provided by national 
organisation Change, Grow, Live (CGL), following a competitive tender process. The 
service provides a wide range of support and interventions, from prescribed 
treatment and harm reduction via services such as needle exchange and brief advice 
through to psychosocial support (talking therapies) and practical help in areas such 
as benefits and employment.

Gloucestershire’s drug and alcohol services were recommissioned in 2016, with a 
new contract commencing on 1st January 2017. This new contract includes a budget 
reduction from £5.9m per year to £5.1m, as well as an increase in contract scope to 
better integrate services (i.e. additional elements that were not included in the 
previous contract, such as hospital in-reach workers, alcohol arrest referral services 
and residential rehabilitation placements).

As a result, there is a new service model in place in Gloucestershire, which has seen 
higher caseloads and an increase in group work. Whilst we continue to specify a 
service that is evidence-based and safe, regulated by the CQC, this has arguably 
resulted in less intensive interventions. Contract performance targets have been set 
to reflect this. However, we also continue to monitor performance against our 
national comparator authorities and, although Gloucestershire saw a dip in treatment 
completions – the main outcome measure for the service – following 

Page 25

Agenda Item 4



2

recommissioning, the service is now performing well against national comparators. 
Further information on this can be found below. 

There has also been a reduction in fixed delivery venues from seven to three (in 
Gloucester, Cheltenham and Stroud), with an increase in outreach at satellite 
locations across the whole county. This greater flexibility was strongly supported in 
stakeholder consultation at the time of recommissioning (94% of respondents agreed 
that the drug and alcohol service should adopt a flexible approach to delivering 
services based on where the need is greatest and 92% agreed that the service 
should be delivered from both fixed sites and a broader range of satellite/hosted 
premises). 

Current Activity & Performance

The three performance indicators reported to the Adult Social Care & Communities 
Scrutiny Committee are known as the “successful completions” indicators:
 Proportion of adult alcohol misusers who have left treatment successfully
 Proportion of all opiate users who have left treatment successfully, not 

representing in six months
 Proportion of all non-opiate users who have left treatment successfully, not 

representing in six months

These are important because they show the extent to which services are helping 
people to complete treatment and sustain recovery. However, they form part of a 
balanced scorecard, which also includes alcohol awareness sessions; numbers 
receiving alcohol brief interventions; the effective engagement rate of opiate and 
non-opiate users (i.e. service users retained in treatment for more than 12 weeks, 
including successful completion in that period); and treatment waiting times.

In addition, the GCC contract manager monitors performance against a range of 
other indicators specified in the contract, including numbers of people in treatment 
and indicators relating to specific elements, e.g. parental substance misuse, inpatient 
detox, residential rehabilitation and blood borne viruses. We also monitor nationally 
produced data, such as the estimated level of unmet need. Together, these reflect 
the balanced treatment system commissioned by GCC, with pressures occurring in 
different places across that system. 

Successful Completions

Gloucestershire’s successful completions performance dipped in late 2016/17 and 
2017/18. This dip was expected due to the recommissioning process, the ‘wind 
down’ of the outgoing provider and transition to the current provider. This pattern has 
been seen at similar points in the past.

Page 26



3

However, the most recent data for the three successful completions indicators show 
that, following this dip, the upturn in performance that we started to see in early-mid 
2018 has been sustained and is now beginning to plateau at its current level. 

The table below shows the successful completions across four quarters up to the 
latest available data from quarter 4 of 2018/19. 

Table 1 Successful completions in Gloucestershire 2018/19

Successful Completions 
of Opiate Users 2018/19 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Additional completions 
required to achieve top 
-quartile range (Q4)

All clients in treatment 1349 1324 1338 1340

Number of completions 
without re-presentation 55 61 71 84 6     to    82 

% of all clients completing 
and not re-presenting 4.08% 4.61% 5.30% 6.30% 6.7% - 12.17%

Successful Completions 
of Non-Opiate Users 
2018/19

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
Additional completions 
required to achieve top 
-quartile range (Q4)

All clients in treatment 414 422 469 511

Number of completions 
without re-presentation 87 115 126 160 0         to      45

% of all clients completing 
and not re-presenting 21.01% 27.25% 26.90% 31.31% 31.31% - 40.21%

Successful Completions 
of Alcohol Users 2018/19 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Additional completions 
required to achieve top 
-quartile range (Q4)

All clients in treatment 712 704 725 724

Number of completions 
without re-presentation 197 230 233 276 0     to     28

% of all clients completing 
and not re-presenting 27.67% 32.67% 32.10% 38.10% 38.1% - 42.12%

This shows that, in Quarter 4 2018-19, Gloucestershire was just inside the top 
quartile of areas with comparable treatment populations for non-opiate and alcohol 
users. 

Opiate completions were 6.3%, placing Gloucestershire just outside the top-quartile 
of areas with comparable heroin user populations. To be within the top quartile, we 
would need to have achieved 6.7% or an additional 6 completions. To be the best 
performing within the comparator group we would need to have achieved 12.7%, or 
an additional 82 completions. 

Due to the way these indicators are calculated and reported, they are not available at 
district level. However, contract managers monitor other data and information at 

Page 27



4

district and ‘hub’ level in order to understand how services are accessed across the 
county.

Other Performance Indicators

Demand for services at the ‘front door’ remains high for both alcohol and drug 
treatment, with 2,569 people accessing services in 2018/19 (see Table 2 below). 
This has increased by 31% from 2012-13 when Gloucestershire moved from a multi 
provider system to a fully integrated single provider system.

The highest number in treatment was seen in 2016-17. However, it is likely that this 
is an artefact of the change of provider during that year (i.e. two providers reporting 
in a single reporting year). Just over half (52.5%) of the treatment population are 
heroin users and more than one quarter (27.3%) are alcohol users, a section of the 
treatment population which has grown by 72.7% between 2012-13 and 2018-19.

Table 2 Numbers in treatment in Gloucestershire, 2012/13 to 2018/19   

 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19
Drugs 1,560 1,699 1,763 1,824 1,867 1,737 1,868
Alcohol 406 539 613 714 872 700 701

Total in treatment 1,966 2,238 2,376 2,538 2,739 2,437 2,569
 
The treatment population is not evenly distributed across the county, with nearly two 
thirds residing in Gloucester (34%) and Cheltenham (26.5%) and slightly less that 
one fifth residing in the Forest of Dean (8%), Cotswold (6%) and Tewksbury (4%). 
This distribution is broadly as expected; problem drug use is the main reason for 
seeking treatment and this is associated with deprivation, urban living and health 
inequalities. 

Table 3 Treatment population distribution by district of residence, 2013-2019

Treatment 
population by 
district of 
residence

Chelt Glos Stroud Tewks Forest Cots

April to end Mar 
2013-14 25.5% 41.0% 16.0% 3.2% 9.3% 5.0%

April to end Mar 
2014-15 22.4% 35.3% 17.2% 5.8% 12.3% 7.1%

April to end Mar 
2015-16 22.6% 36.0% 17.9% 5.4% 9.9% 8.2%

April to Dec 2016-
17 25.1% 34.8% 17.3% 4.7% 11.0% 7.1%

April to end Mar 
2017-18 24.0% 38.4% 19.8% 3.5% 9.0% 5.4%

April to end Mar 
2018-19 26.5% 34.0% 21.7% 3.8% 7.9% 6.2%

Page 28



5

Waiting times for treatment provide a proxy indicator for the accessibility of the 
service, and performance against this measure has remained consistently high since 
2013-14 (Table 4). For the past two years no-one has waited more than three weeks 
to commence treatment. Since 2013-14 when we moved to a single provider system, 
no more than 3% have waited longer than three weeks to start their treatment 
however in the year preceding this change 11.4% of drug users and 50.8% of 
alcohol users waited longer than three weeks.

Table 4 Percentage of service users waiting less than 3 weeks for treatment, 
2012-2019

Waiting Times 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19
Drugs 88.6% 99.3% 99.4% 98.8% 98.4% 100% 100%
Alcohol 49.2% 100% 99.0% 99.3% 97.7% 100% 100%

Case Studies

Whilst performance data are an important way of understanding how well services 
are meeting need and delivering positive outcomes, examples of service user stories 
also help us to understand what is happening within services. The following case 
studies have been provided by CGL.

When Cheltenham service user, John (aged 46) first came into treatment with CGL 
he struggled to engage. John has a long term history of offending, substance misuse 
and previous contact with mental health services. He missed multiple appointments 
and was repeatedly falling off his prescription. He was also using illicit drugs on top 
of the medication he was prescribed - both heroin and crack daily – and overdosed 
many times. John was seen in custody on multiple occasions for repeated shoplifting 
and was sentenced to a Drug Rehabilitation Requirement court order. 

John began attending twice weekly testing at CGL, where he started joining in with 
groups on a weekly basis. He then started helping with a project to improve the 
annex area at the Cheltenham Hub. Throughout the summer John aided in watering 
the plants, painting the outside wall and keeping the inside of the annex tidy. 
John reported that this helped him to stay on track and has given him a feeling of 
purpose and responsibility. John is now hoping to be a service user representative 
and has stated that he has an end goal of becoming a volunteer for CGL.  

Page 29



6

Shirley – a 40 year old service user from Stroud – experienced domestic abuse from 
her partner and was injecting daily crack and heroin. The service struggled to 
motivate her to engage with any interventions offered by CGL. Children’s social care 
became involved as her child’s basic needs were not being met and children had 
been removed from her care in the past. Shirley was referred to the Family Drug and 
Alcohol Court and she started to engage with CGL, attending and completing a 
Gloucester Wildlife workshop (a joint intervention with CGL). She started to attend 
numerous workshops at CGL and left her controlling partner. Shirley has stopped 
using drugs and is reducing her dependency on prescribed medication, her living 
conditions have improved and she now has sole custody of her daughter. 

33 year old Gloucester service user, Jerry, was injecting crack and heroin and also 
drinking dependently. He was previously involved in gang crime and was suffering 
from PTSD from past trauma including having suffered gunshot and stab wounds. 
This has led to severe depression, anxiety and suicide attempts.

Jerry has physical health concerns, including neuropathic pain which has resulted in 
numerous trips and falls. CGL worked with Adult Social Care and Jerry was helped 
to purchase a mobility scooter and to have adaptations carried out to his bathroom. 

CGL have worked with the mental health crisis team who are currently supporting 
Jerry and he is now prescribed the correct anti-psychotic medication. He has 
engaged with group work at CGL and is preparing for bigger changes through 
detoxification and residential rehabilitation. 

Page 30



1

Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults 
Board

Annual Report 2018/19

Page 31

Agenda Item 6



2

Contents 
Foreword: Introduction from Chair ................................................................................3
1.Vision .............................................................................................................................6
2.Key Achievements 2018/19 and Strategic Plan 2018/21 ...........................................7
3.Key Issues & Challenges for the coming year...........................................................9
4.Case Studies ...............................................................................................................10
Case Study 1 ..................................................................................................................10
Case Study 2 ..................................................................................................................11
Case Study 3 ..................................................................................................................12

5.Partnership Achievements 2018/19 and Priorities 2019/20 ....................................13
5.1 Gloucestershire Constabulary…………………………………………………………………………………………13
5.2 2gether NHS Foundation Trust (2getherNHSFT)………………………………………………………..…….14
5.3 Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHNHSFT)………………………………………….16
5.4 Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust (GCSNHST)…………………………………..………………….17
5.5 Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG)……………………………………..……………18

6.Safeguarding Adults Reviews ...................................................................................20
7.GSAB Management Committee.................................................................................22
8.Sub Group Achievements 2018/19 and Priorities 2019/20......................................22
8.1 Workforce Development ...........................................................................................22
8.2 Fire Safety Development. .........................................................................................23
8.3 Communication & Engagement ................................................................................24
8.4 Policy & Procedures..................................................................................................27
8.5 Activity & Data 2018/19.............................................................................................27
8.6 Quality Assurance .....................................................................................................30

9.Safeguarding Adults at Risk Self-Assessment Audit Tool .....................................32
10. The Board’s Resources ........................................................................................32

Page 32



3

Foreword: Introduction from Chair 

Once again it is my pleasure to introduce you to this year’s Gloucestershire 
Safeguarding Adults Board (GSAB) Annual Report 2018/19.

The overarching purpose of the annual report is to give confidence and reassurance 
to the Gloucestershire public, those that represent their interests, and of course the 
leadership of organisations involved in protecting adults with care and support needs 
across Gloucestershire, that the Safeguarding Adults Board is properly committed to 
and capable of discharging its responsibilities in a person-centred way.  

GSAB operates at a senior level with membership across a wide range of both 
statutory and non- statutory partners, including representatives from the Community 
and Voluntary Sector. The Board has a statutory responsibility to monitor and 
evaluate what is done by partner agencies, individually and collectively, to safeguard 
and promote the health and well-being of adults with care and support needs. 

Whilst safeguarding adults is a lead duty of the local authority, the responsibility for 
identifying, investigating and responding to concerns regarding abuse lies with staff 
across all organisations. This means that all agencies must share a common 
understanding of what constitutes abuse, how to respond to any concerns, how to 
help prevent abuse in the first place wherever possible, and to know what their 
responsibilities are. 

Safeguarding adults with care and support needs has some real challenges. On the 
one hand we are all living longer, which is good news, but on the other hand many 
more individuals are living alone and are out of sight, which increases their level of 
risk of abuse or neglect by others. Also, many more individuals are now living with 
complex health conditions, which again raises their level of risk.

This means we collectively have to become smarter in raising awareness across our 
communities of what constitutes abuse and neglect, and making sure that everyone 
knows what to do if they experience abuse, if they witness it, or they become aware 
of someone who they suspect is being abused or neglected. The community and 
voluntary sector, which extends across all areas of our county, plays a key role in the 
health and well-being of individuals and communities. 

During 2018 we commenced work on our new 3-year strategic plan 2018/21. Making 
Safeguarding Personal, Prevention and Improving Safeguarding Practice and Board 
Effectiveness are our 4 key themes.       

Last year we highlighted that we had seen an increase in referrals from individuals 
who were deemed to have capacity and were engaging in risky behaviour, posing a 
real challenge to agencies. Many of these individuals had experienced adverse 
childhood experiences and had been removed from their families to live in a care 
setting. 

During 2018/19 we held a joint workshop with our colleagues from the Safeguarding 
Children Board in order to explore the issue further, and we began looking at a 

Page 33



4

comprehensive, multi-agency, person-centred response in order to meet this group’s 
needs. There is no easy solution and work will continue in this area over the next 12 
months, and will include the establishment of a Board sub group which focuses on 
safeguarding during the transition from childhood to adulthood.      

Over the past twelve months we were one of eight local authorities chosen to work 
with the University of Sussex on identifying best practice to embed learning from 
Safeguarding Adult Reviews. This work is now complete and we are currently 
awaiting the findings from the study, which are due out this summer. 

The Board and its sub groups have held a number of events and delivered a number 
of improvements and positive change in order to safeguard and minimise the risk of 
harm to adults with care and support needs in Gloucestershire:

 We held six roadshows on the theme of domestic abuse, in four locations 
across Gloucestershire.  This included presentations from Gloucestershire 
Domestic Abuse Support Service (GDASS), the County Domestic Abuse and 
Sexual Violence (DASV) Strategic Coordinator, the Mental Capacity Act 
Governance Manager and Gloucestershire Constabulary.

 We held an annual development day for Board members, where Board members 
were updated on learning from local SARs. Further discussions were held around 
the new three-year strategy, with a focus on improving GSAB effectiveness and 
safeguarding practice, as well as preventative practice and embedding the ethos of 
Making Safeguarding Personal.

 
 We have further enhanced our quarterly performance and data report to 

include new partnership data, which enables us to better reflect and evidence 
the impact we are having on safeguarding adults.

 Our audit sub group has undertaken a comprehensive programme of audits 
including a number of multi-agency and, for the first-time, single agency 
audits, which have highlighted good practice and also areas for improvement.

 Our Policy and Procedure sub group has reviewed and updated our 
comprehensive library of individual policies and procedures.

 13,533 Gloucestershire staff and volunteers completed GSAB approved 
safeguarding training 

The newly formed Service User Co-Production Sub Group in 2018 was a key 
development for us, with its aim of ensuring the voice of individuals from across our 
diverse communities with care and support needs is heard. This group continues to 
meet regularly and in the next quarter we will review what we have achieved in order 
to ensure that we are being effective in giving a voice to those that matter. 

I am satisfied that our work together over the last year demonstrates that we have 
effective partnership working in Gloucestershire, promoting the health and well-being 
of adults with care and support needs in Gloucestershire, despite the general 

Page 34



5

pressures of time and resources. However, there is still a lot more work to be done, 
although we have a sound basis on which to deliver our priorities going forward.  

I would like to extend my thanks and appreciation to the Board and members of our 
various sub groups, for their continued support and commitment to developing and 
promoting the work of protecting adults with care and support needs. 

Finally, I would also like to acknowledge the work and commitment of our front-line 
practitioners who everyday undertake tremendous work in safeguarding adults.  Last 
but no means least, the families, the carers, the community and voluntary sector and 
of course the general public, who all make enormous contributions, much of which is 
unseen.  

Paul Yeatman

Independent Chair
Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board 
Back to Contents

Page 35



6

1. Vision 

“Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board seeks to empower and protect adults with 
care and support needs who are at risk of abuse and neglect, as defined in legislation 
and statutory guidance”.

There continues to be an increasing focus on the profile of safeguarding adults work. It is 
clear from national developments that partnerships are a critical aspect in sustaining the 
impetus for improvement and hence the importance of pressing ahead with a local vision 
for Gloucestershire. The Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board (GSAB) Strategic 
Plan sits alongside a number of other key documents, enabling the Board to strategically 
review and plan work.  Each provides direction and continuity to the strategic annual plan, 
ensuring that the achievements of the Board are built upon each year and actions are 
focused on the Board’s overall priorities and objectives.

The priorities reflect the direction set out in current national drivers for change. For this 
reason the priorities are designed around the six key principles that underpin all adult 
safeguarding work (Care Act, 2014), as reflected in the Strategic Plan 2015/18.

To achieve this vision the Board will need to work throughout the partnership and with 
local communities to:- 
 prevent abuse and neglect from happening; 
 identify and report abuse and neglect; 
 respond to any abuse and neglect that is occurring; 
 support people who have suffered abuse or neglect to recover and to regain trust 

in those around them; and 
 raise awareness of safeguarding adults and the role everyone can play in 

responding to, and preventing, abuse and neglect. 

GSAB Vision – sets out the overall vision of the Board and the outcomes it wants to 
achieve for adults at risk in Gloucestershire.
GSAB Priorities – establishes the strategic themes that need to be delivered to achieve 
the Board’s vision; providing the overarching direction to inform subsequent years’ 
strategic plans.
GSAB Strategic Plan – provides a detailed plan of specific key actions, supporting actions 
and timescales required to deliver the Board’s vision and priorities.
GSAB Annual Report – reviews progress in relation to the actions laid out in the strategic 
plan.

The Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board has worked to promote an 
understanding and taken action to demonstrate that “safeguarding is everybody’s 
business”. The development of this vision marks the commitment from partners to a 
shared aim of keeping adults safe and protected from abuse and neglect.

Page 36



7

2. Key Achievements 2018-19 and Strategic Plan 2018-21 

The Board’s key achievements during the past year:

 Holding six roadshows on the theme of domestic abuse, in four locations across 
Gloucestershire.  This included presentations from Gloucestershire Domestic 
Abuse Support Service (GDASS), the County Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence (DASV) Strategic Coordinator, the Mental Capacity Act Governance 
Manager and Gloucestershire Constabulary. 

 A Board Development Event for Board members looking at the new Strategic 
Plan and learning from Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARS).

 Completion of a partner agency Making Safeguarding Personal benchmarking 
exercise.  

 Ongoing work to develop the quarterly report, to improve performance data 
reporting and include multi-agency data.

 Holding a joint GSAB/GSCB Transition Event for professionals. It looked at how 
Children/teenagers transition into adults, to ensure they receive the services and 
support needed.  It gave professionals the opportunity to share their experiences 
and put forward ideas for improved working. 

 Working with the University of Sussex and seven other local authorities to 
identify best practice in embedding learning from Safeguarding Adults Reviews.  
This has included engaging with front line staff to ascertain the impact and 
effectiveness of our current process. 

 Production of a High Risk Behaviors Policy and updated Elected Members’ 
Guidance.   

 A timetable of themed events, including Staying Safe and Domestic Abuse at the 
Co-Production and Service User Engagement Group at Inclusion 
Gloucestershire Hubs. 

 13,533 Gloucestershire staff and volunteers completed GSAB approved 
safeguarding training. 

 Establishing stronger links with community groups in Gloucestershire.

 Updated website – http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gsab/ 

Page 37

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gsab/


8

Strategic Plan 2018-21 

The Board’s Strategic Plan covers a three year period as recommended by the Care 
Act Statutory Guidance.  The high-level priorities are reflected across these four 
areas: (a copy of the Strategic Plan can be accessed via this link Strategic Plan 
which details the Board’s objectives and how these have been met).

Risk Register 2018-21

The Board also produces a Risk Register which details, manages and monitors risks 
that can potentially impact upon its ability to deliver the priorities as set out within its 
three year Strategic Plan. 

The Risk Register identifies the potential consequence of the risk and what actions 
have been taken in order to mitigate, manage or reduce the risk. Each risk is RAG 
(Red/Amber/Green) rated based on its score.  The Board currently has no risks rated 
Red; these would be of considerable concern to the Board.  

The Board’s current Risk Register can be found in supporting documents. 

Back to contents

Priority – Improve GSAB Effectiveness 
To ensure that the GSAB is fit for purpose, in that it has the right membership, has the right 
support and is resourced and run in an efficient and effective manner, so that it can fulfil all 
of its statutory functions to a high standard. The outcome of its work must meet the 
requirements of the Care Act 2014, and the Board must lead on and make a positive 
contribution to adult safeguarding in Gloucestershire.
  

Priority – Improve Safeguarding Practice 
To ensure that the Board and its partners deliver efficient and effective outcomes that are 
person centred, and that evolve to meet new challenges and take into account best 
practice and learning from across the safeguarding landscape.   

 

Priority – Embed the Ethos of Making Safeguarding Personal  
To ensure that the ethos of Making Safeguarding Personal is embedded within the practice 
of all Board member organisations.

Priority – Focus on Preventative Practice 
The Board recognises the importance of preventative practices in order to protect 
individuals from being abused and/or neglected and also early intervention which 
minimises and mitigates harm. In doing so we should embrace a person centred approach, 
which takes into account the needs and wishes of people who are the subjects of 
safeguarding enquiries.

Page 38

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gsab/safeguarding-adults-board/safeguarding-adults-annual-reports-and-strategic-plan/
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gsab/safeguarding-adults-board/safeguarding-adults-annual-reports-and-strategic-plan/


9

3. Key Issues & Challenges for the coming year

Back to Contents

Service User Engagement  

 We made some progress on this priority over the past 12 months with the 
establishment of a Co-production and Service User Engagement Group; we 
held a number of meetings at various venues in order to reach and engage with 
our diverse communities. Through these meetings we hoped to recruit 
individuals who are interested in joining our Co-production and Service User 
Engagement Group. We are reviewing progress this summer to consider our 
achievements and decide upon the most effective ways to ensure the voice of 
the service user is heard.

Learning from Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs) and other Learning Events 
  

 Last year, along with the University of Sussex and seven other local authorities, 
we trialled various methods of engaging with front line practitioners to ascertain 
the impact of the learning from SARs, and their effectiveness in bringing about 
positive change to front line practice.  This work is now being finalised and we 
will take the findings forward this coming year. 

High Risk Individuals

 Last year we prioritised individuals who were deemed high risk as they had 
capacity and yet engaged in risky behaviours, for example, drug and alcohol 
misuse. Many of these individuals had suffered adverse childhood experiences. 

 We held a joint workshop with our colleagues from the Safeguarding Children 
Board in order to explore the issue further and began looking at a 
comprehensive multi-agency person-centred response in order to meet this 
group’s needs. Work will continue in this area over the next 12 months, which 
will include the establishment of a Transitional Safeguarding sub group.  

 Board Quarterly Performance Report 

 Over the next 12 months we are looking to add data from our health 
organisations in order to enhance our performance report and better evidence 
the impact we are having on safeguarding adults.

 

Page 39



10

4. Case Studies 
Many safeguarding enquiries in Gloucestershire with effective interagency working 
evidence speedy responses and achieve a better outcome for the individuals 
involved. The following examples of coercive control, financial abuse and modern 
slavery demonstrate this.  All the names and locations have been changed to protect 
confidentiality.

Case Study 1

Erin is a 34 year old white woman living in privately rented accommodation. She 
uses a wheelchair following the amputation of her left leg below the knee, has 
diabetes and associated peripheral neuropathy causing muscle weakness, poor 
coordination and constant pain. She needs assistance with personal hygiene tasks, 
dressing and making meals.

Erin was subject to coercive control by her on/off partner Daniel, her informal carer. 
He visited Erin every day and occasionally stayed the night.  

Erin disclosed the above to her GP during a routine check up. She was initially 
reluctant to accept any support to address the matter, as she described Daniel as 
“my lifeline”.
 
Actions taken:

Initially the GP called her Safeguarding lead to discuss the matter. The GP was 
asked to arrange a further meeting with Erin to explore the situation, and to complete 
a DASH form to understand the level of risk. A safeguarding concern was raised with 
Adult Social Care. At that second appointment Erin disclosed that Daniel 
occasionally threatened to hit her, was very demeaning of her and frequently 
shouted at her for no reason, leaving her upset and confused. 

Due to the GP’s sensitive approach Erin agreed to referrals to Adult Safeguarding 
and GDASS. The matter proceeded for a formal Section 42 enquiry, and a multi 
agency meeting was held with Adult Safeguarding, GDASS, Erin’s GP, Adult Social 
Care, the Police and Erin herself. 

Initially Erin was reluctant to take any practical measures to change her situation, but 
she found GDASS’s support beneficial. Over time, she also accessed the Let’s Talk 
service to address anxiety and self esteem issues. Adult Social Care arranged 
adaptations to reduce Erin’s reliance on Daniel. As Erin became less reliant on 
Daniel, his visits reduced. DASH forms were completed with Erin at intervals and this 
noted a reduction in the number of incidents, and reflected the upturn in Erin’s 
mental health.

Issues highlighted/learning

This case demonstrates the importance of a sensitive, measured approach, and of 
persistence. The GP appreciated her key role in responding to the situation and, 
when Erin first made her disclosure, sought advice rather than putting the emphasis 
back on Erin to raise the subject again should she feel ready in the future. A multi 

Page 40



11

Case Study 2

agency approach was key to providing Erin with the support and advice she needed. 

Coercive control is now a criminal offence and prosecution of Daniel would have 
been an option for the police to pursue had the situation not been resolved.  

Terrence is a sixty eight year old black man with early onset dementia. He has lived 
in a care home for eighteen months and he is very settled. Terrence’s niece has 
power of attorney (POA) for Finances. The care home manager has reported that 
over the last few months, Terrence’s care home fees haven’t been paid, and no 
money has been supplied for sundry items. The matter was therefore passed to the 
Adult Safeguarding team to consider the allegation of possible financial abuse. 

Actions taken:

During the information gathering stage, the care home had explained to the Adult 
Safeguarding team that Terrence’s niece had stopped visiting him several months 
earlier, leaving Terrence distressed. The home had ensured that Terrence had not 
gone without basic provisions. They stated they had no knowledge of how the 
situation had come about, there had been no indication of anything amiss before the 
visits stopped. 

The Office of the Public Guardian (OPG) was contacted and agreed to investigate 
the matter. Terrence’s niece described to their investigator that her daughter had 
been seriously ill, hence she hadn’t visited Terrence for about 4 weeks according to 
her. She showed documentation to evidence that she had paid for overseas medical 
treatment for her daughter from Terrence’s account. She stated that she had been 
desperate and that “Terrence would want this”. 

However, an examination of bank statements evidenced that there were other 
payments and withdrawals of money that Terrence’s niece couldn’t justify, including 
a payment for cosmetic surgery. This was reported to the police as theft. 

The OPG applied to the Court of Protection to have Terrence’s niece removed as 
POA, and his finances were taken over by Gloucestershire County Council’s Client 
Affairs team. 

Terrence’s niece did not recommence visits but over time Terrence settled back into 
life at the care home. 

Issues highlighted/learning

An unpaid care bill may not by itself be an indication of financial abuse, as there 
could be temporary practical reasons for late or non payment – which is what 
Terrence’s niece stated in this instance. However, the wider context is crucial and 
the involvement of the OPG meant that the matter could be addressed to an 
appropriate conclusion. 

Page 41



12

Case Study 3

Davinia is a 27 year old white woman with spina bifida, which causes mobility and 
continence issues for her. She misuses drugs and there are local rumours that she 
may be working in prostitution. Her housing provider recently visited her property and 
there was evidence that two males may be living there. Davinia also had a black eye 
and several abrasions to her face. Given the atmosphere in the flat and the presence 
of the males (who Davinia described as old school friends) Davinia was not asked 
about her injuries or what the situation was. 

The housing provider was, however, concerned enough to visit early the following 
day with a colleague. Davinia was alone, although a further unknown male was 
leaving the property when they arrived. When asked about her injuries, Davinia was 
evasive. There was more evidence that others were staying in the flat, and the door 
locks had been removed. The housing officer advised Davinia that they would need 
to make a Safeguarding referral for Davinia. 

Action taken:

Information gathering ascertained that Davinia had historical involvement with the 
drugs and alcohol service Change Grow Live. Her housing provider had spoken with 
Adult Social Care previously about her apparent difficulties but due to a lack of 
engagement this had not progressed, and the extent of Davinia’s needs weren’t 
known. Even her GP had little information, other than a diagnosis and minimal 
contact since Davinia had become an adult. 

A Section 42 enquiry commenced. Davinia did not consent to this but this was 
overridden due to the severity of the risks. A social worker visited Davinia with the 
housing officer. Davinia was in the flat alone, and stated she had to go somewhere 
“to run a few errands”. Despite the workers’ best efforts Davinia would not talk further 
and left the property when a car turned up. A Police check was sought on the car 
registration and there was intelligence to say that it was involved in possible gang 
activity including trafficking women to work in prostitution in the Birmingham area. 
The Home Office was notified of the situation. 

After gaining Davinia’s confidence, the social worker was able to establish that one 
of the males involved was an ex-partner of Davinia’s. Referrals were made to 
GDASS and the Nelson Trust, and Davinia agreed to move to a place of safety 
where she could receive support. The Police case against the gang members is 
ongoing. 

Issues highlighted/learning

This case highlights the fact that, while the principles of Making Safeguarding 
Personal should always be followed and consent from the person must be sought to 
commence a safeguarding enquiry, it can be overridden when the risks are 
significant.  The local authority is designated as a Home Office first responder in 
cases of potential modern slavery and has a duty to make referrals into the National 

Page 42



13

5. Partnership Achievements 2018/19 and Priorities 2019/20
This year’s annual report, like previous versions, focuses upon the achievements 
and priorities of our statutory partners. 

However, it is recognised that the delivery of safeguarding in Gloucestershire 
extends well beyond the statutory county partners, across each of our district 
councils and into the communities and voluntary sector. 

Over the past 12 months we have continued to work with a number of 
Gloucestershire strategic partnerships, some of which are listed below; however this 
list is not exhaustive, as it has not been possible to list all of them in this document.

Health and Wellbeing Board
Mental Health Partnership Board
Learning Disability Partnership Board
Safer Gloucestershire
Transforming Care Board
Learning Disability Review Steering Group
Gloucester Diocesan Board
Anti-Slavery Partnership Board
NHS England Quality Surveillance Group
Child Sexual Exploitation Board

Back to Contents

Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Implementation Group
Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements
Dangerous Drugs Network (County Lines)
Sexual Assault Referral Centre Strategic Board
Community Safety Partnership Board
PREVENT

5.1 Gloucestershire Constabulary 
Over the last twelve months, Gloucestershire Constabulary has made excellent 
progress in all of the proposed areas in last year’s report.

The Vulnerability Identification Screening Tool (VIST) continues to evolve to ensure 
that we meet the needs of our community and keep vulnerable people safe from 
harm. In consultation with our partners, the document now includes an improved 

Referral Mechanism. There is also a duty to notify the Home Office in cases where 
the person has withheld consent.

Exploitation of people by criminal gangs is a growing area of concern and the 
police’s intervention was key in disrupting the gang’s activity. The support offered to 
her was also crucial in enabling Davinia to escape the criminal exploitation she was 
experiencing. 

Page 43



14

definition and explanation of “informed consent”, and grounds to share personal data 
for safeguarding purposes. The question set is designed to elicit “best interest” 
decision-making where required, and make safeguarding personal.

A significant investment has been made in the digital technology and processes 
behind the VIST, to support both frontline operational and safeguarding staff, and we 
anticipate the system will improve in efficiency and data quality as a result over the 
coming months.

We have seen a 25% increase in vulnerable adult/Adult at Risk VIST submissions 
between Jan 2018 and Jan 2019, up from the previous year. Such VISTs represent 
about one third of all VIST submissions.

The relocation of the MASH to Shire Hall has been completed and it is functioning 
effectively and safely. The new MASH has, as anticipated, aligned multi-agency 
triage and decision makers (Police, GDASS, Health and Education) with the 
Children’s Services ‘front door’, ensuring that we expeditiously and holistically 
safeguard those most vulnerable within our communities. 

As a result of the Strategic Problem Profile commissioned by ACC Julian Moss in the 
previous period, a business case was prepared regarding Gloucestershire 
Constabulary’s response to protecting Adults at Risk from harm. 

Successful precept bids were made to the Policing Crime Commissioner, which 
represent a significant financial investment in both the MASH and Adults at Risk 
business areas.  This growth will help optimise our safeguarding and investigative 
capacity and address in full our statutory responsibilities. The model will now include 
two posts for Adult at Risk decision makers (co-located with the  MASH), and a new 
Adult at Risk investigative team, to focus upon the complex and sensitive partnership  
investigations arising from harm caused to Adults at Risk. This team will comprise 4 
dedicated investigators and be managed by a Detective Inspector. 

Assisted by colleagues from across the Constabulary, not least Neighbourhood 
PCSOs, we continue to map vulnerability within our communities, close some of our 
intelligence gaps, and use all this information as evidence to help shape our 
resourcing model to appropriately meet demand. 

Each neighbourhood locality now has a dedicated “Vulnerabilities Officer” - police 
constables with a deeper understanding of safeguarding principles, harm and risk, to 
support and advise their colleagues when dealing with vulnerability.  They will also 
manage and engage with particularly at risk individuals to ensure our response is 
both person-centred and outcome-led.

Protecting people from harm remains the mission of Gloucestershire Constabulary, 
which includes safeguarding the vulnerable.  We look forward to working with our 
colleagues on the Board to continually improve our service throughout 2019 and 
beyond.

5.2 2gether NHS Foundation Trust (2getherNHSFT)

Page 44



15

2gether NHS Foundation Trust (2g) continues to play an active part and is fully 
committed to multi-agency working, with all partners of the Gloucestershire 
Safeguarding Adults Board, in order to safeguard adults at risk of neglect and abuse.

Key Achievements 2018/19
 

In line with the GSAB objectives, 2g has shared learning from Safeguarding Adult 
Reviews and other learning models, from single and Multi-Agency Audits and 
ensured all communication from GSAB is disseminated to all staff in the 
organisation. 

Permanent funding was secured for another member of the Safeguarding Team. 
This has enabled increased capacity to deliver Safeguarding Supervision for staff 
working with children but also keeping within the ‘Think Family’ model, considering 
adults within the family network. The increased capacity has also enabled 2g to 
jointly deliver the multi-agency level 3 Safeguarding Adult training, with the Local 
Authority.

For preventative practice, 2g focused on Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence, 
Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA) and the Prevent agenda 
(including level 3 training). Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) has been a theme 
running throughout, emphasizing the requirement to evidence good practice in this 
area. 

2g has continued to actively participate in GSAB and GSCB sub group activity, 
including chairing of sub groups (Policy and Procedure) - helping to ensure a ‘Think 
family’ approach to Safeguarding within the service users’ network. 

Priorities for 2019/20
2g plan to continue working in partnership to improve overall safeguarding activity. 
This will involve participation in all sub groups, focusing on learning from multi-
agency and internal single agency audits; learning from Domestic Homicide 
Reviews, Safeguarding Adult Reviews, Serious Case Reviews and other learning 
models (e.g. Practice Learning Reviews). 

For preventative practice and early help, 2g will also focus on the use of the Mental 
Capacity Act 2005 within the Safeguarding process; the use of Advocacy; Modern 
Slavery; Dangerous Drugs Networks (County Lines) and transitional arrangements 
for young people moving into adult services - with MSP in mind.  

2g looks forward to continually improving practice with partner agencies to ensure 
outcomes for adults improve. Safeguarding Children and Adults remain a priority in 
the delivery of Mental Health services, irrespective of financial demands and 
constraints in the current economic climate. This will continue as 2g merge with 
Gloucestershire Care Services (GCS) during 2019.

Quality Assurance - 2g will continue to provide assurance to the Board that 
Safeguarding Priorities are in line with best practice and evidence positive outcomes 
for families. Through our own internal Safeguarding Subcommittee we will monitor 

Page 45



16

our objectives to ensure they are delivered in line with the Safeguarding Board 
strategic agenda.

5.3 Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHNHSFT)
Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHNHSFT) provides specialist 
NHS acute hospital care and treatment, where health care needs require the care of 
an acute hospital consultant. This can be planned care, or care in an emergency.
Our Trust remains a committed, proactive partner in the safeguarding of adults and 
we are a core, statutory member of Gloucestershire’s Safeguarding Adults Board 
(GSAB). We are proactively engaged as part of the annual action plans of all GSAB 
sub-committees, with dedicated, senior representation as part of each. 

Our Key Achievements 2018/2019
 We have strengthened our involvement and commitment to making safeguarding 

personal, to working with our patients, their carers/families so that the views and 
wishes of the adult at risk are central and guide safeguarding actions. We work 
particularly closely with Gloucestershire’s Safeguarding Adult Unit, Gloucestershire 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) Team, and with all our Hospital and 
Community Adult Social Care Team colleagues. 

 To support our patients with vulnerability factors or who present with specific risk 
factors we are further strengthening joint working with all key partners, with the 
person themselves and in particular between Mental Health Liaison Team, Alcohol 
Liaison Team, Hospital Learning Disability Liaison Nurse Team and services 
supporting those who are homeless.

 A new Safeguarding Adults at Risk and DoLS Advisory Sister joined our team in April 
2018, extending this specialist team to three members of staff. This additional 
resource has further supported staff within frontline services and a key outcome 
being to further improve safeguarding response actions, application of the Mental 
Capacity Act and DoLS in practice. Our Trust is extending safeguarding leadership 
with the introduction of a new Trust wide Safeguarding Matron post, a new Mental 
Health Matron post and a new Dementia Nurse Consultant post.

 Safeguarding training is mandatory for all Trust staff. We are reviewing our 
Safeguarding adults training programme in light of changes to National training 
requirements, and are working with all our partners across the safeguarding adult 
pathway in support of this. 

 During 2018 we have held joint awareness events with Gloucestershire County 
Council Trading Standards Team, to highlight scams awareness and give guidance 
on the help and support available as part of this.  

 We have implemented a Trust specific clinical practice guide to support our teams in 
relation to Safeguarding Adults at Risk and Pressure Ulcers. We continue to work 
with all partners to further improve this pathway in line with national best practice. 

 Our new Trust staff Intranet site and enhanced safeguarding webpages were 
implemented in 2018.

 Our new Trust public Internet was also implemented in 2018. Within this is a 
dedicated Safeguarding webpage providing safeguarding information for the public 
and for all who access our service www.gloshospitals.nhs.uk/your-visit/staying-
us/keeping-you-safe/

 During 2018 our Trust implemented the Nursing Assessment and Accreditation 
Scheme, NAAS. This is a National programme which assesses and rates the quality 

Page 46

http://www.gloshospitals.nhs.uk/your-visit/staying-us/keeping-you-safe/
http://www.gloshospitals.nhs.uk/your-visit/staying-us/keeping-you-safe/


17

and safety of care, within each ward, against defined criteria. Safeguarding, MCA 
and DoLS forms part of each teams NAAS assessment.

 During 2018 a review of the multi-agency discharge policy was undertaken to further 
support improved communications and best care experience. We will continue to 
build on this.

 In January 2019 our Trust received a rating of ‘’Good’’ by the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC).   

Our Key Objectives 2019/2020
 To continue to work in partnership with those in our care, all partners and with 

GSAB, to safeguard adults within our Hospitals and as part of Gloucestershire’s 
Safeguarding Adult annual plan. To continue to proactively support the work of 
GSAB and share learning. 

 To further strengthen integrated working across all care and safeguarding pathways, 
also in making safeguarding personal.

 Safeguarding adult training is a key objective in light of new National guidance.
 To be a proactive partner in support of safeguarding transition planning, giving 

particular focus to the recognition and impact of Adverse Childhood Experiences 
(ACEs). 

 Our Trust is committed to delivering best Mental Capacity Act practice. We are 
strengthening this over the next year and establishing an MCA delivery group with 
clinical champions.

 We are planning a calendar of staff and public awareness events in support of 
safeguarding, Mental Capacity Act, Mental Health Act and Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards. We will also continue to proactively support GSAB events and 
awareness raising campaigns. 

 Delivering the best care for everyone, promoting positive patient and carer 
experience at every contact and ensuring outstanding care for all our patients. 

5.4 Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust (GCSNHST)
Gloucestershire Care Services (GCS) remains committed to ensuring safeguarding 
adults (and children) is part of its core business and recognises that safeguarding 
adults with care and support needs is a shared responsibility with the need for 
effective joint working between partner agencies and professionals. In order to do 
this the Trust works closely with others to ensure that all of the services provided 
have regard to the duty to protect individual human rights, treat individuals with care, 
dignity and respect and safeguard them against abuse, neglect, discrimination, 
embarrassment or poor treatment.

The Trust recognises that all its employed colleagues have a legal responsibility to
prevent the abuse of adults at risk of abuse, harm, or neglect (including self neglect)
and to act positively to report any abuse.

Team
The Adult Safeguarding leads within the Trust are the Director of Nursing, who has 
executive responsibility, the Acting Head of Safeguarding (Adults and Children) and 
the Specialist Nurse for Safeguarding Adults.

Page 47



18

Supporting Board Activity
The Trust is a partner agency of the Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board 
(GSAB) and is represented at the board by the Director of Nursing.  During 2018/19 
the Trust has participated in GSAB activities which have included attendance at 
Board meetings, involvement in sub group work, updating the Gloucestershire multi-
agency policies and procedures and participating in Safeguarding Adults Reviews, 
and Domestic Homicide Reviews.  

Progress
An internal Trust Safeguarding Advice Line commenced in November 2018. This has 
allowed colleagues to seek advice and guidance from the safeguarding team.  It also 
provides an opportunity for staff working with adults to arrange individual or team 
supervision, as group supervision is not currently available for them (as it is with 
children).

We would also like to highlight our shared ambitions with 2gether NHS Foundation 
Trust to create an outstanding integrated, physical, mental health and learning 
disability offer.  We believe the coming together of our two organisations presents 
the best way of removing any barriers to change, so that we can transform the way 
we improve the physical health of those Gloucestershire people with mental health 
needs or learning disability needs and; the mental health of those people with 
physical health problems. It is our aim to be a single NHS Trust from 1st October 
2019.

As part of these developments the adult and child safeguarding teams from both 
Trusts are now co-located and planning further integration. 

Challenges for 2019-20
We will be progressing with our audit schedule and will be implementing more robust 
data collection in regard to both MCA assessments and DoLS 
applications/authorisations. This has been identified as one of our quality 
improvement schemes.

Level 3 safeguarding training for adult staff will be commenced once the merger is 
completed – 2gether Trust already provide this for their staff. A pilot of new 
simulation training, funded by NHS England is due to start in June 2019 and will 
include participants from the Trust, 2gether and Adult Social Care.

5.5 Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG)
The Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) has an established 
Safeguarding Team with key leadership roles to ensure a clear line of accountability 
alongside the provision of countywide clinical expertise and strategic advice. GCCG 
is well represented at Board level by GCCG’s Executive Nurse and at the Business 
Planning Group and sub groups by the Safeguarding Lead and Specialist Nurse for 
Safeguarding.

The excellent operational links with Primary Care continue through the work of the 
CCG Named GP for Safeguarding.  The GCCG Adult Safeguarding Lead continues 
as Chair of the Safeguarding Adult Review sub group.

Page 48



19

GCCG fully appreciates our shared responsibility and commitment to work across 
the health partnership to seek assurances that our most vulnerable adults are 
effectively safeguarded.  GCCG recognises, endorses and promotes our 
requirement to safeguard adults at risk of abuse and neglect when commissioning 
health services across Gloucestershire. 

The GCCG faces on-going challenges in the assurance of the safety of our residents 
when placed in accommodation out of county. This is of particular concern with the 
use of specialist secure facilities. Over this past year the CCG, working with 2gether 
NHSFT, has acted to strengthen our monitoring and assurance processes for 
patients placed out of area. There continue to be on-going issues with respect to 
individuals placed in-county from other areas and we will continue to work on how 
the CCG can have oversight of safeguarding considerations in respect of these 
individuals. 
A further area identified for improvement is to provide evidence of the impact of CCG 
learning events, forums, bespoke and external training events (GSAB) through timely 
and informative evaluations. GCCG is trialling a recently devised ‘Smart Survey’ as a 
way of effectively capturing this evidence. 

Key Achievements 2018/2019 

 An update of the GCCG’s Strategy for Safeguarding Adults and Children has 
been published to reflect the CCG strategic Safeguarding priorities.

 The CCG underwent an informative internal audit on its Safeguarding Adults 
arrangements.   

 The safeguarding lead has reviewed and assured that all NHS contracts with 
the CCG clearly describe the legislative requirements of Safeguarding (Adults 
and Children) on local service providers.   

 The GCCG continues to facilitate the Primary Care Safeguarding Forums as a 
priority work area.  These collaborative and well attended regular events 
enable us to inform General Practitioners and Dental Practitioners on many 
aspects of safeguarding adults, ensuring they are kept up to date.     

 The GCCG Specialist Nurse has worked with Inclusion Gloucestershire to 
produce a short video on ‘Was Not Brought’.  This film aims to raise 
awareness amongst health professionals of the difficulties some individuals 
with a learning disability have in accessing medical services. It encourages 
professional curiosity and to ‘re-think’ the needs of an individual when they do 
not attend their appointments. The film is available at:  
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=jK7YaXoC5dc  

 The CCG facilitates the Adult Safeguarding Strategic Health Group meetings, 
which support professional practice and a ‘common voice’ for health provider 
Adult Safeguarding clinical leads. The meeting has been re-formed to create a 
separate adult focused group.  

Priorities for 2019/2020 
The GCCG will continue our strategic activity to support the delivery of the GSAB 
strategic objectives.  We are committed to:   

Page 49

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=jK7YaXoC5dc


20

 Continuing to work collaboratively with partners and maintaining awareness of 
safeguarding risks of vulnerable adults with care and support needs, whilst 
looking at innovations in practice that will improve services. 

 The GCCG Safeguarding Team exploring the opportunity to provide a 
safeguarding adult dataset, informed by national information (NHSE) and 
linked to the work of local health providers.   

 Undertaking an audit of Primary Care Safeguarding activity lead by the GCCG 
Primary Care Audit Governance Group. This will provide information in 
respect of the needs of primary care staff and support training and 
development activities.  

6. Safeguarding Adults Reviews
The Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR) sub group continues to have excellent 
representation from all key partners and is fully supported administratively by the 
GSAB Business Unit.  SAR requests go to both the GSAB and SAR Chairs and, 
where appropriate, are progressed to the sub group for information gathering, 
identification of relevant agencies and subsequent analysis of each case. The sub 
group has a responsibility to recommend whether a request meets the requirements 
for a statutory or non-statutory review (Care Act 2014).  

Safeguarding Adults Reviews 

GSAB has commissioned one SAR and one local Learning Review.  A further SAR is 
taking place out of county where GSAB involvement has been for oversight and 
information.  GSAB will disseminate the key learning. Nationally, there is an 
emerging theme relating to out of county placements, commissioner oversight, 
confidence in appropriate case management and management of risk. 

Further details:

GSAB has one statutory SAR (LM) in progress (commissioned early 2018).  The 
SAR report is complete and pending Board ratification.  The referral was made by 
the police following an incident between two service users, one of whom lost the 
sight in one eye.  Both were placed into the Gloucestershire care home from out of 
county. 

Warrington SAB commissioned a statutory review in 2017.  The report is in draft, 
delayed due to local workload capacity issues.  This case is about a Gloucestershire 
service user placed out of county to receive psychiatric intensive care.  Family 
members referred this case for SAR following her death in 2017 whilst an inpatient.  

GSCB are nearing completion of a Serious Case Review.  An aspect of one adult 
with learning disability has been considered within this review.  The SAR sub group 
will be fully sighted on learning pertinent to GSAB.     

One Learning Event look place (referral received February 2018).

Overview of SAR referrals received 2018/19

Page 50



21

The table below shows an overview of the SAR referrals made to GSAB, capturing 
the breadth of referral sources as well as time period when referrals were made.    

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
Referrals 
Received 

PB
MB
BA 

DP 0 ST

Referral 
Source 

GSCB
Health – 2gether 
Police  

Adult Social Care - Homeless 
Healthcare 
Team 

SAR 
Undertaken

0 0 0 0 

Name - - - -
Learning Event 0 0 0 0
Comments - - - -

South West Thematic Review
A thematic review of thirty cases across the South West has been produced.  The 
recommendations have been transferred into a work plan for the South West 
Safeguarding Network.  

The priorities are:

 Implementation of the SAR Quality Markers in the South West. 
 Continuing to develop ways of disseminating learning from SARs.
 Formal review of SAR work plan progress.
 Guidance on risk assessment, self neglect, with MCA 2005 compliant practice 

integral to all templates.
 Develop best practice guidance to clarify the statutory guidance on the Care 

Act 2014; including People in a position of trust; approaches to organisational 
abuse.

Significant action outcomes for 2018/19 include: 
 A ‘Transitions Event’ facilitated jointly between GSAB and GSCB.  This work 

was initiated following two SAR referrals that did not meet the statutory 
threshold for a SAR.  The combined learning and workshop event (held in 
March 2019) identified a significant cohort of high risk young people where 
there is vulnerability and potential risk of harm.  Further work will take place, 
including a Transitions Thematic Review.   

 Jointly progressing the priorities of the South West Thematic Review.
 SAR Tracker is active and seeks to provide a systematic management 

process for review of SARs and their recommendations.   

Planning for 2019 
 A new Transitions Thematic Review will be undertaken, bringing together the 

learning from several similar cases on a ‘transitions’ theme.  
 The new SAR Tracker will be instrumental in improving future oversight and 

analysis of all the SARs undertaken.  The advantages will include being able 

Page 51



22

to reflect on previous SAR learning, actions taken and learning methodology; 
this should better govern decision making in all aspects of SARs. 

 The SAR sub group welcomes the GSAB Strategic Plan, which will connect 
the work of all GSAB sub groups. 

The full SAR reports can be found on the GSAB website at: 
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gsab/ 

7. GSAB Business Planning Group 

The Business Planning Group (previously known as the Management Committee) 
has increased its remit in 2018/19.  The group has taken on additional responsibility 
for the work of the GSAB sub groups and only exception reporting now goes to the 
Board.  New Terms of Reference have been produced to reflect the changes.   The 
format of Board meetings has also changed to make them more engaging and to 
increase the Board’s assurance role.  

During 2018/19 the Business Planning Group met quarterly and worked to a 
standard agenda, which included oversight and updates to the Strategic Plan and 
Risk Register.    

8. Sub Group Achievements 2018/19 and Priorities 2019/20 

8.1 Workforce Development 

 Training figures (found in supporting documents) highlight the take up of GSAB training 
and e-learning by partners during the year.  In summary, 13,400 Gloucestershire staff 
(and volunteers) undertook GSAB approved Safeguarding courses: MCA, DoLS, and 
Safeguarding e-learning are still being actively used.  There has also been an increase 
in MCA face to face and Safeguarding Level 3 training.

 A new platform, Learn Pro, has been launched, which offers a more user friendly 
website for individuals to access our free ELearning modules and multi-agency 
courses. This will soon include an ELearning module on Modern Slavery and an 
induction level Introduction to Safeguarding. 

 Feedback has been gathered to identify the impact level 3 Safeguarding training has 
had in practice. Delegates gained an increase in confidence around safeguarding and 
the reporting process, and a greater understanding of safeguarding investigations 
which supported practice improvements. 

 The annual CPD day for trainers took place in October. This had a focus on social 
isolation and frailty. The agenda for the day included presentations from the Policing 
College, Trading Standards and the Complex Care at Home team. 

 Work was done to review and update the current Safeguarding Level 2 course 
package. This has been shared with the approved GSAB safeguarding trainers. 

 The annual Train the Trainer’s workshop for Level 2 was held in January 2019 with 20 
participants. Organisations represented included the Diocese of Gloucester, day 

Page 52

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gsab/


23

centres, care homes and Gloucester Royal Hospital. GCC’s Safeguarding training 
coordinator is currently undertaking follow up trainer observations to ensure the quality 
assurance requirements are met. 

 Six half-day GSAB roadshow events were held during February and March, with 
excellent feedback. The theme was Domestic Abuse and included workshops from 
GDASS on identifying and responding to victims of domestic abuse, safety planning 
and coercive control. Each event had a successful turnout and attracted participants 
who had not attend previous roadshows, including representation from GP practices, 
dentists, Gloucestershire College, Kingfisher Treasure Seekers and primary schools.  

 The annual CPD session for Board members was held in April. The Head of 
Safeguarding Adults updated members on learning from local SARs. Further 
discussions were held around the new three year strategy, with a focus on improving 
GSAB effectiveness and safeguarding practice, as well as preventative practice and 
embedding the ethos of Making Safeguarding Personal.

2019/20 priorities include a focus on empowering staff to recognise victims of the 
developing threat posed by modern slavery and county lines, as well as self-neglect, 
social isolation and financial abuse, especially among older people. We will continue to 
evolve partnership approaches on Making Safeguarding Personal.

In addition, we will prioritise obtaining evidence of knowledge transfer through impact 
evaluations, to seek evidence of changes made in practice following attending 
safeguarding training. 

2018/19 Training Figures can be found in supporting documents.

8.2 Fire Safety Development

The Fire Safety Development group works to collectively reduce the risk of fire and 
fire injuries to our communities using the below guiding principles:

 Work together to use our collective capabilities and resources more effectively 
to enhance the lives of the people we work with; we will support and 
encourage our local networks to do the same in their communities. 

 Work together to develop ways of sharing information to help front line staff 
provide better safety solutions based on fire risk. 

 Work together to use our collective capabilities and resources to ensure the 
people we work with get the appropriate safety equipment at the right time. 

 Work together to ensure our staff understand fire risk and its wider 
implications. 

 Work together to ensure there is a referral pathway into Gloucestershire Fire 
and Rescue Service. 

 Work together to, as far as possible, mitigate risk for people in their own 
homes. 

Page 53

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gsab/safeguarding-adults-board/safeguarding-adults-annual-reports-and-strategic-plan/


24

Reflection on 2018-19 

In 2018-19 the sub group has worked on a comprehensive GAP analysis document 
following 30 differing Coroner recommendations. This document has enabled 
Gloucestershire partners to understand how they contribute to resolving Local, 
Regional and National issues highlighted in serious fire cases across the County.  

Using the GAP Analysis as a basis the group has actioned a full “Accidental Fatal 
Fire Review” for Gloucestershire. The data sets will be used to highlight trends and 
assist partners to develop new initiatives to drive down similar fires as a collective. 

The ability to safely share sensitive data across partners is key to the group’s 
success.  An awareness of the GDPR regulations can limit quick access for partners.  
In 2018-19 no major issues occurred within these criteria but it is envisaged that a 
full data sharing agreement for signed up partners may assist any challenge. 

Training and awareness continues among partners around risk but we are still not 
satisfied that the area of risk is fully embedded.  Further work is needed to embed 
fire risk as a standard part of partners’ assessments in people’s homes. 

Referral pathways are now fully established. Both risk identification and referral 
pathways are included in safeguarding training, which partners access. The group is 
also aware that the retention of staff and continual flow means that Safeguarding and 
risk awareness training needs to be embedded as part of all initial training/inductions 
for all partner agencies that work within those vulnerable homes and areas across 
the County. 

The FSDG is represented on the Safeguarding Board’s Communications and 
Engagement sub group. Communication is part of day to day business, the sub 
group is asked to use the National Fire Chiefs Council’s (NFCC) annual safety 
calendar as a basis for campaigns.   The group continues to look at how they can 
better engage with hard to reach groups to support them to live full lives, sustain 
their independence for longer and in doing so reduce preventable hospital 
admissions and avoidable fire injuries and fatalities. 

8.3 Communication & Engagement 
The Communication and Engagement sub group entered its second year in its 
current format. The sub group brings together statutory and non-statutory agencies, 
and VCS organisations. The purpose of the sub group is to raise the public profile of 
the GSAB and raise awareness of key issues to promote safeguarding of adults.

Achievements in 2018/19:
 Held quarterly meetings of the sub group with new partners involved, 

particularly from the voluntary and community sector
 Supported the Coproduction and Engagement Forum to provide users’ 

perspectives on safeguarding processes and feedback on what safeguarding 
really means for the individuals most affected by it

 Fed back on the GSAB Strategic Plan

Page 54



25

 Strong Black and Minority Ethnic group (BME) advocacy ensuring that the 
voice and needs of BME communities are represented

 Link between the group and the Learning Disability and Autism Joint Strategic 
Needs Analysis

 Publicising of safeguarding related activity and campaigns that are taking 
place amongst members of the group

 At each meeting all partners are invited to discuss what is working and if there 
are any gaps regarding safeguarding knowledge, skills and confidence in their 
respective workforces

 Meetings are themed around the GSAB Strategic Plan objectives that the 
Communication and Engagement sub group is leading on. At each meeting, 
two of the eight objectives are focused on, with professionals who work in 
those objective areas (e.g. advocacy, financial crime, support for carers) 
giving a short presentation. The purpose of this is to discuss what is currently 
being done around these objectives, identify any gaps and ensure that 
partners are all aware of the support and information available for individuals 
who may require it.

Priorities for 2019/20:
 Raise awareness of safeguarding and promote the welfare of vulnerable 

adults, utilising the networks that members of the Communication and 
Engagement sub group have in the community.

 Increase engagement with the voluntary and community sector so that they 
can support the preventative agenda.

 Ensure GSAB policies, procedures and processes are accessible and 
engaging.

 Disseminate advice and guidance on identifying, recognising and reporting 
abuse.

 Consider and plan for the future of the Coproduction and Engagement Forum 
and ensure that there is a vehicle to support the GSAB to deliver person-
centred approaches to safeguarding and hear the voice of people with care 
and support needs.

 Monitor implementation of the Communication Strategy by the wider board.

Page 55



26

CoProduction and Engagement Group Summary of the Year (2018/19) 

Background
The Coproduction and Engagement 
group launched in April 2018 with the 
aim of giving people with care and 
support needs and family carers a 
voice to inform, influence, support 
and challenge the GSAB.

Who Took Part?

                          
4 parent carers

19 people with care and support 
needs

4 professionals to facilitate
4 guest speakers

What Did We Do?
We held 7 bi-monthly Coproduction and 
Engagement sessions:
1 at Shire Hall
3 at Chuckaboos, Treasure Seekers
1 at the Manor House
1 at the Gloucester Inclusion Hub
1 at the Cheltenham Inclusion Hub 

6 were themed and featured a guest 
speaker. The themes were selected by the 
group.

What Did We Learn?
‘Safeguarding’ can be a frightening 

and off-putting word. There is still a lot of 
distrust.

Meeting with existing groups in their 
settings (and providing biscuits) = better 

engagement
Informal, un-minuted meetings with 

lots of discussion = better engagement

People don’t know about a lot of the 
support available to keep safe

More productive to incorporate 
safeguarding messages and discussions 

into existing groups and activities

Most of the things that make 
individuals with care/support needs feel 

safe or unsafe are the same as for 
everyone else! But the impact of those 

things and vulnerabilities may be greater 

Information Shared with 
the Group

‘Keeping People Safe’ Easy Read 
summary

‘What is safeguarding’ on 
YouTube

Information about ‘What is 
safeguarding and who can help 
with it’ shared by the GCC 
Safeguarding team

Information about the Keep Safe 
Scheme

Information about domestic abuse 
from GDASS

Easy Read safeguarding booklet 
from the GCC Quality Team

What Was Achieved?
Co-produced vision and aims for 

the group
Lots of feedback about what 

makes individuals feel safe and 
unsafe, and what can help

Lots of info shared with the group 
to better inform about safeguarding

Page 56



27

8.4 Policy & Procedures 
Achievements for 2018/19 
The continued engagement from partner agencies has ensured the Policy and 
Procedures sub group has been able to produce and update a significant number of 
documents in the last year. The GSAB Policy Library provides a work plan and 
includes: 

 Organisational Abuse Procedures – guidance is being piloted by the County 
Council Safeguarding Team with a view to ratification by the Board.

 Persons in Position of Trust (PiPoT) framework has been signed off by the 
Board and implemented by agencies.

 The Information Sharing Guidance was reviewed and updated in September 
2018, taking into account the new data protection requirements (Data 
Protection Act 2018).

 Safeguarding Adults Review Protocol – ratified in November 2018.

 On-going work around the Safeguarding Adults and Pressure Ulcer Protocol – 
to be discussed at the next South West Safeguarding forum and within the 
local NHS Strategic group - led by Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 
Group (GCCG).

Stronger links have been forged through the GSAB Co-production and Service User 
group. Feedback on policies and procedures, at the production stage, has been 
sought and easy read versions of relevant documents produced. 

Priorities for 2019/20 

While maintaining the library of policies outlined above, to also lead on two of the 
GSAB Strategic Plan Objectives:

 Raise awareness of the recently published High Risk Behaviours Policy for 
the management of individuals whose behaviours pose a high risk of harm to 
themselves or others.

 Work with the GSCB in respect of those individuals who are transitioning from 
children to adult services to ensure that those with care and support needs 
undergo a seamless transition.

A common language will be used to ensure future documents are accessible to 
everyone, encompassing the principles of making safeguarding personal guidance. 

8.5 Activity & Data 2018/19

Calls to the Safeguarding Adults Team Advice Line, where professionals can call to 
discuss a case and receive advice on whether or not to raise a safeguarding concern 
remain high, with 4119 calls.  The number of Safeguarding concerns raised on 

Page 57



28

behalf of adults at risk was 2077, when this is added to the number of advice line 
calls it makes a total of 6196 contacts with the team.  

Of the 2077 concerns, 1048 went on to become Section 42 enquiries and 67 became 
‘Other’ enquiries, making a total of 1115. ‘Other’ relates to enquiries that have not 
met the criteria for a statutory enquiry, however some form of safeguarding enquiry 
is deemed to be required, for example, the person is at risk of abuse and has 
support needs, but not care needs. 

175 of the safeguarding concerns reported to the Adult Helpdesk were made by 
Gloucestershire Police, an increase from 162 last year.  Of these 76 led to enquiries.   

Advice Line Calls 2018/19

Quarter Month Advice Line Calls

Apr 2018 346
May 2018 397
Jun 2018 438

Q1

Total 1181
Jul 2018 393

Aug 2018 376
Sep 2018 292

Q2

Total 1061
Oct 2018 297
Nov 2018 360
Dec 2018 293

Q3

Total 950
Jan 2019 334
Feb 2019 335
Mar 2019 258

Q4

Total 927

Page 58



29

Concerns Leading to Section 42 or Other Safeguarding Enquiries 2018/19

Closed Section 42 Enquiries and Risk 

Quarter Total Closed S42s Risk Remains Risk Reduced Risk Removed No Risk Identified
Q1 206 24 88 94 1
Q2 304 45 139 113 8
Q3 288 33 130 125 0
Q4 266 29 125 107 5
Total 1064 131 482 439 14

Page 59



30

Number of Risks 

Section 42 Enquiries by Age Group

8.6 Quality Assurance 

Audit Group

One of the Audit sub group’s main responsibilities is to complete an agreed multi-
agency annual programme of planned audits in response to emerging themes or 
areas of concern - identified by GSAB, its Business Planning Group or the Audit 
Group (in agreement with GSAB). This schedule is set by a small steering group and 
is reported on quarterly to the Business Planning Group and Board. 

The group has undertaken 5 multi-agency case file and agency audits this year, 
which consisted of the following themes:

Page 60



31

 Repeat Concerns 
 Sexual Abuse of People with LD 
 Domestic Abuse 
 Police
 Self-Neglect 

As per previous years, results of the audits are fed back to the teams concerned, 
including where there is evidence of good practice. Any broader learning identified is 
directed to the relevant group for sharing more widely.

The proposed consultancy review of the work of the audit group had to be put on 
hold due to competing work priorities.  This will be reconsidered as part of their work 
plan for 2020/21. 

Our Priorities for 2019/2020 include: 

An agency based audit for each of the key partners including:

 Gloucestershire Constabulary 
 Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group
 2gether Trust
 Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

A thematic audit for: 

 Older people - there is inconsistency across the partner agencies in the 
definition and service level enhancement for older people, the audit will 
explore best practice and whether the outcomes of an enhanced service bring 
meaningful benefit. 

 ACEs (especially Non Section 42 referrals) - arising from previous audits as a 
developing basis for referral, despite these falling outside of the usual 
framework of the Section 42 enquiry principles (care and support needs). 

The group also intends to revisit the audits for both section 42 decision-making and 
the Mental Capacity Act.

The Steering group will also give consideration to agency audits for the District 
Councils or by locality areas, should the opportunity arise in the next year. 

The steering group continues to seek to improve the methodology of the audits. The 
recent successful police audit, based at the Constabulary Headquarters, gave 
reassurance that our partner processes are working fairly well and identified 
constructive areas for improving the process in future. It is anticipated that the 
scheduled agency audits will be equally as productive. The sub group also supports 
partner members with their own audit processes and quality frameworks.
The outcomes, learning and recommendations of these audits are captured within 
the minutes and summary report to the Business Planning Group and Board and in 

Page 61



32

direct feedback to the agency or team representatives. If necessary, service 
recovery will be undertaken by the relevant parties. 

9. Safeguarding Adults at Risk Self Assessment Audit Tool 

In January 2018 an updated Safeguarding Adults at Risk Self Assessment Audit tool 
was sent out to partners for completion.  The aim of the audit tool is to provide 
organisations in Gloucestershire with a consistent framework to assess and monitor 
Safeguarding Adults arrangements.  This in turn supports the Board in ensuring 
effective safeguarding practice across the county.   

The tool provides an overview of the Safeguarding Adults arrangements in place 
across the county, identifying:

 Strengths, in order that good practice can be shared
 Common areas for improvement where organisations can possibly work 

together with the support of the Board
 Single agency issues that may need to be addressed by the Board

The audit tool is a two-part process, with initial completion of the self assessment 
audit, followed by scrutiny and challenge.  Meetings were held in November 2018 
allowing partners to quality assure their self assessments and highlight any areas 
where further work is needed.  Several partners changed their ratings, to show that 
further work was needed.  Progress in these areas will be reviewed later in the year. 

10. The Board’s Resources

Independent Chair’s comments on Board attendance 
We have worked hard once again to ensure that all partner organisations on the 
Safeguarding Adults Board are represented by a post holder of sufficient seniority 
and expertise and that ideally the same person should attend each meeting. 
However, there are inevitably operational pressures on individuals. I am very grateful 
to the senior representatives of each organisation who have given so much time, 
interest and commitment to the work of the Board during 2018/19.
A list of the Board’s current membership can be found in supporting documents.

Funding Contributions
The Board is pleased to confirm that Gloucestershire Constabulary and the Clinical 
Commissioning Group (on behalf of 2getherNHSFT, Gloucestershire Hospitals 
NHSFT and Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust) have agreed to continue 
their financial contribution to the Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board.  The 
Bristol, Gloucestershire, Somerset and Wiltshire Community Rehabilitation 
Companies (Probation Service) have also provided a contribution. 

Page 62

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gsab/safeguarding-adults-board/safeguarding-adults-annual-reports-and-strategic-plan/


33

These contributions help with the costs associated with the running of the Board, 
including its Independent Chair, the Gloucestershire County Council Head of 
Safeguarding Adults post, costs in conducting Safeguarding Adults Reviews, 
Communication & Publicity and delivering on the Board’s Workforce Development 
and Training Pathway. 

Other partners have contributed with their time and commitment to the Board’s work 
and by providing access to resources such as meeting venues, conferences, etc.

All documents and supporting reports referred to in this annual report can 
also be found on the GSAB website, supporting documentation.

Special thanks are reserved for all agencies who have contributed to this 
report and the achievements of the Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults 
Board over the last year. 
Back to Contents

GSAB Business and Activity Costs 2018/19

Independent Chair                                                      20,000
Other staffing                                                            101,400
(Includes 30% Head of Safeguarding Adults, 
100% GSAB Business Manager, 15% Admin
Manager & 100% Administrator)
                                           
Workforce Development                                             65,000
Safeguarding Adult  Reviews                                      20,000
Comms & Publicity                                                        4,000
Total                                                                         210,400

GSAB Partner Contributions 2018/19
 
Health 38,877
Police 20,440
Probation   1,000

Page 63

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gsab/safeguarding-adults-board/safeguarding-adults-annual-reports-and-strategic-plan/


This page is intentionally left blank



HEALTHONOMICS
TACKLING HEALTH INEQUALITIES  
THROUGH INCLUSIVE GROWTH

Report of the Director of Public Health 2018/19

P
age 65

A
genda Item

 7



CONTENTS
Foreword

01
Health and wealth: A cyclical relationship

1.1 Health and wealth in Gloucestershire

1.2 Promoting inclusive growth to tackle health inequalities

02
Delivering inclusive growth in Gloucestershire

2.1 Driving social mobility to deliver inclusive growth

2.2 Creating places that enable inclusive growth

2.3 Promoting ‘good work’ for all

2.4 Health, care and the public sectors as inclusive growth partners

03
Recommendations

Appendix 1: Gloucestershire’s Population Health Indicators 

Appendix 2: Social Mobility Index rankings for Gloucestershire

Appendix 3: Progress update from the 2017/18 Annual Report

Glossary

References

pg 03

pg 10

pg 15

pg 17

pg 20

pg 23

pg 24

pg 25

pg 26

pg 28

pg 22

pg 04

pg 06

pg 08

02REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

P
age 66



5
When we talk about what determines our health, we 
often talk about the health services in our local area 
and how we access them. 

But over the last year, Gloucestershire’s Public Health 
team has been increasing its focus on what we call 
the ‘wider determinants of health’: the broader social, 
economic and environmental factors that influence our 
health and wellbeing. 

Various studies suggest these factors can make up around 
45 to 50% of our overall health and wellbeing (Kings Fund, 
2013), making a strong case for paying greater attention 
to the places we live: our education, work and income, the 
environment, and our family and social networks.

In this year’s annual report, I want to focus on one particular 
determinant: the interrelationship between the health and 
wellbeing of our local population and Gloucestershire’s 
economic prosperity – the critical relationship between 
health and wealth.

We know that being in a good, stable job is an important 
determinant of good health and wellbeing. We also  
know that a healthy and happy workforce is a more 
productive one. So what’s good for health can also be  
good for the economy. 

Gloucestershire’s 2050 Vision seeks to create an innovative, 
skilled and prosperous magnet county; one that attracts 
and retains a workforce that can contribute to greater 
productivity and a thriving economy. 

But this vision for the future also seeks to create an 
inclusive, healthy and happy county, where everyone can 
flourish. We must make sure that every Gloucestershire 
resident has the opportunity to access, benefit from and 
contribute to the county’s planned growth, including those 
who are currently most disadvantaged and more likely to 
experience health inequalities. 

This year’s report explores the opportunities to maximise 
the benefits of the relationship between health and wealth 

by prioritising inclusive growth and social mobility: making 
sure that everyone has the opportunity to build a good life 
for themselves regardless of their background. I argue that 
this can be achieved in Gloucestershire through addressing 
education and skills from the earliest age, growing healthy 
and flexible workplaces, delivering infrastructure that 
drives social mobility, and maximising the potential of local 
organisations, like the NHS and local councils.

My report highlights areas for focus across the Five 
Foundations of Productivity, as set out in the UK Industrial 
Strategy: Ideas, People, Infrastructure, Business 
Environment and Place. I am publishing this report at 
an important time, as the Local Enterprise Partnership, 
GFirst, develops the Local Industrial Strategy for increased 
productivity in Gloucestershire and partners around the 
county progress plans for local growth. Inclusive growth – 
the opportunity for everyone to benefit – must be central to 
these plans. 

The preparation of my annual report is a team effort and 
my thanks go to those who contributed to its design, 
drafting and content this year: Jennifer Taylor, Sam 
Piperdy, Zoe Clifford, Kate Martin, Charlotte Bigland, 
Vikki Clarke, Beth Bennett-Britton, Nicky Maunder, 
Claudia Parry and Mosaique Design & Digital 
Marketing.

My thanks also go to those from across the system, who 
have shared their good practice: 

 - Vikki Walters and the Forwards Team

 - Shôn Douglas and Cheltenham  
Borough Homes

 - Susan Doran and local businesses Stagecoach West 
and J D Norman 

 - Clare Hines and Integrated Care System workforce 
development partners

 - Gloucester Services and the Gloucestershire 
Gateway Trust.

I hope this annual report prompts you to think more about 
the relationship between Gloucestershire’s economy and 
the health of its population. If you would like to continue the 
conversation, please get in touch by email:  
sarah.l.scott@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

SARAH SCOTT,  
DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 
September 2019

THE 5 
FOUNDATIONS OF 
PRODUCTIVITY

PEOPLE

PLACE

IDEAS

INFRASTRUCTURE

BUSINESS 
ENVIRONMENT

FOREWORD

03REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

P
age 67

mailto:sarah.l.scott%40gloucestershire.gov.uk%20?subject=


HEALTH AND WEALTH: 
A CYCLICAL RELATIONSHIP 01

It is well established that 
employment is a major 
determinant of health.

Unemployment is associated with an 
increased risk of death and disease 
(LGA & PHE, 2016), including:

 - Limiting illness 

 - Cardiovascular disease 

 - Poor mental health and suicide

 - Health-damaging behaviours, such 
as smoking, physical inactivity and 
drinking alcohol

Among working age people in 
England, 42% of those who are 
economically inactive1 have a long-
term condition, such as diabetes, 
asthma, chronic obstructive 
pulmonary disease (COPD), arthritis or 
certain mental health conditions (PHE, 
2016). 17% of unemployed people 
report having a limiting long-term 
condition (i.e. a long-term condition 
that limits their everyday activity).  
They are twice as likely to report this 
as people who are employed.

Unemployment and economic 
inactivity are also associated with lower 
income and wider socio-economic 
disadvantage, which leads to health 
inequalities. Health inequalities are the 
unjust and avoidable differences in 
people’s health across the population 
and between specific population 
groups. They are socially determined 
by circumstances that are mostly 
beyond a person’s control.  

Being in good 
employment is 
protective of 
health. Conversely, 
unemployment 
contributes to poor 
health. Getting people 
into work is therefore 
of critical importance 
for reducing health 
inequalities.

SIR MICHAEL MARMOT

Fair Society, Healthy Lives, 2010

1A person of working age (16 to 64) 
is counted as economically inactive 
if they are out of work, they have not 
been actively looking for work in the 
past four weeks, and they are not 
waiting to start a job. People who are 
caring for their family or retired are 
also counted as economically inactive. 
A person in full-time education is 
counted as economically inactive 
unless they are either in paid work or 
looking for and available to start work.

04REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

HEALTH AND WEALTH: A CYCLICAL RELATIONSHIP

P
age 68



These circumstances disadvantage 
people and limit their chance to  
live longer, healthier lives and to 
contribute to their community and  
the local economy.

Conversely, a physically and 
mentally healthy workforce is 
good for productivity and for 
business. Research shows that 
healthy employees are three times 
more productive than those in poor 
health (LGA & PHE, 2016) and that 
workplaces with ‘very satisfied’ 
employees (who could be more likely 
to report better wellbeing) have higher 
productivity, quality of output and 
overall performance (BIS, 2014).

There is also a cost to business of 
ill health. The combined costs of 
sickness absence, lost productivity 
through worklessness and health-
related productivity losses are 

01

42%
of those who are economically 
inactive have a long-term 
health condition

17%
of unemployed people report 
having a condition that limits 
their everyday activity

HEALTH &
WORK CYCLE

FIGURE 1
Figure 1. The health and work cycle (adapted from LGA & PHE, 2016)

estimated to be over £100bn annually. 
To put this into perspective, the entire 
budget for the NHS is £139bn in 2019.

This interrelationship between 
population health and a thriving 
economy can be described in simple 
terms as a cycle (Figure 1).

In this model, there is a cyclical 
relationship between the health 
of workers, their productivity, the 
competitiveness and prosperity of  
the local economy, and population 
health and wellbeing. All parts of the 
cycle must be considered together  
to enable it to work.

A
T

 W
O

R
K

COMPET I T I V E N E S S

GOO
D

 W
O

R
K

E
R

SO
CIAL W

ELL BEING

A
N

D
 P

R
O

S
P

E
R

IT
Y

PR
O

D
U

C
T

IV
IT

Y

BUSINE S S

H
EA

LT
H

AN
D H

E A LT H

E
C

O
N

O
M

IC
 D

E
V

E
L

O
P

M
E

N
T

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19 05

HEALTH AND WEALTH: A CYCLICAL RELATIONSHIP

P
age 69



HEALTH AND WEALTH  
IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE

So how do Gloucestershire residents fare in 
terms of their health and wellbeing and  
economic activity?

Overall, Gloucestershire residents enjoy good health and 
wellbeing. Appendix 1 contains a summary of local population 
health indicators, which shows that outcomes are in line with or 
better than England across all but one of the 32 indicators.

But this general picture hides inequalities in health. People 
who live in more deprived parts of Gloucestershire have 
poorer health outcomes. This can be seen in a stark disparity 
in life expectancy.

Generally, men living in the least deprived parts of 
Gloucestershire can expect to live 8.1 years longer than men 
living in the most deprived areas and women can expect to 
live 5.3 years longer. However, county level data masks even 
greater inequality in certain parts of the county, such as within 
Gloucester City, where the gap is 11.9 years for men and 10.5 
years for women (PHE, 2018). 

We see this inequality repeated when we look at a range of 
health data, including obesity, smoking prevalence and related 
conditions such as diabetes and cardiovascular disease. We 
can even see differences in health behaviours and outcomes 
across different segments of the workforce. For example, in 
Gloucestershire the smoking prevalence amongst routine and 
manual workers aged 18 to 64 is 19.8%, whilst it is 12.1% in 
the general population (PHE, 2019).

There is a similar picture in our economic activity. 
Gloucestershire’s unemployment rates are also generally better 
than the national average. In May 2019, the county’s claimant 
rate2 was 1.8%, lower than the national rate of 2.7%. However, 
there is some variance across the county, as shown in Figure 2.

Figure 2. Claimant rate (%) across Gloucestershire,  
May 2019 (Gloucestershire County Council, 2019)

CLAIMANT RATE (%)  
ACROSS GLOUCESTERSHIRE 
MAY 2019

Cheltenham

C
la

im
an

t 
 r

at
e

District

Cotswold Gloucester TewkesburyStroud

0

0.5

1

2

3

1.5

2.5

Forest 
of Dean

Gloucestershire

1.1

FIGURE 2

2The claimant rate is a measure of the number of people who are 
unemployed and claiming benefits. 

There is even greater variance at ward level between the lowest 
claimant rate in Gloucestershire of 0.2% (Vale in Stroud) to 
the highest rate at 5.3% (Westgate in Gloucester). All districts, 
apart from Stroud, include at least one ward in the highest 10% 
of the county for claimant rate. Gloucester City has six wards in 
the top 10%.

In May 2019, 1,350 people in Gloucestershire aged 
18 to 24 were claiming Job Seekers Allowance and 
Universal Credit and were not in work. This represents 
19.2% of all working age claimants.

There were 343 young people aged 16 to 18 not in 
education, employment or training in Gloucestershire. 
This represents 2.54% of the 16 to 18 cohort.

There is also variation in Gloucestershire’s employment 
rate amongst people who have long-term conditions, 
physical and learning disabilities and mental health 
conditions – those who could benefit greatly from the 
health outcomes offered from being in ‘good work’ 
(see later chapter on page 17). In particular, we have a 
larger gap (74.7 percentage points) in the employment 
rate between those with a learning disability and 
the overall employment rate than in England (69.2 
percentage points).

HEALTH AND WEALTH

06REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

HEALTH AND WEALTH IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE

P
age 70



I’d like to get an 
apprenticeship or 
paid work in this 
industry

Tom is a 19 year old student 
from the National Star College in 
Cheltenham, which enables people 
with disabilities to realise their 
potential “through personalised 
learning, transition and destination 
services”. Tom has been 
completing a Supported Internship 
at BP Motors in Cheltenham since 
September 2018. 

Gloucestershire has a well-established and growing 
approach to helping people with disabilities in to 
employment through the county council’s Forwards 
scheme and the Going the Extra Mile (GEM) 
project. This includes offers such as supported 
internships, which are delivering positive outcomes 
for those seeking work and contributing to a 
closing of the gap. 

Gloucestershire’s economy performs relatively 
well, particularly in terms of the South West region. 
Average earnings for Gloucestershire residents 
in 2018 were £29,5553, which was similar to UK 
average earnings and higher than the South West 
average. However, as we might expect, there are 
sectors in which the median salary is lower, e.g. the 
food and drink sector, or higher, such as in finance 
and professional services.

As a measure of productivity, Gloucestershire’s 
gross value added (GVA) per hour worked4 in 
2017 was £32.20 (Subregional Productivity, 
ONS). This was above the South West average 
(£30.20) but 4.2% below the UK average 
(£33.60). When compared to the other 37 Local 
Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs), Gloucestershire is 
ranked of 14 out of 38 (1 having the highest GVA 
per hour worked). 

On top of his college work and 
other placements, he has been 
at BP Motors two days a week, 
throughout the year.

Tom’s internship involves lots of 
different tasks: getting involved 
in polishing, cleaning the cars, 
preparing the vehicles before 
painting or restoration work and 
other car body work. He also gets 
involved with other duties such as 
cleaning, brushing and keeping 
the work environment tidy. 

Tom has really valued his time 
at BP Motors. However, he is 
ambitious and is thinking about 
his next steps, saying: “Now I’ve 
finished my internship, I’d like 
to get an apprenticeship or paid 
work in this industry.”

On finishing his internship, Tom 
has been offered two days a week 
paid work at BP Motors. He’s really 
happy with this, but he sees it as 
one step in the right direction and 
is working with the National Star 
College towards his ultimate goal of 
a Motor Vehicle Apprenticeship. 

Of those Local Enterprise Partnerships that have a 
higher GVA per hour worked than Gloucestershire, 
the majority (8 out of 13) are located in London 
and the South East of England. The exceptions 
to these are in the West of England, Cheshire and 
Warrington, Swindon and Wiltshire, South East 
Midlands, and Coventry and Warwickshire.

Whilst this is a high-level summary of the 
county’s health and economic indicators, it gives 
a good overview of the inequalities experienced 
by people living in Gloucestershire and suggests 
that closing the inequalities gap must be a 
priority for local partners. 

As Gloucestershire’s Local Industrial Strategy 
sets out the vision and plan to increase 
productivity in the county, this report makes the 
case for using this planned growth as a lever to 
tackle inequalities, close the gap and make sure 
that everyone can contribute and benefit. To do 
this, we must make sure that growth is inclusive. 

TOM  
CHAMBERLAIN
NATIONAL STAR COLLEGE

Supported intern at BP Motor  
Bodybuilders & Engineers

£29,555
average earnings in 2018  
for Gloucestershire residents

1.1

3The earnings information collected relates to gross pay 
before tax, national insurance or other deductions,  
and excludes payments in kind. Source: Annual Survey of 
Hours and Earnings.

4Gross value added (GVA) is a measure of the value of 
goods and services produced in an area, industry or sector 
of an economy.

14 out of 38
ranking for productivity in 2017

CASE 
STUDY

07

HEALTH AND WEALTH IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

P
age 71



PROMOTING INCLUSIVE GROWTH 
TO TACKLE HEALTH INEQUALITIES 

A growing body of national 
evidence argues that inclusive 
growth is a crucial part of any 
strategy to increase productivity. 

The Inclusive Growth Commission 
(2017) argues that “inequality not 
only has a social cost, but… it 
also hampers long-term economic 
performance and the productive 
potential of people and places.”

The commission’s report suggests 
that 38% of the gap between the 
combined average productivity of 
the ten UK Core Cities5 and the 
UK average is associated with 
deprivation. It also argues that closing 
this productivity gap by addressing 
inequalities would deliver £24.4bn a 
year to the UK economy.

The report states that “the UK’s 
productivity gap may be due to a range 
of factors, but failure to invest sufficiently 
in tackling the variation in skills, 
employability and other compounding 
social factors is a major part of our poor 
regional productivity story.”

Inclusive growth is not just good 
for the economy, it is good for the 
health and wellbeing of our 
population as well.  

1.2

A GIVE EVERY CHILD THE 
BEST START IN LIFE

B
ENABLE ALL CHILDREN, 
YOUNG PEOPLE AND 
ADULTS TO MAXIMISE 
THEIR CAPABILITIES AND 
HAVE CONTROL OVER 
THEIR LIVES

C CREATE FAIR EMPLOYMENT 
AND GOOD WORK FOR ALL

D
ENSURE A HEALTHY 
STANDARD OF LIVING  
FOR ALL

E
CREATE AND DEVELOP 
HEALTHY AND  
SUSTAINABLE PLACES 
AND COMMUNITIES

F
STRENGTHEN THE ROLE 
AND IMPACT OF  
ILL HEALTH PREVENTION

5The Core Cities Group is a self-selected 
and self-financed collaborative advocacy 
group of large regional cities in the United 
Kingdom outside Greater London. There 
are ten cities: Birmingham, Bristol, Cardiff, 
Glasgow, Leeds, Liverpool, Manchester, 
Newcastle, Nottingham and Sheffield.

Inclusive growth is 
economic growth that is 
distributed fairly across 
society and creates 
opportunities for all.

OECD, 2019

In particular, it is an effective  
strategy for reducing the health 
inequalities gap. Almost ten years  
ago, the Marmot Review (2010)  
made six policy recommendations  
for reducing health inequalities, 
covering amongst them early years, 
education and skills, employment, 
income, and infrastructure:

08REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

PROMOTING INCLUSIVE GROWTH TO TACKLE HEALTH INEQUALITIES

P
age 72



Where investment in social 

infrastructure is an integral 

driver of growth

Where as many people as possible 

can contribute to and benefit from 

a new kind of growth

We call this Inclusive Growth

CU R R E N T MODE L
Grow now, redistribute later

Our current model assumes a 

‘grow now, redistribute later’ 

approach to tackling inequalities

This has created a divided society, 

with many people feeling left 

behind from our economy

This compounds the UK’s  

poor productivity problem, 

holding down real wages and 

living standards

NE W MODE L
Inclusive growth

IN
C

LUSI V E GRO

W
T

H

and social inequaliti
es

Tackling place-based

E C ONOM IC 
 GROW T H

Tackling place-based 
and social inequalities

A NEW 
MODEL IS 
NEEDED

The commission argues that this 
requires a local approach based on a 
deep understanding of local assets, 
connecting people to quality jobs, 
resourcing place regeneration as well 
as business investment, and helping 
businesses keep ahead, particularly in 
the context of Brexit.

Inclusive growth is rapidly emerging 
as a driver of productivity and lever 
for closing the inequalities gap.  
The rest of my report will examine 
how we might deliver inclusive growth 
as part of Gloucestershire’s Local 
Industrial Strategy and 2050 Vision,  
to increase productivity and tackle 
health inequalities.

FIGURE 3

1.2

The Inclusive Growth Commission’s 
new model of growth shows that 
tackling inequalities is central to 
growing the economy, as both a driver 
of growth and as a benefit for as many 
people as possible (Figure 3).

This new inclusive growth model is 
underpinned by five principles:

1 CREATING A SHARED, 
BINDING MISSION

2
MEASURING THE HUMAN 
EXPERIENCE OF GROWTH, 
NOT JUST ITS RATE

3
SEEING GROWTH AS THE 
WHOLE SOCIAL SYSTEM, 
NOT JUST A MACHINE

4 BEING A N AGIL E  
IN V ESTOR AT SC A L E

5
EN T R EPR ENEU R I A L , 
W HOL E PL ACE  
L E A DERSHIP

INCLUSIVE GROWTH COMMISSION’S MODEL

£24.4bn
a year to the UK economy by 
addressing inequalities

Figure 3. Current and new models of growth (Inclusive Growth Commission, 2017)

Inequality not only has 
a social cost but... it also 
hampers long-term 
economic performance 
and the productive 
potential of people  
and places.

Inclusive Growth Commission, 2017

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19 09

PROMOTING INCLUSIVE GROWTH TO TACKLE HEALTH INEQUALITIES

P
age 73



CH E LT E N H A M 225

C O T S WOL D 268

FOR E S T OF DE A N 303

GL OUCE S T E R 282

S T ROU D 43

T E W K E SBU RY 199

2.1

One significant way to achieve 
inclusive growth is to drive 
social mobility, defined by the 
Social Mobility Commission as 
“ensuring that everyone has 
the opportunity to build a good 
life for themselves regardless 
of their family background.”

The commission (2019) argues that 
“inequality is still deeply entrenched in 
Britain: there is a persistent gap in early 
literacy; the attainment gap at the end 
of secondary school has hardly shifted 
since 2014 and the better off are nearly 
80 per cent more likely to end up in 
a professional job than those from a 
working-class background.”

The County All-Party Parliamentary 
Group (APPG) found that eight of 
the ten least socially mobile areas 
in England are counties and are 
overwhelmingly rural and coastal  
(CCN, 2018), suggesting that this is  
a key issue for a largely rural county 
such as Gloucestershire.

The Social Mobility Index (2017) shows 
that three districts in Gloucestershire 
(Cotswold, Forest of Dean and 
Gloucester) are ranked in the bottom 
20% nationally (Table 1). However, 
Stroud district is the highest ranking 
local authority area in the South 
West, suggesting that there might be 
potential to learn from and build on 
what works in that part of the county.

Social mobility is the 
link between a person’s 
occupation or income 
and the occupation or 
income of their parents. 
Where there is a strong 
link, there is a lower level 
of social mobility. Where 
there is a weak link, 
there is a higher level of 
social mobility.

Social Mobility Commission, 2019

DRIVING SOCIAL MOBILITY TO  
DELIVER INCLUSIVE GROWTH

CONTRIBUTING TO: PEOPLE  |  INFRASTRUCTURE  |  BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

TABLE 1 DISTRICT SOCIAL 
MOBILITY INDEX RANKING 
(OUT OF 324)

10REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

DRIVING SOCIAL MOBILITY TO DELIVER INCLUSIVE GROWTH

P
age 74



Good level of  
development (age 5)

0%

10%

20%

40%

60%

30%

50%

70%

80%

90%

Good level of 
development with 
free school meals 

(age 5)

Year 1 pupils 
achieving expected 

level in phonics 
screening

Gloucestershire South West England

1 EARLY YEARS, SCHOOL READINESS,  
LITERACY AND NUMERACY 

2 EDUCATION, GCSE ATTAINMENT,  
AND QUALITY POST-16 CHOICES

3 REWARDING EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES

Gloucestershire’s 2050 Vision supports the argument that 
this leads to a net loss of young people from shire counties 
such as Gloucestershire, holding back local economic 
growth. This suggests that any approach to improving 
social mobility must take action across the ‘social mobility 
life cycle’, as described by the County APPG. Most 
national reports on social mobility identify three stages:

The national Social Mobility Index ranks local authority areas 
across 16 indicators, covering Early Years, School, Youth 
and Working Lives. Full Gloucestershire and district rankings 
can be found in Appendix 2. Broadly, Gloucestershire 
and its districts perform well against the Working Lives 
indicators (with the exception of housing affordability in the 
Cotswolds and some income indicators in the Forest of 
Dean). However, the county performs less well against the 
other indicators.

EARLY YEARS

A good level of development in a child’s early years – often 
used to describe school readiness – is a measurement 
of a child’s personal, social and emotional development, 
physical development, and communication and language, 
including literacy and numeracy. 

It is a key determinant of outcomes in later life; national 
analysis has shown that a child with a poor level of 
development at the age of five is unlikely to catch 
up with their peers by the time they leave education. 
This means that future employment and progression 
opportunities are likely to be more limited.

Data published by Public Health England (Figure 4) shows 
that in 2017/18:

 - A lower percentage of five-year-old children in 
Gloucestershire reached a good level of development 
than in England

 - A lower percentage of five-year-old children in 
Gloucestershire who were eligible for free school meals 
reached a good level of development than in England

 - A lower percentage of children aged five or six (in Year 
1) in Gloucestershire achieved the expected level in 
phonics (a method for teaching reading) than in England

Eligibility for free school meals is used in Figure 4 to 
represent socio-economic disadvantage and we can 
see that children who are eligible for free school meals 
experience inequality in their early years development. 
Evidence strongly suggests that this inequality can 
continue into adult life. 

Figure 4. Percentage of children reaching early years development 
levels in Gloucestershire, South West and England, 2017/18 
(Source: Public Health England)

PERCENTAGE OF CHILDREN 
REACHING EARLY YEARS  
DEVELOPMENT LEVELS (2017/18)

Those better off are 80% more likely to end 
up in a professional job than those from a 
working-class background

80%
2.1

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19 11

DRIVING SOCIAL MOBILITY TO DELIVER INCLUSIVE GROWTH

FIGURE 4

P
age 75



80705030 604020100

Most deprived 
decile

Second most 
deprived decile

Third most
deprived decile

Fourth most 
deprived decile

Fifth most 
deprived decile

Fifth least  
deprived decile

Fourth least  
deprived decile

Third least 
deprived decile

Second least  
deprived decile

Least deprived 
decile

67.5

69.7

70.7

69.8

71.0

71.2

72.6

73.2

72.0

75.4

Figure 5 shows that children are less likely to be 
‘school ready’ at the age of five in the most deprived 
areas of Gloucestershire and more likely in the least 
deprived areas.

However, the picture is more complex than this appears. 
A recent report to Leadership Gloucestershire on social 
mobility outlined a national challenge: that “some of the most 
affluent areas of the country deliver worse outcomes for their 
disadvantaged children than places that are much poorer.” 
This can be seen in Gloucestershire in the gap in school 
readiness between children who are and are not eligible for 
free school meals (representing socio-economic disadvantage). 
In Cotswold district, this gap is a very stark 40.5%.

My 2016/17 annual report identified school readiness as 
an area for priority action. This led to the setting up of 
a multi-agency working group in July 2018, chaired by 
Public Health and including representatives from across 
public and voluntary sector organisations and early 
years settings. The group’s main concern was to better 
understand why there is such disparity in the school 
readiness of children in Gloucestershire and to recommend 
and take action to improve the situation.

To date, the group has been focusing on identifying 
areas of best practice and opportunities to strengthen 
collaboration, developing a shared vision for school 
readiness, and delivering specific areas for improvement. 
This includes work by the Early Years Service to directly 
address areas of concern, such as speech and language 
training for early years settings staff and health visitors.

The latest school readiness data will be available shortly 
after this report is published. Early indications are that 
there has been a small improvement. This is encouraging 
but the problem is not yet solved and the group will 
continue to work together to deliver improvements to early 
outcomes for young children in Gloucestershire.

SCHOOL AND YOUTH

According to data published by Public Health England, 
young people in Gloucestershire and in the six districts 
perform either better or statistically similar to England in 
terms of their academic achievement, measured by their 
average Attainment 8 score6 at the age of 15 or 16. 

However, as we see across this report, there is inequality 
within this broad indicator. The Social Mobility Index 
shows that Gloucester City ranks as 311th out of 324 
local authorities for the average Attainment 8 score for 
young people who are eligible for free school meals (used 
to represent socio-economic disadvantage). So young 
people in Gloucester who are more deprived are not 
achieving grades as high as those living in deprivation 
elsewhere in England.

The index also shows that the young people eligible for 
free school meals at age 15 are less likely to go on to 
enter higher education by the age of 19 than those in 
other parts of England, with Gloucestershire ranked 275th 
in the country. 

Locally, partners have begun to examine Gloucestershire’s 
social mobility indicators and to recommend and take action. 
Closing the inequality gap in achievement at school 
and enabling everyone to reach their potential should 
be a priority.

Figure 5. School readiness at age five in Gloucestershire by Indices of Multiple 
Deprivation (2015) deprivation decile (Source: Public Health England)

PERCENTAGE OF CHILDREN 
REACHING EARLY YEARS  
DEVELOPMENT LEVELS

6Attainment 8 measures the average achievement of pupils in up 
to 8 qualifications at GCSE level (age 15/16). For a full definition, 
see https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-
metric=6014&mod-area=E92000001&mod-group=AllRegions_
England&mod-type=namedComparisonGroup

2.1

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

F
IG

U
R

E
 5

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19 12

DRIVING SOCIAL MOBILITY TO DELIVER INCLUSIVE GROWTH

P
age 76

https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=6014&mod-area=E92000001&mod-group=AllRe
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=6014&mod-area=E92000001&mod-group=AllRe
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=6014&mod-area=E92000001&mod-group=AllRe


Cheltenham Borough Homes provides social 
housing in some of the most deprived wards in 
the county.

In these wards, children experience poverty that can 
create long-term disadvantages – including lower 
academic achievements.

In 2017, a school contacted Cheltenham Borough Homes 
looking for long-term work experience for students who 
were struggling within the traditional classroom setting and 
at risk of exclusion. To meet this need, Cheltenham Borough 
Homes’ Employment Initiatives Service created Thrive, an 
innovative alternative provision programme aimed at young 
people providing support to stay in education.

CHELTENHAM  
BOROUGH HOMES  
CREATING  
OPPORTUNITIES  
TO THRIVE

This year the six month programme ran with pupils from All 
Saints Academy and Pittville School where they completed 
a range of activities and work placements specially designed 
for them to achieve their Careers and Experiencing Work 
Certificate. The young people attend Thrive every Friday 
instead of their schools, with the first six weeks of the 
programme covering a variety of topics including first aid, 
employability skills, future planning and budgeting.

Cheltenham Borough Homes used their relationships with 
local suppliers including Cheltenham Flooring, Liberty Gas, 
Ian Williams and Travis Perkins to offer work placements. 
Travis Perkins also gave funding to the course, enabling 
Cheltenham Borough Homes to provide bus passes, 
breakfast and lunch at each session, and personal 
protective equipment for each student to use on their 
placements. This fund enabled Cheltenham Borough 
Homes to celebrate the students’ achievements by hosting 
a graduation event that was attended by their families and 
our partners. 

The placements provide valuable experience and first hand 
insight into what jobs are available and what they involve 
– inspiring the young people to look at their career options 
when leaving school.

To date, the programme has supported 13 young 
people, with participants going on to further education, 
apprenticeships and full-time employment. None of the 
young people at risk of exclusion at the beginning of the 
programme have been excluded from school. 

Cheltenham Borough Homes is now looking to build on the 
positive relationships they have created with partners to 
help young people to thrive.

WORKING LIVES

Overall, Gloucestershire and the districts  
perform reasonably well across the Working Lives 
indicators, with the only indicator ranking in the 
bottom 20% nationally for housing affordability in 
Cotswold district (see next chapter). The Forest  
of Dean is ranked 222nd of 324 areas in this 
category, including:

 - Median weekly salary (also a concern in 
Gloucester and Cotswold)

 - Percentage of people in managerial and 
professional jobs (also a concern in Gloucester)

 - Percentage of jobs paid less than the locally 
applicable living wage

An earlier chapter of this report covered 
Gloucestershire’s employment data and the 
variation between different areas of the county and 
amongst different groups of people. It also touched 
on differences in income, particularly by sector. 

The Inclusive Growth Commission (2017) emphasises 
the need to be assisting those outside of the 
labour market into work and giving in-work training 
and development opportunities to those who are 
employed in lower skilled and lower paid jobs.

Social mobility – our development in early years, 
our achievement at school and movement to 
post 16 options, and our job and progression 
opportunities – is a key factor in delivering inclusive 
growth at a county scale.

The rest of my report considers some of the ways 
to achieve this, including local infrastructure, 
workplaces and partner organisations.

CASE 
STUDY

13
young people to date have 
been supported by the 
Thrive programme

2.1

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19 13

DRIVING SOCIAL MOBILITY TO DELIVER INCLUSIVE GROWTH

P
age 77



GLOUCESTER SERVICES AND  
GLOUCESTERSHIRE GATEWAY TRUST

Gloucester Services – run by Westmorland – is 
a multi-award winning business, which has put 
local employment and community partnerships  
at its heart. 

It works in partnership with Gloucestershire Gateway Trust, 
a local community development and regeneration charity.

Since opening in 2014, over 400 people are now employed 
at Gloucester Services, with over 80 people employed 
from Gloucestershire Gateway Trust’s target communities: 
Matson, Robinswood, Podsmead, Tuffley, Stonehouse and 
the GL10 area. 

In addition, Gloucestershire Gateway Trust receives 
up to 3p in every £1 of non-fuel sales from Gloucester 
Services to invest in local communities. As a result, nine of 
Gloucestershire Gateway Trust’s community partners are 
now receiving grant funding of £20,000 each per annum, 
committed for five years. Between them these partners 
champion children’s play, support local wildlife, offer advice, 
run community groups, and support people with addictions. 

This income also enables Gloucestershire Gateway Trust 
to support local communities through other initiatives. This 
has included working with local residents’ associations to 
open community hubs in Matson and Stonehouse which 
provide access to information on employment and training, 
and spaces for people to meet and talk. 

The increased footprint of Gloucestershire Gateway Trust 
has also enabled it to help to bring together a group of 
over 40 community focused organisations, alongside 

the lead organisation Gloucestershire County Council, 
which together secured a further £6 million to engage and 
support individuals across Gloucestershire facing barriers 
to work and move them closer towards education, training, 
volunteering or work through the Going the Extra Mile 
(GEM) project.

In Gloucester Services, Gloucestershire Gateway Trust 
and the Westmorland family have together created a 
unique model of social investment that shows people and 
communities of all shapes and sizes can create something 
of scale that has a lasting positive impact. 

80people
employed

from Gloucestershire 
Gateway Trust’s target 
communities

400
people now employed  
at Gloucester Services

CASE 
STUDY

2.1

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19 14

DRIVING SOCIAL MOBILITY TO DELIVER INCLUSIVE GROWTH

P
age 78



Planning policies and decisions 
should help create the conditions 
in which businesses can invest, 
expand and adapt. Significant 
weight should be placed on 
the need to support economic 
growth and productivity… 
Planning policies and decisions 
should aim to achieve healthy, 
inclusive and safe places which… 
promote social interaction… are 
safe and accessible… and enable 
and support healthy lifestyles.

National Planning Policy Framework, 
2019

Successful inclusive economic growth requires the 
alignment of local planning policy, making sure that 
essential transport, housing, employment, land, 
and digital infrastructure is in place to support a 
thriving economy that benefits all.

So how can we ensure that spatial planning7  strategies 
specifically support social mobility and inclusive growth in 
Gloucestershire?

There is a long established link between planning and health. 
The Town & Country Planning Association (2012) argues that 
“improved planning and better housing provision have long 
been identified as pre-conditions for enhancing the health 
of individuals and the communities in which they live.” This 
can refer to a relatively broad range of factors, including the 
availability, affordability, quality, and design of housing, active 
and sustainable travel options, green infrastructure, safe and 
accessible community spaces, access to affordable local 
food, and much more. 

Whilst well-planned places should benefit everyone 
who uses them, Marmot (2010) argues that “there is 
substantial evidence of a social gradient in the quality of 
neighbourhoods. Poorer people are more likely to live in 
more deprived neighbourhoods. The more deprived the 
neighbourhood, the more likely it is to have social and 
environmental characteristics presenting risks to health. 
These include poor housing, higher rates of crime,  
poorer air quality, a lack of green spaces and places  
for children to play and more risks to safety from traffic.” 

Some factors are particularly important to social mobility 
and inclusive growth. The Joseph Rowntree Foundation 
(2019) recommends three infrastructure-related actions to 
maximise inclusive growth:

 - Driving social value8 from infrastructure investment

 - Acknowledging the need to increase the  
supply of low-cost rented housing

 - Treating investment in public  
bus provision as equal to  
road and rail

CREATING PLACES THAT  
ENABLE INCLUSIVE GROWTH

CONTRIBUTING TO: INFRASTRUCTURE  |  PLACE

8Social value serves as 
an umbrella term for the 
wider economic, social and 
environmental effects of an 
organisation’s actions.

2.2

7Spatial planning is sometimes used instead of ‘town planning’ 
or ‘land use planning’ and, in this document, refers to policy, 
strategy and activity to develop places and communities 
through the physical built and natural environment and local 
infrastructure, such as transport and broadband.

15REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

CREATING PLACES THAT ENABLE INCLUSIVE GROWTH

P
age 79



HOUSING

The former chairman of the Social Mobility Commission 
stated that “the UK housing market is exacerbating 
inequality and impeding social mobility” (LSE, 2017). 

This challenge can be seen in Gloucestershire. The Social 
Mobility Index (Appendix 2) shows that Cotswold district is 
ranked 292nd of 324 areas for housing affordability (average 
house prices compared to the median annual salary of 
employees who live in the local area). 

Housing affordability – including in the rental market – 
is a challenge not only for those working in lower paid 
sectors but also for young people, starting off in their 
careers. Gloucestershire’s 2050 Vision seeks to create a 
magnet county, one that attracts young people to stay or 
to move here and contribute to the local economy, but 
Gloucestershire will not be attractive to young people if they 
cannot afford to live here.

Acknowledging the supply of housing as important 
is a key step in aligning plans and strategies that will 
enable social mobility and inclusive growth, as well 
as those to increase productivity through a thriving 
workforce. As such, housing partners should be around 
the table in any discussions to move this agenda on.

PUBLIC TRANSPORT

The same can be said for those planning and delivering 
public transport infrastructure, for example through the 
county’s Local Transport Plan. Public transport plays a 
critical role in enabling people to access education, 
training, and employment opportunities, particularly 
from areas where car ownership is lower. 

In Gloucestershire, 40,000 households (17%) do not have 
access to a car or van (2011 Census). This increases to 
up to 40% of households in wards such as Barton and 
Tredworth and Westgate in Gloucester, and St Paul’s and 
Oakley in Cheltenham. This may in part be because they are 
central to urban areas and currently served by bus services. 
However, these areas are also amongst the most deprived 
in the county, with residents more likely to experience 
inequality and to be most in need of support to access 
training and employment opportunities.

Access to public transport options that are affordable and 
fit for purpose is also an issue in rural parts of the county, 
where we see social mobility challenges. The County All-
Party Parliamentary Group report on social mobility (2018) 
supports the argument that accessibility and particularly 
public transport are key factors affecting social mobility in 
rural shire counties:

“This limit on accessibility is impacting on choices for work, 
training and education, particularly for young people, in 
turn impacting on social mobility in the longer term… But 
transport can also have an immediate impact on those 
already in the labour market, limiting access to childcare, 
better employment or training opportunities.”

It argues that broadband infrastructure is also important, 
supporting greater choice, flexibility and accessibility in 
education, training and employment.

PLANNING

Recent work by Gloucestershire’s Public Health team to 
bring together planning and health provides an opportunity 
to consider the impact of spatial planning on health in 
its widest sense. Work is already underway to build the 
evidence base for robust health policies in local plans, and 
to develop a health impact assessment toolkit to maximise 
opportunities for health and wellbeing in planning policy and 
development. This must be a partnership effort, bringing 
together housing, transport and health with others to plan 
and deliver healthy and inclusive places.

This work considers health and wellbeing in its broadest 
sense but there is an opportunity to focus efforts where the 
greatest impact on inclusive growth and health inequalities 
could be achieved. 

It includes:

 - Encouraging planning authorities to create ambitious 
planning policy frameworks and health impact assessment 
tools for the design of homes and neighbourhoods

 - Supporting and training planners and planning 
committees across the county to recognise and expect 
design that promotes wellbeing and health

 - Identifying and showcasing beacon developments across 
the county in order to create a shift in expectations with 
residents, planning authorities and developers

 - Making sure that planning specifically enables inclusive 
growth to address health inequalities, e.g. by addressing 
the difference between income and house prices or rent 

This work will continue to encourage the shaping of places 
that enable and support the delivery of inclusive growth.

17%
do not have access to a car 
or van (40,000 households)

2050
Vision is to create a  
magnet county

2.2

16REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

CREATING PLACES THAT ENABLE INCLUSIVE GROWTH

P
age 80



PROMOTING ‘GOOD  
WORK’ FOR ALL2.3

Our workplace can have an 
impact – positive or negative 
– on our physical and mental 
health and wellbeing. 

Public Health England (PHE) reports 
that a good working environment 
is good for health, and that a bad 
working environment may contribute 
to poor health (PHE, 2016). 

Public Health England also argues 
that lower skilled workers and those 
with fewer qualifications are more 
likely to experience poor working 
conditions, as well as worse health 
(Figure 6). This is a similar pattern 
of inequality that we have seen 
throughout this report.

But the working environment is also 
an important factor in economic 
prosperity. The Taylor Review of 
Modern Working Practices (2017) 

Jobs need to be 
sustainable and offer 
a minimum level of 
quality, to include 
not only a decent 
living wage, but also 
opportunities for in-
work development, 
the flexibility to enable 
people to balance work 
and family life, and 
protection from adverse 
working conditions that 
can damage health.

SIR MICHAEL MARMOT

Fair Society, Healthy Lives, 2010

CONTRIBUTING TO: BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT  |  PEOPLE

FIGURE 6

argues that “better designed 
work that gets the best out of 
people can make an important 
contribution to tackling our 
complex challenge of low 
productivity.” PHE (2016) argues 
that healthier, active and engaged 
employees are more productive 
and have lower levels of sickness 
absence and presenteeism (attending 
work when ill). 

In Gloucestershire, nearly 2% of 
employees have had a day off sick 
in the last week and 1% of working 
days are lost to sickness absence. 
The costs of presenteeism alone 
nationally are estimated to be £30bn 
annually due to lower productivity, 
for example (PHE, 2016). PHE states 
that this presents a strong business 
case to take action, as well as a 
public health one.

Figure 6. Long-term conditions 
in unskilled and professional 
occupations (PHE, 2016)

SKILLED & 
UNSKILLED  
OCCUPATIONS

Employees from 

unskilled 
occupations  
(52%)
experience long-term  
conditions ...

... more than groups from

professional 
occupations  
(33%) 

17REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

PROMOTING ‘GOOD WORK’ FOR ALL

P
age 81



STAGECOACH WEST AND J D NORMAN 
WORKING FOR A HEALTHY GLOUCESTERSHIRE

As with many aspects of this report, what’s good 
for health is good for business.

There has been a lot of work in Gloucestershire over 
the last couple of years to encourage businesses, 
large and small, to improve the health and wellbeing of 
their employees. Workplaces have improved policies, 
practices and the working environment across a 
range of areas, including mental health and wellbeing, 
physical activity, and nutrition. 

During 2016/17, the Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG), in partnership with 
Public Health, worked with health@work to take local 
employers through a Workplace Wellbeing Charter 
accreditation scheme. 

A total of 40 Gloucestershire employers were 
accredited, with a workforce of over 18,000 people. 
92% of those accredited made a measurable 
improvement on their initial benchmark, with over 90% 
of employees surveyed reporting they had noticed 
recent changes in health and wellbeing provision in their 
workplace. 79% of employees surveyed reported they 
already had or would be likely to make future lifestyle 
changes as a result of the support they had received 
through the workplace.

Work is now underway to build on the success of this 
programme and to continue to promote and support 
healthy workplaces in Gloucestershire. 

One workplace that has worked to develop a culture that 
encourages employee wellbeing is Stagecoach West, 
which has depots in Gloucester, Cheltenham and Stroud. 
Stagecoach recognised a concern that sickness and turnover 
levels were slowly increasing. They consulted their staff, who 
told them that by hearing their views, supporting them and 
taking more interest in their health and wellbeing the company 
would become much more of an employer of choice. So they 
set about addressing health and wellbeing through:

 - Visible buy in from leaders: signing up to Time to Talk 
and communicating leaders’ commitment to staff health 
and wellbeing; resourcing a Wellbeing Leader and fully 
trained Wellbeing Champions.

 - Training for champions and managers: including 
mental health, how to have effective conversations, and 
even blood pressure readings.

 - Wellbeing vision: shared from day one of employment, 
promising to give support, provide an open door policy, 
prioritise and nurture personal development, and create 
social activity.

 - Expert support for staff: access free of charge to 
a nurse to give health MOTs, financial and mortgage 
advisors, and experts in fitness, smoking cessation 
and alcohol dependence, referring to Healthy Lifestyles 
Gloucestershire when needed.

 - Staff performance and Wellness Action Plans: 
managers can include Wellbeing Champions in early 

conversations with employees to understand what may 
be affecting their performance. Champions support 
with Wellness Action Plans (WAPs), designed to get the 
employee back on the road to recovery, without needing 
disciplinary action in the first instance. WAPs are also 
mandatory for anyone in a management role and optional 
for anyone else who might benefit.

 - Depot campaigns and engagement: Time to Talk 
sessions, healthy eating roadshows, and links to national 
campaigns, particularly those affecting men. Senior 
leaders are also more engaged, e.g. giving out healthy 
breakfast items at 4am or at lunchtime in canteens, with 
directors finding out how things are going for staff.

Another Gloucestershire workplace, J D Norman Industries 
in Lydney, has also benefitted from a focus on the health and 
wellbeing of their workforce, which is largely made up of older 
male employees working in heavy manufacturing. 

Traditionally, the company reported a lack of engagement 
from staff in health and wellbeing but, with support from 
human resources and occupational health, they have 
successfully reached more employees and encouraged them 
to get more involved. 

This has resulted in increased health awareness and  
made team members more mindful of their own wellbeing,  
leading to a downturn in sickness absence and a positive 
impact on profitability. The early intervention strategies have 
improved employee health, and led to effective return to  
work programmes.

CASE 
STUDY2.3

90%
noticed changes in 
health and wellbeing 
in their workplace

76%
would be likely 
to make future 
lifestyle changes

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19 18

PROMOTING ‘GOOD WORK’ FOR ALL

P
age 82



But ‘good work’ is about more than just a healthy 
workplace. The Joseph Rowntree Foundation 
(2015) refers to studies that define ‘good work’ as 
being “safe, fair, secure, fulfilling, supportive and 
accommodating” and the Taylor Review outlines six  
high level indicators of good quality work:

Businesses that have diverse, inclusive workplaces 
recognise this brings improved productivity. For example, 
offering flexible working can enable employers to reach 
a wider talent pool, both male and female, including 
returners, older workers and people with disabilities. 
Creating a workplace which is truly flexible can  
improve productivity. 

HM Government’s UK Industrial Strategy, 2017

Locally, partners seeking to increase productivity and grow a 
thriving economy are developing plans to make workplaces in 
Gloucestershire more flexible, including through the emerging 
Local Industrial Strategy.

This approach will be a key element of the strategy set out 
in Gloucestershire’s 2050 Vision and the emerging Local 
Industrial Strategy to attract and retain younger workers 
as well as to realise the untapped potential of an ageing 
workforce. It should also contribute to healthier workplaces. 
But only if greater flexibility is offered alongside other 
aspects of ‘good work’ as part of permanent, secure and 
fulfilling employment.

A study commissioned by Public Health England (IPPR, 2017) 
found that although flexibility, adaptability, responsiveness, and 
an ability to deal with uncertainty are the keys to being able to 
thrive within today’s labour market, temporary contracts, zero 
hour contracts, job insecurity and low pay are all associated 
with poorer mental health amongst younger workers.

Flexibility can be an asset that attracts and retains a 
diverse workforce and contributes to productivity and 
business competitiveness, but it can also present a 
risk to health and wellbeing if not carefully planned 
and managed.

Another significant challenge will be to make sure that ‘good 
work’ can be enjoyed by all, not just those working in certain 
sectors. It is likely that flexibility will be more easily achieved 
in some sectors than in others. Poorer working conditions 
and health outcomes are experienced by those in lower 
paid jobs. So if we are to tackle inequalities through the 
workplace, we must think about how flexibility – and other 
features of ‘good work’ – can be achieved across business 
sectors, wherever possible.

The next chapter considers how the health, care and public 
sectors, in particular, can do their bit.

1 WAGES

2 EMPLOYMENT QUALITY

3 EDUCATION & TRAINING

4 WOR K ING CONDI T IONS

5 WOR K-L IFE BA L A NCE

6 CONSU LTAT I V E PA RT ICIPAT ION 
& COL L ECT I V E R EPR ESEN TAT ION

2.3

19REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

PROMOTING ‘GOOD WORK’ FOR ALL

P
age 83



HEALTH, CARE AND THE  
PUBLIC SECTOR AS INCLUSIVE 
GROWTH PARTNERS

2.4

In our efforts to drive 
inclusive growth, there is 
considerable opportunity to 
realise the untapped potential 
benefits of the spending and 
employment power of local 
anchor institutions, such as 
local authorities, educational 
establishments and the NHS. 

These organisations are a form of 
‘sticky capital’ as they are unlikely 
to close down and leave an area. 
A Joseph Rowntree Foundation 
report (2017) found that if ten anchor 
institutions in the Leeds City Region 
shifted an additional 10% of their 
total budget to spend locally, it could 
drive an additional £168 to £196 
million into the local economy.

In Gloucestershire, around 74,000 
people were working in the Health 
and Care and Public Sectors 
in 2015, making up just over a 
quarter of the local workforce 
(GCC, 2015). Organisations such 
as Gloucestershire County Council, 
NHS trusts, GCHQ, the University 

of Gloucestershire and others have 
a significant opportunity to lead by 
example as key partners in delivering 
inclusive growth.

The Joseph Rowntree Trust study of 
anchor institutions in Leeds (2017) 
identifies several opportunities to 
maximise this potential by:

 - Shifting just 5 to 10% of their  
current spend to competitive 
suppliers in the region

 - Truly embedding social value into 
criteria for choosing suppliers

 - Raising demand for 
apprenticeships by securing one 
apprenticeship for every £1 million 
they spend

 - Sending collective market signals 
relating to the importance of 
employment practices that provide 
‘good work’

 - Collaborating with local suppliers 
to build their capacity to bid for 
public procurement opportunities.

As leaders of place, 
councils fully recognise 
the fundamental 
importance of local 
collaboration between 
local government, 
business, the NHS and 
higher education –  
we are stronger and  
more effective when we 
work together.

CLLR MARK HAWTHORNE

Leader of Gloucestershire County 
Council and Chairman of the Local 
Government Association People & 
Places Board (NHS Confederation, 
2019)

CONTRIBUTING TO: PLACE  |  PEOPLE

20REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

HEALTH, CARE AND THE PUBLIC SECTOR AS INCLUSIVE GROWTH PARTNERS

P
age 84



GROWING THE RIGHT 
SKILLS FOR OUR 
HEALTH AND CARE 
WORKFORCE  
OF THE FUTURE

60
students will qualify 
in the summer 2020

A recent briefing note by the NHS Confederation 
(2019) identifies the benefits for the health and care 
system from contributing to Local Industrial Strategies 
and, specifically, inclusive growth, including:

 - Addressing the future workforce in the context of 
an ageing population

 - Adopting and scaling health innovations into 
practice

 - Developing an estate fit for the 21st century

 - Pooling investment

 - Increasing wellbeing

 - Managing demand for services

Many of these benefits are relevant to other anchor 
institutions and local organisations, not just health 
and care.

It is clear that there are considerable mutual benefits 
and that local health, care and public sector 
organisations have a key role to play in promoting 
and supporting inclusive growth in Gloucestershire. 
In particular, the developing Integrated Care 
System (ICS) in the county provides an exciting 
opportunity to collaborate across health and 
care to achieve economic growth that can be 
enjoyed by all.

2.4

Development of a sustainable health 
and care workforce is a key priority for 
Gloucestershire’s Integrated Care System 
(ICS).

The Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), 
with the county’s three NHS trusts – Gloucestershire 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, 2gether NHS Foundation 
Trust and Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust – 
identified a local and national shortage in the workforce 
required to meet the county’s health and care needs.

Working in collaboration with the University of 
Gloucestershire, they founded a new adult nursing 
degree, with the first cohort enrolling on the general 
nursing degree from September 2017. 60 students will 
qualify in the summer of 2020, having had hands-on 
experience in a wide range of settings, including the 
acute hospitals and mental health services. This year, the 
undergraduate nursing programmes are expected to have 
filled all of their places, with the mental health programme 
being oversubscribed and capacity increased.

Gloucestershire is also one of 24 national test sites 
delivering training for a new nursing associate role, which 
sits alongside existing nursing care support workers and 
fully-qualified registered nurses to deliver hands-on care 
for patients.

The first registered nursing associates (RNAs) qualified in 
2019, with 30 new RNAs already working on wards and 
in community settings across the county’s three NHS 
trusts. These are beginning to meet what is foreseen by 
many as significant future demand for this role.

Health is the biggest employer in Gloucestershire and 
these courses will provide the right skills for local people 
to have lifetime careers in the sector, attracting and 
retaining a growing workforce for the future. 

The registered nursing associates are 
already making a difference to patient 
care and multi-disciplinary team 
working since joining our teams in 
May. We need more of them!

SUSAN FIELD

Director of Nursing at Gloucestershire 
Care Services NHS Trust

CASE 
STUDY

74,000
people were working in Health, Care 
and Public Sectors in 2015

1OF24
national test sites delivering training

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19 21

HEALTH, CARE AND THE PUBLIC SECTOR AS INCLUSIVE GROWTH PARTNERS

P
age 85



RECOMMENDATIONS
My report sets out the challenges and opportunities of driving inclusive growth to tackle health 
inequalities and increase productivity. No one business or organisation can do this alone.

I make the following recommendations to partners across the system in order to deliver on the ambitions set out in this report.

1
The Health and Wellbeing Board should set out 
its position on inclusive economic growth and its 
benefits to health (and vice versa) and seek to 
influence and align its strategy and actions wherever 
possible with those of economic development 
partners, particularly GFirst Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP).

GFirst LEP, in the development of the Local 
Industrial Strategy and other key strategies and 
plans, consider the recommendations of this report 
and set out its plans to ensure that everyone in 
Gloucestershire can contribute to and benefit from 
local growth. Representation by GFirst LEP on the 
Health and Wellbeing Board would support this.

GFirst LEP and the Employment and Skills Board 
should consider their role in tackling social mobility 
and promoting inclusive growth.

Key partner organisations should cooperate to 
undertake a ‘deep dive’ of Gloucestershire’s social 
mobility indicators, to better understand areas 
for focus and trends of concern and agree a joint 
approach to increasing social mobility. In the 
meantime, partners should continue to focus efforts 
around school readiness to maintain the early 
improvements being seen.

Public Health and Local Planning Authorities should 
continue to work together with other partners 
in housing, transport and other infrastructure 
specialists to maximise opportunities to build 
healthy communities with a thriving and inclusive 
economy. This should make sure that there is 
a strong understanding of inequalities amongst 
planners and other partners, and that actions taken 
to create healthy places benefit people from all 
socio-economic backgrounds.

Businesses and public sector partners should 
consider how ‘good work’ in Gloucestershire could 
be measured and encouraged amongst local 
employers. Plans to improve the flexibility of the 
workplace should seek to make sure that this is 
available to all, wherever possible.

Local anchor institutions should consider how 
they can lead by example in delivering inclusive 
growth through their employment and spending 
power. There may be an opportunity for the One 
Gloucestershire Integrated Care System (ICS) to 
play a key role in this at a local level.

2

5

6

7

3

4

03

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

RECOMMENDATIONS

22

P
age 86



APPENDIX 1

This report focuses on just one topic, albeit one that is complex. 
However, it is important to consider the overall health and wellbeing of 
the Gloucestershire population, which we can best summarise through a 
balanced dashboard of population health indicators.

Here, you can see the Local Authority Health Profile for Gloucestershire 
published by Public Health England on an annual basis. This shows 
a broadly healthy population, in line with or better than national rates 
across most indicators. However, profiles are also available at district 
level and these show greater variation. 

Much more information on the health and wellbeing of Gloucestershire 
residents can be found in the comprehensive Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment, which is available on the Inform Gloucestershire 
website: https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/understanding-
gloucestershire-a-joint-strategic-needs-assessment-jsna

Over the next year, we will be developing a population health dashboard 
for the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board and Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. Future annual reports will review this dashboard.

GLOUCESTERSHIRE’S POPULATION  
HEALTH INDICATORS

Health summary for Gloucestershire

The chart below shows how the health of people in this area compares with the rest of England. This area’s value for each
indicator is shown as a circle. The England average is shown by the red line, which is always at the centre of the chart. The
range of results for all local areas in England is shown as a grey bar. A red circle means that this area is significantly worse
than England for that indicator. However, a green circle may still indicate an important public health problem.

83.774.2
86.879.4
237.8545.7
45.6141.3

100.0195.3
6.118.3

79.5
83.1

333.8
73.5

136.8
9.9

80.0
83.6
301.4
63.6
123.6
10.8

n a
n a

5,220
1,104
2,154

176

2014 − 16
2014 − 16
2014 − 16
2014 − 16
2014 − 16
2014 − 16

1 Life expectancy at birth (Male)
2 Life expectancy at birth (Female)
3 Under 75 mortality rate: all causes
4 Under 75 mortality rate: cardiovascular
5 Under 75 mortality rate: cancer
6 Suicide rate

60.044.7
96.354.3
90.853.8

13.571.3
50.6578.9

364.7854.2
52.6
77.1
67.9

39.7
185.3
575.0

50.4
78.4
68.2

40.8
214.3
538.8

1,313
n a

5,823

756
1,287

713
2016
2017
2017

2014 − 16
2016/17
2016/17

10 Cancer diagnosed at early stage
11 Diabetes diagnoses (aged 17+)
12 Dementia diagnoses (aged 65+)

7 Killed and seriously injured on roads
8 Hospital stays for self−harm
9 Hip fractures in older people (aged 65+)

6.5100.0
388.21,151.1
8.123.1
78.053.3
40.574.9

34.2
636.4
14.9
66.0
61.3

38.4
600.4
14.3
69.2
59.8

144
3,784

71,233
n a
n a

2014/15 −
16/17

2016/17
2017

2016/17
2016/17

13 Alcohol−specific hospital stays (under 18s)
14 Alcohol−related harm hospital stays
15 Smoking prevalence in adults (aged 18+)
16 Physically active adults (aged 19+)
17 Excess weight in adults (aged 18+)

4.636.5
2.328.1
96.737.9
1.67.9

11.329.2

18.8
10.7
74.5
3.9
20.0

14.9

8.6^78

*68

3.1
17.1

157
302

2,758
63

1,000

2016
2016/17
2016/17

2014 − 16
2016/17

18 Under 18 conceptions
19 Smoking status at time of delivery
20 Breastfeeding initiation
21 Infant mortality rate
22 Obese children (aged 10−11)

5.742.0
13.938.9

21.8
25.7

15.0
27.8

n a
n a

2015
2017

23 Deprivation score (IMD 2015)
24 Smoking prevalence: routine and manual
     occupations

6.130.5
74.644.8
82.460.9
0.09.6
7.042.2

16.8
57.8
74.4
0.8
20.0

12.4
61.4
80.8

0.4^86

11.0

13,080
3,711

303,900
110

6,810

2015
2015/16
2016/17
2016/17
2016/17

25 Children in low income families (under 16s)
26 GCSEs achieved
27 Employment rate (aged 16−64)
28 Statutory homelessness
29 Violent crime (violence offences)

7.428.9
329.43,215.3
1.369.0

17.9
793.8
10.9

16.4
514.5

3.8

938
2,000

71

Aug 2013 −
Jul 2016

2017
2014 − 16

30 Excess winter deaths
31 New sexually transmitted infections
32 New cases of tuberculosis

Li
fe

 e
xp

ec
ta

nc
y

an
d 

ca
us

es
of

 d
ea

th
In

ju
rie

s 
an

d
ill

 h
ea

lth
B

eh
av

io
ur

al
 ri

sk
fa

ct
or

s
C

hi
ld

he
al

th
In
eq
ua
−

lit
ie

s
W

id
er

de
te

rm
in

an
ts

of
 h

ea
lth

H
ea

lth
pr

ot
ec

tio
n

Indicator names Period
Local
count

Local
value

Eng
value

Eng
worst

Eng
best

For full details on each indicator, see the definitions tab of the Health Profiles online tool: www.healthprofiles.info

Indicator value types
1, 2 Life expectancy - Years 3, 4, 5 Directly age-standardised rate per 100,000 population aged under 75 6 Directly age-standardised rate per 100,000 population aged 10 and over 7 Crude rate per 100,000
population 8 Directly age-standardised rate per 100,000 population 9 Directly age-standardised rate per 100,000 population aged 65 and over 10 Proportion - % of cancers diagnosed at stage 1 or 2 11
Proportion - % recorded diagnosis of diabetes as a proportion of the estimated number with diabetes 12 Proportion - % recorded diagnosis of dementia as a proportion of the estimated number with dementia
13 Crude rate per 100,000 population aged under 18 14 Directly age-standardised rate per 100,000 population 15, 16, 17 Proportion - % 18 Crude rate per 1,000 females aged 15 to 17 19, 20 Proportion
- % 21 Crude rate per 1,000 live births 22 Proportion - % 23 Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 2015 score 24, 25 Proportion - % 26 Proportion - % 5 A*-C including English & Maths 27 Proportion - % 28
Crude rate per 1,000 households 29 Crude rate per 1,000 population 30 Ratio of excess winter deaths to average of non-winter deaths (%) 31 Crude rate per 100,000 population aged 15 to 64 (excluding
Chlamydia) 32 Crude rate per 100,000 population

€“Regional” refers to the former government regions.
*68 Value not published for data quality reasons ^78 There is a data quality issue with this value ^86 Aggregated from all known lower geography values

If 25% or more of areas have no data then the England range is not displayed. Please send any enquiries to healthprofiles@phe.gov.uk

Youmay re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of theOpenGovernment Licence. To view this licence, visit www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-
government-licence/version/3

© Crown Copyright 2018 4 Gloucestershire - 3 July 2018

HEALTH SUMMARY FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE

The chart on the right shows how the health of people in this area 
compares with the rest of England. This area’s value for each indicator is 
shown as a circle. The England average is shown by the red line, which 
is always at the centre of the chart. The range of results for all local areas 
in England is shown as a grey bar. A red circle means that this area is 
significantly worse than England for that indicator. However, a green 
circle may still indicate an important public health problem.

Health summary for Gloucestershire

The chart below shows how the health of people in this area compares with the rest of England. This area’s value for each
indicator is shown as a circle. The England average is shown by the red line, which is always at the centre of the chart. The
range of results for all local areas in England is shown as a grey bar. A red circle means that this area is significantly worse
than England for that indicator. However, a green circle may still indicate an important public health problem.

83.774.2
86.879.4
237.8545.7
45.6141.3

100.0195.3
6.118.3

79.5
83.1

333.8
73.5

136.8
9.9

80.0
83.6
301.4
63.6
123.6
10.8

n a
n a

5,220
1,104
2,154

176

2014 − 16
2014 − 16
2014 − 16
2014 − 16
2014 − 16
2014 − 16

1 Life expectancy at birth (Male)
2 Life expectancy at birth (Female)
3 Under 75 mortality rate: all causes
4 Under 75 mortality rate: cardiovascular
5 Under 75 mortality rate: cancer
6 Suicide rate

60.044.7
96.354.3
90.853.8

13.571.3
50.6578.9

364.7854.2
52.6
77.1
67.9

39.7
185.3
575.0

50.4
78.4
68.2

40.8
214.3
538.8

1,313
n a

5,823

756
1,287

713
2016
2017
2017

2014 − 16
2016/17
2016/17

10 Cancer diagnosed at early stage
11 Diabetes diagnoses (aged 17+)
12 Dementia diagnoses (aged 65+)

7 Killed and seriously injured on roads
8 Hospital stays for self−harm
9 Hip fractures in older people (aged 65+)

6.5100.0
388.21,151.1
8.123.1
78.053.3
40.574.9

34.2
636.4
14.9
66.0
61.3

38.4
600.4
14.3
69.2
59.8

144
3,784

71,233
n a
n a

2014/15 −
16/17

2016/17
2017

2016/17
2016/17

13 Alcohol−specific hospital stays (under 18s)
14 Alcohol−related harm hospital stays
15 Smoking prevalence in adults (aged 18+)
16 Physically active adults (aged 19+)
17 Excess weight in adults (aged 18+)

4.636.5
2.328.1
96.737.9
1.67.9

11.329.2

18.8
10.7
74.5
3.9
20.0

14.9

8.6^78

*68

3.1
17.1

157
302

2,758
63

1,000

2016
2016/17
2016/17

2014 − 16
2016/17

18 Under 18 conceptions
19 Smoking status at time of delivery
20 Breastfeeding initiation
21 Infant mortality rate
22 Obese children (aged 10−11)

5.742.0
13.938.9

21.8
25.7

15.0
27.8

n a
n a

2015
2017

23 Deprivation score (IMD 2015)
24 Smoking prevalence: routine and manual
     occupations

6.130.5
74.644.8
82.460.9
0.09.6
7.042.2

16.8
57.8
74.4
0.8
20.0

12.4
61.4
80.8

0.4^86

11.0

13,080
3,711

303,900
110

6,810

2015
2015/16
2016/17
2016/17
2016/17

25 Children in low income families (under 16s)
26 GCSEs achieved
27 Employment rate (aged 16−64)
28 Statutory homelessness
29 Violent crime (violence offences)

7.428.9
329.43,215.3
1.369.0

17.9
793.8
10.9

16.4
514.5

3.8

938
2,000

71

Aug 2013 −
Jul 2016

2017
2014 − 16

30 Excess winter deaths
31 New sexually transmitted infections
32 New cases of tuberculosis

Li
fe

 e
xp

ec
ta

nc
y

an
d 

ca
us

es
of

 d
ea

th
In

ju
rie

s 
an

d
ill

 h
ea

lth
B

eh
av

io
ur

al
 ri

sk
fa

ct
or

s
C

hi
ld

he
al

th
In
eq
ua
−

lit
ie

s
W

id
er

de
te

rm
in

an
ts

of
 h

ea
lth

H
ea

lth
pr

ot
ec

tio
n

Indicator names Period
Local
count

Local
value

Eng
value

Eng
worst

Eng
best

For full details on each indicator, see the definitions tab of the Health Profiles online tool: www.healthprofiles.info

Indicator value types
1, 2 Life expectancy - Years 3, 4, 5 Directly age-standardised rate per 100,000 population aged under 75 6 Directly age-standardised rate per 100,000 population aged 10 and over 7 Crude rate per 100,000
population 8 Directly age-standardised rate per 100,000 population 9 Directly age-standardised rate per 100,000 population aged 65 and over 10 Proportion - % of cancers diagnosed at stage 1 or 2 11
Proportion - % recorded diagnosis of diabetes as a proportion of the estimated number with diabetes 12 Proportion - % recorded diagnosis of dementia as a proportion of the estimated number with dementia
13 Crude rate per 100,000 population aged under 18 14 Directly age-standardised rate per 100,000 population 15, 16, 17 Proportion - % 18 Crude rate per 1,000 females aged 15 to 17 19, 20 Proportion
- % 21 Crude rate per 1,000 live births 22 Proportion - % 23 Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 2015 score 24, 25 Proportion - % 26 Proportion - % 5 A*-C including English & Maths 27 Proportion - % 28
Crude rate per 1,000 households 29 Crude rate per 1,000 population 30 Ratio of excess winter deaths to average of non-winter deaths (%) 31 Crude rate per 100,000 population aged 15 to 64 (excluding
Chlamydia) 32 Crude rate per 100,000 population

€“Regional” refers to the former government regions.
*68 Value not published for data quality reasons ^78 There is a data quality issue with this value ^86 Aggregated from all known lower geography values

If 25% or more of areas have no data then the England range is not displayed. Please send any enquiries to healthprofiles@phe.gov.uk

Youmay re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of theOpenGovernment Licence. To view this licence, visit www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-
government-licence/version/3

© Crown Copyright 2018 4 Gloucestershire - 3 July 2018REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

APPENDIX 1

23

P
age 87

https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/understanding-gloucestershire-a-joint-strategic-needs-assessme
https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/understanding-gloucestershire-a-joint-strategic-needs-assessme


APPENDIX 2
SOCIAL MOBILITY INDEX RANKINGS FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE

E A R LY Y E A R S G C CO FD S T

OV E R A L L R A N K 273 259 268 297 112 274

% of nursery providers rated ‘outstanding’ or ‘good’ by Ofsted 
(based on nursery location) 151 151 151 151 151 151

% of children eligible for free school meals achieving a ‘good level  
of development’ at the end of Early Years Foundation Stage  
(based on residence)

300 278 289 313 136 304

YOU T H G C CO FD S T

OV E R A L L R A N K 300 311 323 252 86 239

% of young people eligible for free school meals that are not in 
education, employment or training (positive destination) after 
completing KS4

227 322 301 251 19 161

Average points score per entry for young people eligible for free  
school meals at age 15 taking A-level or equivalent qualifications 
(based on residence)

254 139 324 105 36 188

% of young people eligible for free school meals at age 15 achieving 
2 or more A-levels or equivalent qualifications by the age of 19  
(based on residence)

302 247 185 243 106 237

% of young people eligible for free school meals at age 15 entering 
higher education by the age of 19 (based on residence) 275 275 275 275 275 275

% of young people eligible for free school meals at age 15 entering 
higher education at a selective university (most selective third by 
UCAS tariff scores) by the age of 19 (based on school location at 15)

230 230 230 230 230 230

WOR K I NG L I V E S G C CO FD S T

OV E R A L L R A N K 126 80 158 222 59 77

Median weekly salary (£) of employees who live in the local area,  
all employees (FT and PT)(based on residence) 204 113 243 250 126 146

Average house prices compared to median annual salary of  
employees who live in the local area (based on residence) 115 70 292 124 193 166

% of people that live in the local area who are in managerial and 
professional occupations (SOC 1 and 2)(based on residence) 222 49 30 238 130 134

% of jobs that are paid less than the applicable Living Wage  
Foundation living wage (based on job location) 58 116 113 242 50 48

% of families with children who own their home (based on residence) 176 158 201 81 44 98

G C CO FD S T

OV E R A L L R A N K 
(1 to 324 where 1 is the best social mobility) 282 225 268 303 43 199

S C HO OL G C CO FD S T

OV E R A L L R A N K 231 101 59 267 53 103

% of children eligible for free school meals attending a primary 
school rated ‘outstanding’ or ‘good’ by Ofsted (school location) 59 23 51 165 39 10

% of children eligible for free school meals attending a secondary 
school rated ‘outstanding’ or ‘good’ by Ofsted (school location) 247 75 54 275 133 147

% of children eligible for free school meals achieving at least the 
expected level in reading, writing and maths at the end of Key  
Stage 2 (based on residence)

154 273 214 241 124 202

Average attainment 8 score for pupils eligible for free school meals  
(based on residence) 311 159 89 235 74 199

K E Y  
G :GLOUCEST ER   |   C :CHELT EN H A M   |   CO:COTS WOL D   |   FD:FOR EST OF DE A N 
S:ST ROU D   |   T:T E W K ESBU RY

K E Y 

Source of 2016 data: www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-mobility-index 
Source: www.gov.uk/governmnet/publications/social-mobility-index-2017-data

HOTSPOT:GOOD SOCI A L MOBIL I T Y

COLDSPOT:P OOR SOCI A L MOBIL I T Y

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

APPENDIX 2

24

P
age 88

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-mobility-index
http://www.gov.uk/governmnet/publications/social-mobility-index-2017-data


APPENDIX 3
PROGRESS UPDATE FROM THE 2017/18 ANNUAL REPORT

Last year, my annual report focused on mental wellbeing 
and highlighted priorities for the future across five areas 
including children and young people’s mental health, self-
harm and suicide, and mental health stigma. Since then, 
progress has been made against many of these priorities.

 - Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
and its partners launched an All Age Mental Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy for Gloucestershire. The vision of the 
strategy is for every resident to enjoy the best possible 
mental health and wellbeing throughout the course of 
their life.

 - Since the launch of the Gloucestershire Wellbeing 
(GloW) pledge in 2018, 39 organisations have signed up. 
(To see which organisations have joined the movement, 
visit www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/glow) Many of 
those who have signed up to the GloW commitment 
form part of the Good Mental Health Group, who work 
collaboratively to make sure that more people living in 
Gloucestershire can have good mental wellbeing.

 - In December, Government announced that 
Gloucestershire was one of only a handful of areas in the 
country to be successful in securing funding as a Mental 
Health Trailblazer site, supporting the implementation of 
four Mental Health Support Teams (MHSTs) in schools. 
Gloucestershire was also selected to trial a four-week 
waiting time for referral to treatment for specialist 
children and young people’s mental health services.

 - We continue to help people to build the Five Ways 
to Wellbeing into their lives, including to help build 
resilience in young people as an essential part of 
our strategy to prevent and mitigate against Adverse 
Childhood Experiences (ACEs).

 - Through our self-harm prevention action plan we have 
created a tool to help professionals discuss self-harm 
with young people and create a prevention and support 
plan. We have a rolling programme of training for front 
line professionals such as school nurses and police 
officers and have improved the guidance available 
to GPs on identifying and managing self-harm. We 
continue to commission the valuable Self-Harm Helpline 
for people who are self-harming, their friends and family 
and professionals.

 - Preventing suicide continues to be a priority for the 
county and we have funded a GP to develop and deliver 
training for practice staff. We have a Communications 
and Engagement Plan to prevent negative media 
reporting and promote sources of support for people 
in distress and a suite of suicide prevention training 
available. This year we will be launching a public 
campaign to promote the life saving Zero Suicide 
Alliance 20 minute training. We are also working with 
Sunflowers Suicide Support to pilot a service for 
children bereaved by suicide. 

 - 267 people have accessed our Mental Health First Aid 
(MHFA) and Applied Suicide Intervention Skills Training 
(ASIST) training in the last year. This includes foster 
carers, who have accessed Mental Health First Aid to 
help them support the young people they care for.

 - Kingfisher Treasure Seekers, Gloucestershire County 
Council and the Gloucestershire Tackling Stigma group 
have recently launched Glos Talks, an exciting new 
countywide campaign to address mental health stigma. 
Glos Talks is spreading a simple message: it is ok to talk 
about mental health!

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

APPENDIX 3

25

P
age 89

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/glow


GLOSSARY
All-Party Parliamentary Group 
All-Party Parliamentary Groups (APPGs) are informal 
cross-party groups run by and for Members of 
the Commons and Lords, though many choose to 
involve individuals and organisations from outside 
Parliament in their administration and activities. 

Anchor institutions 
Anchor institutions are enterprises such as universities 
and hospitals that are rooted in their local communities 
by mission, invested capital or relationships with 
customers, employees, and suppliers.

Core Cities
The Core Cities Group is a self-selected and self-
financed collaborative advocacy group of large 
regional cities in the United Kingdom outside Greater 
London. There are ten cities: Birmingham, Bristol, 
Cardiff, Glasgow, Leeds, Liverpool, Manchester, 
Newcastle, Nottingham and Sheffield.

Early Years 
The Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) sets 
standards for the learning, development and care of 
children from birth to five years old. 

Economic inactivity
A person of working age (16 to 64) is counted as 
economically inactive if they are out of work, they 
have not been actively looking for work in the past 
four weeks, and they are not waiting to start a job. 
People who are caring for their family or retired are 
also counted as economically inactive. A person 
in full-time education is counted as economically 
inactive unless they are either in paid work or looking 
for and available to start work.

Free school meals (FSM) 
Free school meals (FSM) are a crucial entitlement 
for families living in poverty. They help to ensure 
that children from the lowest income families get a 
nutritious meal in the middle of the day.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19 26

GLOSSARY

P
age 90



GLOSSARY

GHWB – Gloucestershire Health  
and Wellbeing Board 
Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board  
brings together elected members, leaders from  
the NHS, social care, police and others to work 
together and support one another to improve the 
health and wellbeing of the local population and 
reduce health inequalities.

Gross value added (GVA) 
Gross value added (GVA) is the measure of the value 
of goods and services produced in an area, industry 
or sector of an economy. In national accounts GVA is 
output minus intermediate consumption.

Integrated care system (ICS)
In an integrated care system, NHS organisations, 
in partnership with local councils and others, take 
collective responsibility for managing resources, 
delivering NHS standards, and improving the health 
and care of the population they serve.

Inclusive growth
Inclusive growth is about enabling more people 
and places to both contribute to and benefit from 
economic success. A policy or strategy that does 
not have a focus on living standards of those at the 
bottom of the income distribution cannot describe 
itself as an inclusive growth strategy.

Living wage
A living wage is the minimum income necessary for a 
person to meet their basic needs, e.g. food, housing 
and clothing, and enjoy a decent standard of living. 
The UK national living wage is £8.21 for people over 
the age of 25. The Real Living Wage Foundation 
argues this should be set higher at £9.00 in the UK 
and £10.55 in London.

Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) 
Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) are voluntary 
partnerships between local authorities and businesses 
set up in 2011 by the Department for Business, 
Innovation and Skills to help determine local economic 
priorities and lead economic growth and job creation 
within the local area. 

Prevalence
Prevalence is the proportion of a population who have a 
specific characteristic in a given time period.

Productivity
Productivity can be described as the effectiveness 
of productive effort as measured in a range of way, 
usually in terms of the rate of output, e.g. a business’s 
product, per unit of input, e.g. working hours.

School readiness
School readiness is a term that can mean different 
things to different people. Many interpret it to mean 
that a child is ready to start the reception class in 
school. However, the more technical definition relates 
to a child being ready to start Key Stage 1 learning, 
i.e. ready to transition from Reception to Year 1 at  
age five.

Social gradient 
The social gradient in heath refers to the fact that 
inequalities in population health status are related to 
inequalities in social status.

Wider determinants
Wider determinants, also known as social determinants, 
are a diverse range of social, economic and environment 
factors which impact on people’s health. 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19 27

GLOSSARY

P
age 91



REFERENCES

County APPG & CCCN (2018) Social Mobility in Counties.  
(Available online via CCN, 2018)

County Councils Network (CCN) (2018) ‘Unfair’ council funding holding back social mobility 
in rural counties, MPs warn. 31 October 2018.  
https://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/unfair-council-funding-holding-back-social-
mobility-in-rural-counties-mps-warn/ 

Department for Business, Innovation & Skills (BIS) (2014) Does worker wellbeing affect 
worker performance?  
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/366637/bis-14-1120-does-worker-wellbeing-affect-workplace-performance-final.pdf 

Gloucestershire County Council (2015) Sector Snapshots.  
https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/economy/sector-snapshots/ 

Gloucestershire County Council (2018) The Productivity Puzzle. 
https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2082585/productivity-puzzle-finalv3.pdf 

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) (2019) Unemployment Bulletin 130: May 2019.  
https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2090094/unemployment-bulletin_-may-19.pdf 

HM Government (2017) Industrial Strategy: Building a Britain fit for the future.  
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/
file/664563/industrial-strategy-white-paper-web-ready-version.pdf 

Inclusive Growth Commission (IGC) (2017) Making the economy work for everyone.  
www.thersa.org/discover/publications-and-articles/reports/final-report-of-the-inclusive-
growth-commission 

IPPR (2017) Flexibility for who? Millennials and mental health in the modern labour market.  
www.ippr.org/files/2017-07/flexibility-for-who-report-july-2017.pdf 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19 28

REFERENCES

P
age 92

https://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/unfair-council-funding-holding-back-social-mobility-in-rura
https://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/unfair-council-funding-holding-back-social-mobility-in-rura
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/3666
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/3666
https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/economy/sector-snapshots/ 
https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2082585/productivity-puzzle-finalv3.pdf  
https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2090094/unemployment-bulletin_-may-19.pdf 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6645
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6645
https://www.thersa.org/discover/publications-and-articles/reports/final-report-of-the-inclusive-grow
https://www.thersa.org/discover/publications-and-articles/reports/final-report-of-the-inclusive-grow
https://www.ippr.org/files/2017-07/flexibility-for-who-report-july-2017.pdf 


REFERENCES

NHS Confederation (2019) Health in all local industrial strategies?  
Briefing: June 2019.  
www.nhsconfed.org/resources/2019/06/health-in-all-local-industrial-strategies 

OECD (2019) Inclusive Growth. www.oecd.org/inclusive-growth/ 

Public Health England (PHE) (2016) Health & Work: Infographics. 
www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-work-infographics

Public Health England (PHE) (2018) Local Authority Health Profile: Gloucestershire 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles 

Public Health England (PHE) (2019) Local Tobacco Control Profiles for England:  
July 2019 data update  
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobacco-control 

Social Mobility Commission (2017) Social Mobility Index: 2017 data.  
www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-mobility-index-2017-data 

Social Mobility Commission (2019) State of the Nation 2018-19: Social Mobility  
in Great Britain.  
www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-mobility-in-great-britain-state-of-the-nation-
2018-to-2019 

Taylor, Matthew (2017) Good Work: The Taylor Review of Modern Working Practices.  
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/627671/good-work-taylor-review-modern-working-practices-rg.pdf 

Town & Country Planning Association (TCPA) (2012) Reuniting health with planning: 
healthier homes, healthier communities.  
www.tcpa.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=90dfdb6c-e68e-42ce-955f-fd5b15f69ba0 

Kings Fund (2013) Broader determinants of health: future trends.  
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/time-think-differently/trends-broader-
determinants-health 

Joseph Rowntree Foundation (2015) Work is good for your health – should we 
cheer or circle the wagons?, August 2015.  
www.jrf.org.uk/blog/work-good-your-health-%E2%80%93-should-we-cheer-or-circle-wagons 

Joseph Rowntree Foundation (2017) Maximising the local impact of anchor 
institutions: a case study of Leeds City Region.  
www.jrf.org.uk/report/maximising-local-impact-anchor-institutions-case-study-leeds-
city-region 

Joseph Rowntree Foundation (2019) How Local Industrial Strategies can deliver 
inclusive growth.  
www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Inclusive%20Growth%20LIS%20
Masterclass%20Slides.pdf 

Local Government Association (LGA) & Public Health England (PHE) (2016), Health, 
work and health related worklessness: A guide for local authorities.  
https://www.local.gov.uk/health-work-and-health-related-worklessness-guide-local-authorities 

Local Government Association (LGA) (2019) Nobody Left Behind: Maximising the 
health benefits of an inclusive local economy.  
www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/22.15%20inclusive%2growth_04.1.pdf 

London School of Economics & Political Science (LSE) (2017) Low-cost housing 
schemes have little impact on social mobility. 3rd July 2017.  
www.lse.ac.uk/News/Latest-news-from-LSE/2017/07-July-2017/Housing-and-social-mobility 

Marmot, M. et al (2010) Fair Society, Healthy Lives.  
www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-
marmot-review/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report-pdf.pdf 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19 29

REFERENCES

P
age 93

http://www.nhsconfed.org/resources/2019/06/health-in-all-local-industrial-strategies
http://www.oecd.org/inclusive-growth/  
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-work-infographics 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobacco-control
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-mobility-in-great-britain-state-of-the-nation-2018-to-2019
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-mobility-in-great-britain-state-of-the-nation-2018-to-2019
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6276
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6276
http://www.tcpa.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=90dfdb6c-e68e-42ce-955f-fd5b15f69ba0 
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/time-think-differently/trends-broader-determinants-health 
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/time-think-differently/trends-broader-determinants-health 
http://www.jrf.org.uk/blog/work-good-your-health-%E2%80%93-should-we-cheer-or-circle-wagons
http://www.jrf.org.uk/report/maximising-local-impact-anchor-institutions-case-study-leeds-city-region 
http://www.jrf.org.uk/report/maximising-local-impact-anchor-institutions-case-study-leeds-city-region 
http://www.lse.ac.uk/News/Latest-news-from-LSE/2017/07-July-2017/Housing-and-social-mobility 
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review/fair-
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review/fair-


Report of the Director of Public Health 2018/19

P
age 94



 

1

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Report from the Director of Public Health

24th September 2019

__________________________________________________________________

Armed Forces Covenant Update

Responsibility for coordinating and supporting the Council’s role as signatories of the 
Armed Forces Covenant sits within the Prevention, Wellbeing & Communities Hub, 
under the Director of Public Health. This involves supporting the Council’s Armed 
Forces Covenant Champion, Cllr. Shaun Parsons (a member of this scrutiny 
committee) in his role; helping teams across the council to understand our 
commitments and best practice, e.g. in dealing with individual cases, and 
maintaining a network of Covenant leads from across the district councils and 
partner organisations, e.g. NHS.

Gloucestershire County Council and the six district and borough councils are also 
benefitting from a regional project, funded by the MOD and led by Wiltshire Council. 
This has created a dedicated Covenant Project Officer, an e-learning and face-to-
face training package, a veteran’s outreach worker and vehicle, web pages 
signposting to dedicated support and other specialist advice and support.

In previous years, the County Council has produced a summary annual report of 
local activity and the latest version of this is attached as an appendix to my report 
(Appendix 1). It gives an overview of the regional project described above, 
showcases a considerable variety of activity by district and town and parish councils 
and updates the current position on Covenant funding and Covenant lead contacts.

Page 95

Agenda Item 8



 

2

GLOUCESTERSHIRE ARMED FORCES COVENANT 
NEWSLETTER 2019

The Armed Forces Covenant (AFC) Champion for Gloucestershire County Council and a 
former reservist Cllr Shaun Parsons is pleased to share the news, activities and successes 
of Gloucestershire Armed Forces Covenant partners for 2018/19.

2018 started positively with Gloucestershire AFC being successful in their joint bid with other 
local authorities in the south west for £150,000 of Covenant Funding to help fund initiatives to 
develop awareness and knowledge of the Covenant across front line public service staff to 
enable veteran and serving personnel to be better supported.

Later in October 2018, Gloucestershire County Council AFC Team successfully held an 
event bringing together district representatives and others from organisations including 
armed forces charities and NHS providers to hear about local and regional developments, to 
share learning and good practice and to agree a way forward for working together to embed 
the Covenant across Gloucestershire. Attendees received an update from David Wood (the 
South West Regional Project Coordinator) and also heard from education colleagues about 
an online survey of 30,000 Gloucestershire school pupils, which may provide valuable 
intelligence about the needs of and priorities for children living in armed forces families.

An update on the Armed Forces Covenant Fund was also provided announcing that bids of 
up to £20,000 of Covenant Grant Funding are available for digital development, community 
integration and local delivery of services.

Also at the event, partners provided updates on activities as varied as the Veteran’s 
Gateway service (https://www.veteransgateway.org.uk/) and the Royal British Legion’s 
“Count Them In” campaign to include a question on the armed forces community in the 2021 
Census.

Following on from this successful event, the very first South West Armed Forces Covenant 
Champions Conference was held in November in Wiltshire, providing an update on the  
South West Regional Project. This event brought together nominated champions of Local 
Authorities along with military, charity and voluntary organisations and provided them with an 
update on the South West Regional Project and a positive discussion on the following six 
proposals:

Appendix 1

Page 96

https://www.veteransgateway.org.uk/


8

 

1. Understanding – Enhancing the local understanding of the military community and 
better contribution through better identification of those who receive additional support 
and what their needs are.

2. Awareness – Upskilling local authority front-line staff, to better enable them to meet their 
military community’s needs. A training and awareness package includes provision of an 
e-learning module and a face-to-face training package for local authority Members, 
Armed Forces Covenant Champions and staff.

3. Network – Creating an accredited Forces-friendly national network of champions, 
supplemented by options for developing a Forces Friendly Quality Mark.

4. Collaboration – Engaging public authorities, providers, private and third sector 
organisations, working collaboratively with local authorities for the benefit of the SW 
Regional military community.

5. Film – Creating a film to provide a wider understanding of healthcare staff in NHS 
Foundation Trusts, Community Hospitals and General Practice Staff, including better 
identification and understanding of the needs of spouses of current serving, veterans and 
their families. This film can be widely used to complement other training.

6. Web Portal – Development of South West web portal to provide consistent access, 
support and prevention mechanisms across the SW Region. The offer of access to the 
Map of Needs and the Veterans Gateway through the SW portal will provide an 
opportunity to deliver a common resource while retaining Regional and county level 
control.

The discussion on the SW Project’s proposals, and the response of those who attended the 
Conference, were positive and successful in progressing toward a more collaborative approach 
to delivering the Covenant.

In its own right, Gloucestershire County Council continues to support employees who are 
reservists and adult cadet instructors by allowing two weeks paid leave for military duties.

In addition, many fantastic activities and events in respect of the Armed Forces Covenant have 
been taking place in districts and parishes around Gloucestershire during 2018/19 and here are a 
few to showcase:

Page 97



9

 

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Environmental Projects

Community Clean Up: A joint military/civilian ‘Community Clean Up’ took place on the Imjin 
Playing Field and Ash Path. The event was organised by the Council and officers at Imjin 
Barracks and saw 50 people, from both military and local civilian communities, collecting 
rubbish from the Mod playing field and from the public right of way and water course running 
alongside the playing field.

 Shamrock Close Open Space: The Council is working with Churchdown Parish Council and   
Imjin Barracks on a project which is looking to create a community garden on MoD owned 
open space, adjacent to Shamrock Close, Churchdown.

World War 1 Commemoration

On 9 Oct 2018 Tewkesbury Borough Council organised and funded a memorial parade for 
Private William Edgar Holmes VC who had been awarded the Victoria Cross for conspicuous 
bravery in France exactly 100 years to the day of the parade.

The parade was held at Didbrook Church in the Parish of Stanway where Pvt. Holmes was born 
and raised before joining the Army in 1915 and fighting in WWI. The Council enlisted the help of 
the Grenadier Guards HQ in London, the local British Legion, Gloucestershire Association of 
Grenadier Guards and the local regiment at Imjin Barracks/ARRC.

Around 100 retired veterans and current serving soldiers attended the parade alongside 
surviving family members and local residents. Those present included the Regimental Adjutant 
and the Sergeant Major of the Grenadier Guards who both gave readings in church and at the 
memorial site. There were also members of the Grenadier Guards band, serving soldiers from 
Imjin Barracks/ARRC and many members of the British Legion alongside veterans of every 
conflict since WWII.

The parade consisted of a formal church service followed by the laying of a memorial stone and 
then a celebration buffet. Music was provided by the Grenadier Guards Band, the Guard of honour 
by Imjin Barracks/ARRC and standard bearers from different arms of service. Several VIP 
guests attended including, the Lord Lieutenant of Gloucestershire, Dame Janet and the Earl of 
March, Lord Weyms. Local school children also performed readings and assisted in the 
unveiling of the memorial stone.

Armed Forces Day

Tewkesbury Borough Council continued its support for Armed Forces Day on 29 June 2018. The 
ceremony took place at the council's offices on Gloucester Road and was led by the Mayor of 
Tewkesbury Borough, Cllr Ruth Hatton, and joined by representatives from Imjin 
Barracks/ARRC, as well as staff and councillors.

Page 98



10

 

Community Safety

The Council, working with the Welfare Team at Imjin Barracks, Gloucestershire Highways and 
Gloucestershire Constabulary, is seeking to improve road safety in and around the 
military/civilian housing areas of Innsworth. Improved signage has already been introduced and 
further improvements are being looked at subject to a traffic survey being undertaken.

Housing Services

Under Homeseeker Plus members of the armed forces are given local connection to an area of 
their choice i.e. are effectively exempt from the connection criteria which apply to all other 
applicants for social housing in our area. The period of ‘priority banding’ for those leaving 
armed forces accommodation is six months covering the entire time from their certification of 
cessation until discharge from the services. During this period families and vulnerable 
members of the armed forces are awarded ‘Urgent housing need’ (Gold banding –which is 
equivalent to other households who have a full statutory homeless duty), and those who are not 
vulnerable are awarded ‘significant housing need/threatened with homelessness need’ (silver 
banding). This is a significant enhancement on all other households who receive notice to quit 
within the borough who would be awarded significant housing need (silver banding) when they 
are threatened with homelessness within 56 days.

Through  homelessness,  those armed forces  households  are  also given  comprehensive 
housing advice during this period.

Housing Services also work  closely with the RBL and  SSAFA to ensure that veterans 
receive all the assistance possible if they experience housing difficulties in the future.

Cheltenham Borough Council

World War 1 Centenary Commemoration

Cheltenham Remembers was a partnership project to commemorate the centenary of signing the 
Armistice that signalled the end of World War 1 and to say thank you to the men and women who 
gave so much and helped to shape the world as we know it today. The project incorporated a 
variety of commemoration activities, including the restoration of the War Memorial in the Long 
Gardens in 2016, supporting the restoration of the war memorial at St. Peters Church, in 
Tewkesbury Road, and culminating in a programme of events throughout the Borough during 2018.

The project was funded by the Heritage Lottery Fund and Cheltenham Borough Council and 
commemorative events, activities, exhibitions, re-enactments, digital resources and plays were 
developed and delivered by Cheltenham Trust, Cheltenham Ladies College, Cheltenham Local 

Page 99



11

 

History Society, Royal Air Forces Association (Cheltenham Branch), St Peters & The Moors Big 
Local, University of Gloucestershire and the Everyman Theatre.

The final events of the project took place on Remembrance weekend. The weekend commenced 
on the afternoon of Saturday 10th November with a Memorial March through Cheltenham town 
centre.  1278 men, women and children marched, one for each of the servicemen or women 
commemorated on Cheltenham War Memorial, wearing the name (and photograph where available) 
of one of the fallen.

On Sunday 11th November, one of the largest 
Remembrance Services Cheltenham has seen took 
place in the morning. The evening saw one of the 
highest impactful, poignant and unique events that 
Cheltenham has ever seen. Projected along the 
front of the Municipal Offices, was a 20 minute film 
of imagery and sound depicting the horror of war 
and involving

actors, animation, poetry, sound and emotive music. The projection was replayed every 30 
minutes.   Representatives from Cheltenham’s twin towns Annecy and Gottingen were here to 
experience the weekend’s events.

Victoria Cross plaque laying

A commemorative paving stone was unveiled on Sunday 2 September 2018 for Lt Colonel 
Richard Annesley West VC, DSO & Bar, and MC who was killed in Vaulx-Vraucourt in France on 
2 September 1918 and awarded the Victoria Cross.

Cheltenham Borough Council also supported and hosted several other remembrance events, for 
Armed Forces Day, Battle of Britain Sunday and Aden Veterans.

Housing

Cheltenham Borough Council has a Lettings Plan, which ensures that the 10 new homes for 
veterans which were recently built in Swindon Road are preserved for Veterans. (More 
information regarding this scheme is available below from Cheltenham Borough Homes)

Cotswolds District Council

CIRENCESTER came  to a standstill on 11 November  2018, with more than 3,300 
people taking part in the creation of a record-breaking Human Poppy.

This collective act of remembrance broke the previous record of 3,000 in a human poppy and 
was a deeply symbolic tribute on the anniversary of the end of the First World War.
Volunteers streamed into the Cotswold town market place to form a sea of red, green and

Page 100



12

 

black.

Each representing a named fallen soldier from around the 
Cotswolds, or an unknown soldier, this was a chance for the 
community to come together and unite with one common 
cause, in an event that will surely be remembered for years to 
come. Organisers came up with the ambitious plans under the 
umbrella 'We Remember 1918'.

Daisy May Cooper from the hit BBC hit comedy 'This Country' helped to promote the event, with a 
video a few days before urging people to take part.  Speaking to the Standard after the event, 
she said: "I am in shock and so moved that this many people have turned up." Geoffrey Clifton 
Brown MP also took part in the record breaking Human Poppy as well as Earl and Countess 
Bathurst. Lady Bathurst said: "This is an extraordinary event. It goes to show what a close knit 
community Cirencester is and how highly we regard the past. It is quite  emotional  to  see  so  
many  of  our  town  and  other  areas  coming  together  to commemorate this special event."

Speaking after the event, Councillor David Fowles, Acting Chairman of one of the organising 
bodies, the Cirencester Community Development Trust, said: "Cirencester is amazing. I am 
speechless and so proud that the young and the old have come out to commemorate and to 
celebrate. This shows such community spirit. It has been very moving." Barn Theatre artistic 
director Iwan Lewis was instrumental in making the Human Poppy a success.
He said: "This has been unbelievable. We ran out of ponchos. It has been a huge success.

"Although it will take a few weeks for Guinness to verify the record, this is an amazing and epic 
event."

Pat Day from Cirencester was there "because we should never forget. It is great to see 
so many people here, including children. It is a real community event."

Dawn Witt from Stratton had come to take part with her husband Simon. "We have come 
to be a part of the Remembrance," she said. "This is also personal for me as I lost 
someone in the Great War - Sidney Rowe was killed in Kefalonia. This is lovely to see 
everyone coming together. It is really special."

Cirencester Town Council

Over the past year, Cirencester has been at the forefront of remembering and 
acknowledging the significant sacrifices made by the Armed Forces.

Through a wide range of events and activities Cirencester Town Council have provided 
opportunities for the Armed Forces to engage with the local community. Promoting an 
understanding and awareness across the community about issues affecting the Armed 

Page 101



13

 

Forces and helping Armed Forces families feel a truly valued part of  the community was at 
the very heart of our ‘We Remember 1918’ commemorations.

The commemorative events were co-ordinated by the Cirencester Community 
Development Trust with invaluable input from The Barn Theatre and cast of ‘This Country’ 
and support from the Town Council, Cotswold District Council and Parish Church. The 
programme of events in November included ‘The Eleventh Hour’ music and local readings 
by Coln Choir, a Royal British Legion remembrance concert, a community awards evening 
and the spectacular creation of a human poppy in the Market Place.

There are also a number of other ways in which there is reciprocal support and collaboration. 
For example, the 29th Regiment based at the Duke of Gloucester
Barracks in South Cerney, in providing volunteers to support events 
such as the Advent Festival and the Local Information Centre at 
Bingham House, Dyer Street selling poppies.

Cirencester Town Council has 
supported Cotswold District Council 
with the funding of a number of 
memorial plaques and benches 
across
the community, in Chesterton, Four Acres and Watermoor.

Whilst we have looked back over the past 12 months, we trust that in looking forward we 
will continue to live out the covenant in practical and meaningful ways.’

Ashchurch Parish Council

At a local level, the armed forces community is included in everything Ashchurch Parish Council 
(APC) do to raise local awareness with regard to their activities as a Parish Council and 
notices/invitations are delivered personally to the service quarters.

In terms of remembering sacrifice, APC arrange for the maintenance of the war memorial 
grounds throughout the year and especially prior to remebrancetide. Poppy wreaths are obtained 
annually for APC and on behalf of Wheatpieces Parish Council and take part in the local service 
of remembrance.

APC donate funds in addition to the cost of the wreaths which not only support the workers at the 
Ashford Poppy Village but also make a contribution to the welfare and support of beneficiaries 
nationally, (any of whom could be members of Ashchurch local service community).

Page 102



14

 

Councillor Dave Street, a member of Ashchurch Parish Council and also the RBL District 
Chairman representing over 23,000 members or 10% of the RBL membership, donates his 
time to support the armed forces community, whether that is nationally, within Gloucestershire 
County or locally within the Borough and Parish and he never passes up on opportunities to 
promote Ashchurch as a caring Parish, standing ready and willing to assist veterans and service 
personnel.

Quenington Parish Council
Quenington Parish Council has been regularly maintaining the war memorial and a poppy wreath 
are placed on it for Remembrance Day. Poppy crosses are also placed on the graves of ex service 
men.

Charlton Kings Parish Council

Charlton Kings Parish Council continues to be responsible for the Charlton Kings War Memorial 
and pays for the planning and management of spring and summer flowers in the area around it.   
In 2018, Charlton Kings Parish Council took a leading role in organising the annual Charlton 
Kings Remembrance Day Commemoration Service in which a number of our Councillors 
participated.

Through their Community Grants programme, Charlton Kings Parish Council has provided 
financial support to the Air Cadets 125 Squadron Air Training Corps.

Cinderford Town Council

After signing the Armed Forces Covenant in 2015, Cinderford Town Council has continued 
to work with the Cinderford British Legion in supporting their annual Poppy Appeal and 
ensuring the Remembrance Day Event continues to grow and attract people to what has 
now become such a successful event, with people and children of all ages attending.

Last year Cinderford Town Council produced a 
cascade of poppies in the Town Centre and at 
the Service in the Town Centre on 
Remembrance Day, they had poppies blowing 
from rooftops, which was really poignant.

Cinderford Town Council hope that by doing
this, they ensure that their local parishioners enjoy coming out to show their respects and 
that they all do 'Remember them'.

Page 103



15

 

Cheltenham Borough Homes

Cheltenham Borough Homes have developed a scheme to utilise a former car mechanics 
yard, owned by Cheltenham Borough Council into homes for veterans. The scheme

provides the construct of ten new homes, comprising a mix of one and two 
bedroom flats and two bedroom houses.

In a move, the first of its kind for Cheltenham, 
these 10 new council owned homes were 
offered first to veterans and their families and 
all ten properties have been allocated to 
forces veterans.

The new properties are located in the town centre and support CBH’s 
objective of developing high quality affordable accommodation.

Each home has been designed to meet Housing Quality Indicators, Building for Life 
Bronze, Lifetime Homes and the Code of Sustainable Homes Level 3. All homes include 
high performing boilers, are highly insulated and have solar photovoltaic panels on the roof 
which will generate electricity reducing tenant’s energy bills.

The homes have been delivered in partnership between Cheltenham Borough Council and 
Cheltenham Borough Homes

Page 104



16

 

Gloucestershire County Council and the Armed Forces Covenant 
Funding

In December 2012, the importance of the covenant was highlighted as a result of the decision of the 
Chancellor to transfer £35 million from fines levied on the banks for attempting to manipulate Libor to 
the Ministry of Defence (MOD) for use in supporting the armed forces community.

In 2015 the Covenant Fund was launched and programmes over the years have included support for 
ex-service personnel in the criminal justice system, the Veterans’ Gateway and supporting serving 
families encountering difficult periods through the Families in Stress programme.

For the first 3 years, the Covenant Fund was based within the Ministry of Defence, and during that 
time local applications for grant funding were submitted via Gloucestershire County Council for 
approval and comment prior to being forwarded onto the MOD for the final decision.  However, in April 
2018, following a decision that it should become independent, the Covenant Fund and its 
management moved to the Armed Forces Covenant Fund Trust.

Today, the Council has little or no involvement in the grant application process as all grant 
applications are now submitted directly through to the Armed Forces Covenant Trust for approval.  
However, GCC as Covenant signatories are always happy to support partners to develop and submit 
grant funding applications.

The application process has also changed over the years and you no longer need to draft your 
application in a Word document, in order to copy and paste your answers into the online form. The 
new, easier to follow process allows you to view all questions, input, save and return to your work.

The Armed Forces Covenant Fund Trust has £10M a year to fund projects that support the Armed 
Forces Community and local grants of up to £20,000 are made available for local projects that support 
Community Integration and/or Delivery of Local Services.

In the first round for 2019-20, a total of 32 grants worth £526,243 have already been awarded 
nationally.  The full list of those awarded for this year can be viewed here.

You can also read about grants that were awarded by the Covenant Fund in earlier years below:-

2018/19 2017/18 2016/17 2015/16

It is worth noting that the Armed Forces Covenant Local Grants Programme is now in its fifth year.  
Last year £2,446,199 was awarded to 150 projects. The 2019/20 round will be the final year of the 
current Armed Forces Covenant Local Grants Programme. Plans for a future grants programme will 
be announced in early 2020.

If you would like to apply to the Armed Forces Covenant Local Grants Programme; the final closing 
date will be 2 December 2019; though we would encourage you to apply
earlier.  Click here for further details on how to apply.

Page 105

https://www.covenantfund.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Local-Grants-awards-2019-20-round-one.pdf
https://www.covenantfund.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Local-Grant-awards-2018-19.pdf
http://ec2-52-56-74-53.eu-west-2.compute.amazonaws.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Local-grants-2017-18.pdf
http://ec2-52-56-74-53.eu-west-2.compute.amazonaws.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Local-grants-2016-17.pdf
http://ec2-52-56-74-53.eu-west-2.compute.amazonaws.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Local-grants-2015-16.pdf
https://www.covenantfund.org.uk/open-programmes/


17

 

Finally, many of you will remember the signing of Gloucestershire Armed Forces Covenant back in 
2012 and 2015. As many of the nominated champions and signatories have changed over the 
years, it has become necessary to re-visit and update the current membership of Gloucestershire 
Armed Forces Covenant. It is therefore our intention to hold an event in the autumn to re-vitalise 
and promote the Covenant.  Invitations will be sent to partners in due course.

For more information regarding the Armed Forces Covenant please see (Appendix A) or for any 
other questions, please contact the Armed Forces Covenant team at  
afcovenant@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 106

mailto:afcovenant@gloucestershire.gov.uk


18

 

Local Champion Contact Information
Cheltenham Borough Council
Contact Name: Helen Down

Email: helen.down@cheltenham.gov.uk

Cotswold District Council

Contact Name: Joseph Walker

Email: Joseph.Walker@publicagroup.uk

Forest of Dean District Council

Contact Name: Nikki McClean

Email: Nicola.Mclean@publicagroup.uk Contact Name: Lena Maller  
Lena.Maller@publicagroup.uk

Gloucester City Council

Contact Name: Ruth Saunders

Email: Ruth.Saunders@gloucester.gov.uk

Gloucestershire County Council

Contact Name: Dawn Lane

Email: dawn.lane@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Stroud District Council

Contact Name: Kevin Topping Email: kevin.topping@stroud.gov.uk

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Contact Name: Adrian Goode

Email: adrian.goode@tewkesbury.gov.uk

Page 107

mailto:helen.down@cheltenham.gov.uk
mailto:Joseph.Walker@publicagroup.uk
mailto:Nicola.Mclean@publicagroup.uk
mailto:Lena.Maller@publicagroup.uk
mailto:Lena.Maller@publicagroup.uk
mailto:Ruth.Saunders@gloucester.gov.uk
mailto:dawn.lane@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:kevin.topping@stroud.gov.uk
mailto:adrian.goode@tewkesbury.gov.uk


19
19

 

APPENDIX A

What is the Armed Forces Covenant?
To those who proudly protect our nation, who do so with honour, courage, and commitment, the 
Armed Forces Covenant is the nation’s commitment to you.

It is a pledge that together we acknowledge and understand that those who serve or who 
have served in the armed forces, and their families, should be treated with fairness and 
respect in the communities, economy and society they serves with their lives.

The Armed Forces Covenant in 60 Seconds:-  https://youtu.be/OOcvKYueq6Q

What is being done?
The covenant focusses on helping members of the armed forces community have the same 
access to government and commercial services and products as any other citizen.

This support is provided in a number of areas including:

 education and family well-being

 having a home

 starting a new career

 access to healthcare

 financial assistance

 discounted services

Who is involved?
The covenant supports serving personnel, service leavers, veterans, and their families. And is 
fulfilled by the different groups that have committed to making a difference.

These include:

 Central government, overseen by the Ministerial Covenant and Veterans Board

 Single services (Royal Navy, British Army, Royal Air Force)

 Businesses of all sizes

 Local government

 Charities

 Communities

 Cadet forces and their adult volunteers

Page 108

https://youtu.be/OOcvKYueq6Q
http://www.armedforcescovenant.gov.uk/support-and-advice/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ministerial-responsibility-for-covenant-and-veterans-issues


20
20

 

Community and Accommodation Based Support (CABS)

Overview

Community and Accommodation Based Support (CABS) Services form an integral 
part of the County’s rehousing, early intervention and prevention pathway for people 
in vulnerable circumstances and homeless individuals.   This pathway has been co-
designed in partnership with local stakeholders and partners, most notably the 
District Councils who as the local housing authorities hold statutory duties for 
homelessness and the prevention of homelessness.  The pathway captures services 
delivered directly by the district councils and those services commissioned across 
partners both individually, and in some cases jointly, that support people in 
vulnerable circumstances to prevent and/or move away from rough sleeping and 
homelessness and to live safe, settled and secure lives.  Appendix 1 details the 
pathway, the relationship across and between Community and Accommodation 
Based services, and their respective funding streams.  

The shared ambition across the pathway is for good, lasting outcomes for homeless 
and/or people in vulnerable circumstances, with a focus on:

 a joined up and complementary approach to respond to need, providing 
information and support for people to do more for themselves and their 
families;

 investing in community capacity to provide support where people live;
 reconnecting adults with their community;
 using intensive support to promote recovery and long term stability; and 

making a lasting difference and targeting specialist help on those with 
complex needs.

Focus is increasingly placed on prevention and tackling inequalities in all areas of 
support in line with Government priorities for prevention and CABS services are key 
to early intervention and up-streamed prevention – better managing demand and 
reducing/avoiding costs in other areas of the system – e.g. NHS, Social Care, 
Homelessness Services. 

Over the years CABS services have evolved from delivering long term, deficit-based 
support services to a considerably more effective short-term strength-based 
approach.   There has been a shift from an over reliance of fixed accommodation 
and specialist services to a more flexible community based and generic approach 
that can better respond to changing patterns of need.  The remodelling of these 
services has allowed providers to significantly increase the numbers of individuals 
they are able to support as well as the quality of outcomes achieved. The benefits of 
CABS Services extend further than addressing housing related issues. Providers 
work holistically with all parts of the system to address all determinants of 
homelessness/living independently, this includes (but is not limited to) health, 
economic, social and citizenship issues. 

Commissioning practices for these initiatives have also evolved and all CABS 
services will from April 2020 be purchased through a pseudo-multi provider, multi-

Page 109



21
21

 

purchaser Framework.   This has been co-designed to both develop the market with 
a focus on continuous improvement and enable other partners to purchase those 
services within the pathway to meet their specific needs. 

Through the collection of shared robust intelligence and the proven track record of 
delivery, Gloucestershire has been successful in winning bids for additional funding 
from central government to develop innovative new services to further complement 
the pathway.  

Summary of CABS services commissioned by GCC:

Community Based Support

Generic Community Based Support Services are commissioned using a place based 
approach. The County is divided into two clusters (Glos, FOD, Tewks & Chelt, 
Stroud, Cots) due to its size and to mitigate the impact of any provider issues. 

CBS Services are commissioned to deliver short term support that build on an 
individual’s existing strengths to help them develop the skills and resources to 
become self reliant and resilient.  This could include practical support to develop 
skills for maintaining independent living; support to access training, volunteering 
and/or employment; rebuilding family relationships and developing links with other 
people, neighbourhoods and community networks.

Using a combination of a drop-in service, more intensive one to one support and 
group work, individuals are supported to acquire the information and skills they need 
to make positive changes in their lives and make connections to the people, places 
and activities in their communities that will enable them to live independently and 
flourish in the longer term.  The service supports people in any form of 
accommodation and across a continuum of need from early intervention and 
prevention through to intensive support for people in crisis/ high level and complex 
need. Where appropriate, CBS will signpost individuals to other more specialist 
housing related support community and accommodation based providers.

CBS 18/19 Snapshot (Across all Districts) - 

The specification for CBS covers a vast remit and providers are encouraged to be 
creative in their service delivery to maximise prevention opportunities and achieve as 
wide of an impact as possible. Support Workers used a trauma informed; strength 
based approach to support and are trained to deal with a broad range of subject 

Page 110



22
22

 

areas. Providers have developed strong links with local communities and are woven 
into the fabric of the areas in which they operate, to support the strengthening of 
both individuals and communities’ inclusion and resilience. 

Case Study

Support is usually related to housing issues but often the housing problems are a 
symptom of wider issues affecting the household. CBS providers are key to 
connecting households to a wide range of support in their communities; this includes 
(but is not limited to) accessing primary care services, addressing issues around 
mental health, domestic abuse, debt advice, legal advocacy and substance abuse. 
Many service users enter the service in crisis and have support needs that vary in 
complexity and urgency.  Support Workers are often at the forefront of co-ordinating 
multi-agency support for these individuals and ensuring they are linked in with the 
right people as early as possible. It is important to note a focus of this support is 
around empowering individuals and building on their strengths and the strengths of 
their community thus allowing the service to disengage at the most appropriate time. 
Promoting independence and avoiding dependencies on support are a central tenet 
of all CABS Services.  

CBS Provider Q2 18/19

 Over the last few months we have been busy promoting our community work & housing support service at 
various BME focused groups and events. We have been working closely with the Black Elders Group 
based in Gloucester on many different things including supporting individuals around the Windrush issue, 
securing funding to run singing workshops, applying for a grant for a new office computer, setting up 
walking football sessions and our longer-term aim is supporting the group to increase its numbers.

 We attended the Jamaican Independence Day event at Gloucester Park and worked alongside the Sickle 
cell information charity which the support worker arranged. We did some great networking with the 
general public, agencies and the local dignitaries to help raise our profile within the community. We also 
managed to show off our new walking football group to the wider community and gained some more 
interest which is great. 

Page 111



23
23

 

Case Study

CABs services seek to maximise income, not only for individuals but for the benefit 
of the County’s wider economy.  In 18/19 CBS providers obtained a total of £378,814 
in external grants and benefit back-payments for people in vulnerable circumstances. 
This money is often used to repay debts and the purchase of essentials for the home 
but is just as often used creatively to add value to the life of the service user for 
example grants have been used to help service users access transport, employment 
and training. Maximising the income of CBS clients has far reaching effects, from 
improved mental health outcomes, reduced reliance on more costly public services 
(e.g. health and social care) and significant economic benefits from service users 
gaining employment. 

Referred by DCYPS (Disabled Children and Young Peoples Service)
 Clients have a baby daughter with a life limiting illness.  The condition is severe and it is not expected for 

infants with this condition to live beyond the age of two years. 
 Client was sponsored by his employer to enter the UK to study in 2013. His wife fell pregnant in 2017; the 

plan had been for the family to return to their home country once the baby was born. Due to the baby’s 
health condition, it was decided they would stay in the UK so that she could access specialist health 
services. The family’s visas expired in January 2018. The family were not in receipt of benefits. Disabled 
Children & Young People’s Service (DCYPS) were providing funding for accommodation; utilities and 
living expenses in excess of £1200 per month with additional payments for fuel during winter months. 

 The family solicitor and DCYPS supported the family to apply for leave to remain on medical grounds to 
the Home Office.   Due to the complexity of the case and need to complete benefit applications as soon as 
possible CBS engaged the support of a Money and Benefits Advisor.   With support the family completed 
the application for Universal Credit and Child Benefit.  

 It was difficult at times for the family to understand what was required of them and to communicate with 
agencies as well as complete complex forms. CBS helped step by step, guiding and advising when 
needed and liaising with Social Services on a regular basis.

 Following several unsuccessful attempts to request a NINO (National Insurance Number) via phone calls 
a meeting was set up to enlist the support of the local Job Centre. CBS have an excellent working 
relationship with the Job Centre staff due to partnership working taking place each week via the drop in 
based at the Job Centre  They understood the urgency required to obtain a NINO and  fast tracked the 
appointment.

 Prior to CBS involvement DCYPS were providing sustenance payments and services for the family as 
benefits were not in place. All Benefits are now in place and have been backdated. The benefits the family 
are now in receipt of totals £1605.74 per month. Support provided cashable savings to Social Care who 
no longer need to provide sustenance payments. 

 By supporting the family regarding their benefit issues CBS Services were able to reduce the workload of 
Social Workers providing support to this family.

Page 112



24
24

 

Case Study

Evidence shows quality lower level interventions can have huge impacts on the lives 
of individuals accessing services, reducing the longer term burden on Social Care, 
the NHS and other statutory services. Many of these interventions place a focus on 
addressing a particular issue or agenda but have the added benefits of engaging 
individuals with their community and addressing loneliness - “social isolation and 
loneliness is a major public health issue, associated with higher risks of mortality and 
morbidity”1 

Positive social relationships and engagement in community life are necessary for 
good mental health, and may offer protection in adversity or where there is exposure 
to stressors. The ability to form positive relationships is an integral part of wellbeing 
and individuals are recommended to connect with those around them as one of the 
‘five ways to wellbeing’.2 

CBS workers provide a wide range of these interventions on a 1:1 level with service 
users, group work and through community engagement. Community Capacity 
building forms a key part of the work of CBS services in addressing the needs of the 
diverse communities in Gloucestershire.  Large numbers of volunteers are recruited 
from within existing service user groups and externally to support these activities; 
providing valuable experience, confidence building and increased Social Value.  A 
total of 2002 volunteer hours were provided through CBS services in 18/19 totalling 
£25,193 worth of economic value3. 

Using an asset based approach to community development CBS services have 
worked with local groups to build on their strengths and provide long term life 

1 Public Health England, 2015
2 Public Health England, 2015
3 Calculated using ONS Community Life Survey and ONS Economic Value of Volunteering 2016 Data

Client Referred to CBS by Housing Provider

 The service user experienced a relationship breakdown and husband left family home, leaving her a single 
parent with 3 children, one of which has a diagnosis of autism. 

 Before leaving, client’s husband had applied for UC but made some errors which only left the family £317 a 
month to live on (including rent). Rent was £800pm. At time of referral client had accrued £1800 worth of 
arrears ad the Housing Provider was going to court of possession. Client was at risk of imminent eviction. 
Due to her mental health she was not actively seeking support with this. 

 Initially the client was reluctant to engage with the support offered. A needs assessment was completed on 
the 3rd attempt at contact. The client then disengaged from support and would not respond to contact 
attempts. 

 The Support Worker attended court on the day of she was expected there in the hope that she would accept 
support. Client did attended court and accepted CBS support. 

 The CBS provider was successful in preventing the eviction and the family from becoming homeless. Client 
was likely to be found intentionally homeless by the District Council if a homeless application was required 
and Social Care involvement would have been needed once the Districts Homeless Duty ended. 

 Support Worker helped client to maximise income and access correct benefits so rent would be affordable 
going forward. 

 Through this developed trust, the client has started engaging with the appropriate agencies to address her 
mental health needs and her eating disorder. Engagement was facilitated with AllSorts for the children with 
autism. 

Page 113



25
25

 

changing outcomes for individuals within these communities. CBS providers work 
creatively and holistically to harness and create community capacity. This has been 
very effective and has resulted in service user led initiatives taking place thus 
demonstrating their resilience and willingness to engage with their communities and 
support others. 

Case Study 

Building on early prevention, CBS services are adept at developing resilience, both 
at an individual level and a community level.  Psychological resilience, the ability to 
recover quickly from difficulties are protective factors to combat ACEs (Adverse 
Childhood Experiences). Evidence shows that experiences of adversity in childhood 
and toxic stress create physiological changes in the brain with symptoms manifesting 
in later life; including higher incidences of homelessness amongst this cohort and 
poorer health outcomes. 

CBS services have also been co-located in other professional settings for example 
Children Social Care and Hospital, with a high degree of success in supporting other 
front line workers; vulnerable families and patients to achieve successful outcomes.

Other CBS Achievements 

291 Households prevented from becoming imminently homeless and able to remain 
in their home. Estimates of the annual costs to government from these studies range 
from £24,000 - £30,000 (gross) per person, anything up to circa £1bn (gross) 
annually4.   This totals £6.98m preventative savings to the government generated by 
CBS services in 18/19 just through immediate homelessness prevention work.

4 DCLG, Evidence Review of the Cost of Homelessness, 2012

CBS Provider, Q1-18/19

We have run a five week healthy eating course in Priors Park, which was well attended. Two of the members of 
the course are now looking to set up a pop up café at the Priors Park Neighbourhood Project with our support. 
We have continued to run the monthly cooking group in Cinderford & Barnwood which are proving to be popular. 
The monthly groups give members an opportunity to develop their cooking skills and maintain friendships they 
have formed through our cooking projects. 

Page 114



26
26

 

Accommodation Based Support 

Accommodation Based Support Services provide support to people in designated 
short term accommodation accessed by service users for the specific purpose of 
undertaking housing needs and support assessments and/or receiving support to 
prepare them for independent living.  With a shift of investment into community 
based support we have over time worked with providers of Accommodation Based 
Support (ABS) services to focus on supporting vulnerable people with complex, 
multiple and high level needs. These services, working in partnership with 
Community Based Support services, support service users to reconnect at the 
earliest opportunity to the neighbourhoods and communities where they have 
positive attachments.
The majority of ABS Services are commissioned to deliver short term support that 
builds on an individual’s existing strengths to help them develop the skills to become 
self reliant.  This also includes rebuilding family relationships and developing links 
with other people, neighbourhoods and community networks to enable an individual 
to live independently in the long term. 

ABS Services are designed to increase service user confidence and help them 
develop the necessary skills to support their transition to independent living in the 
community.  To meet the specific needs of individuals in this cohort ABS units are 
divided into the following - 

 16+ services – Service Users aged primarily 16-21 (although older young 
people can access if appropriate)

 18+ services – Services Users aged 18+ complex needs or chaotic lifestyles
 Assessment centre services (18+) operate as a first stage assessment service 

for homeless adults with complex needs and chaotic lifestyles. These services 
are commissioned to undertake a personalised assessment and provide 
structured interventions to identify a plan for moving on within a three month 
period (NB longer lengths of stay can be agreed with commissioners for 
individual cases).  There services provide bed spaces and drop in advice 
sessions for rough sleepers/entrenched homeless adults.

Referrals into ABS services come from a wide range of organisations including 
District Authorities, CBS Providers and Social Care. 

Case Study 18/19 Gloucester ABS Provider 

  Young person who moved into ABS after family home breakdown. 
 During one to ones a support area was identified around education and preparing for university. Once 

it was confirmed she had a place she was struggling financially to pay costs of staying in education 
and needed help applying for funding for University            

 Supported with all the above and young person (YP) was able to meet after school to enable her to 
have quality time with Key Worker to attend to making applications for funding and applying for 
Student Finance.

 Staff provided Student Finance with 3 supporting letters about YP’s estrangement from family and the 
type of support she is currently receiving, having to evidence that there was no other family member 
who could support her financially.  Staff supported the YP in making a funding application to a charity 
to purchase essential study resources.

 YP recently received a phone call to say she was successful in securing a flat nearby her university. 
She was supported by staff to view, sign all paperwork, attend financial assessments and setting up 
bills.  Referral made to CBS to continue support in new home. 

Page 115



27
27

 

Working together to address rough sleeping and entrenched homelessness

Close partnership working has led to the joint commissioning, and successful bids for 
additional external funding, for services targeting Rough Sleepers and those at 
imminent risk of rough sleeping. This includes the recent expansion of the Homeless 
Assertive Outreach Service; funding for intensive support to over 100 entrenched 
rough sleepers and repeat users of homelessness services; and more recently 
provision of Somewhere Safe to Stay (SStS) hubs and Navigator Services.  

We were one of 11 Somewhere Safe to Stay (SStS) Hub early adopters chosen, 
having demonstrated our ability to rapidly mobilise, our understanding of the local 
Rough Sleeper cohort and our existing wider pathway of services (Appendix 1).

The money funds two SStS hubs (Gloucester and Cheltenham).  The hubs are open 
and staffed on a 24 hour, 7 days a week basis.  The hubs build on the ‘No Second 
Night Out’5 principles (attached Appendix 2), by rapidly assessing the needs of 
people in Gloucestershire who are sleeping rough or at imminent risk of sleeping 
rough.  They provide a safe environment in which they encourage people to move off 
the street straight away, and support them to get the right help that focuses on 
addressing the root causes of homelessness. 

There is a rapid assessment of needs and eligibility in a shared ‘sit-up’ space during 
a short stay, and a housing plan is co-produced, aimed at alleviating their rough 
sleeping and providing referrals into other support services where needed.  
Individuals can be supported by specialist navigators aligned to the hubs, to assess 
wider support needs and assist them to navigate housing, mental health and drug 
and alcohol pathways.

In the first 6 months of operation 133 individuals have entered the hubs.  19 have 
moved in to long term accommodation (including 2 social housing tenancies); 58 
have moved to short-term accommodation such as supported housing and 18 have 
been reconnected to areas outside the county where they have accommodation and 
their strongest support network.

Partnership working across the pathway– Service Delivery

There is a multiagency partnership which delivers the START process.  START is 
the countywide assessment and referral process for access to accommodation 
based services.  Community and Accommodation Based Support providers attend 
relevant START panel(s). 

Community and accommodation based services work closely with the County 
Homeless Outreach Team who identify and support rough sleepers through to the 
Somewhere Safe to Stay Hubs, Assessment Centre or into Accommodation Based 
Support services via the START referral process.

5 The idea behind NSNO is to ensure rough sleepers are helped off the streets as quickly as possible, that 
nobody lives on the streets, and that once helped, people do not return to the streets.

Page 116



28
28

 

GCC’s leaving care team work with 16+ providers to ensure a smooth transition into 
services for young people leaving care.

Services also work closely with the Local Districts Housing Option Teams who 
support people coming into and out of services via the Homeseeker (Choice Based 
Lettings6) process.

More recently there has been an increase in partnership working with the Police to 
address the issue of dangerous drug networks targeting vulnerable people – a 
number of whom live in supported housing

Partnership Working – Strategic

GCC continues to be committed to a wider strategy to address homelessness, aimed 
at intervening early to prevent the risk of homelessness and to provide intensive 
support to people in vulnerable circumstances.

A Local partnership group consisting of the District Councils; County Council; Office 
of Police and Crime Commissioner and Clinical Commissioning Group routinely meet 
to analyse data and evaluate the effectiveness of services commissioned for rough 
sleepers and homeless adults with complex needs and chaotic lifestyles.  The local 
authorities (District and County) also regularly meet to discuss the broader 
homelessness agenda.  A management group consisting of public sector and 
provider organisations meets to assess the SStS hubs and Navigator services 
specifically to understand needs and influence and inform future practice across the 
system.

Local partnership groups at district level meet which often include wider voluntary, 
community and faith organisations coming together to understand local needs and 
how we can harness capacity to complement the pathway.  This also provides a 
forum to understand those provisions which are delivered by community and faith 
groups acting as autonomous organisations. 

6 Allocation of social housing system

Page 117



29
29

 

Testimonials of service users about both Community and Accommodation 
Based Support services:

“10 minutes in the company of (the two staff members) lifted my spirits. I 
didn’t know organisations like this existed. It didn’t matter they couldn’t solve 
my problems on the spot: it was the fact that someone showed they cared, 

they understood. They had noted in the referral I was diabetic, and they 
came with a food parcel. I knew they would help. They helped me find a 

home and to furnish it.”

“They helped me sequence all I needed to do when I was ‘frozen’ and 
couldn’t think straight. I couldn’t leave home. I couldn’t retain anything in my 
memory. They helped me take little steps at a time. They were patient and 

coaxing with me, even when I ignored calls and couldn’t bring myself to open 
the door. All those little things count. Just checking in - to see if I’m all right”

“The most frustrating part is having to tell our story again and again, to make 
our case. It can raise powerful memories and feelings that are so 

destructive, often at the times we can’t find the right words. We notice we 
often get the help we need when someone with a ‘badge’ advocates on our 

behalf: without them people don’t believe us.”

Transcript of interview with SStS client

What was your life like before you were approached by the outreach team?

I was homeless. My life was falling apart, I lost my job and my friend was 
suffering with cancer. Life was not normal, it was rubbish.

I was using alcohol to block out all the bad things and that just caused me 
more problems

How has the process to getting sober been for you?

P3 Safe Space Staff were really supportive and this gave me the mental kick 
to stop drinking. It was a much easier because I had a roof over my head, a 

shower, food and support to stay focused.

How difficult was it to find work after getting back on your feet?

I found work easily in Cheltenham. I was determined and went out every day 
to look for work.

Work is easy to find if you try hard enough

What has been the most difficult challenge you have faced so far?

The most difficult challenge was my drinking. I was fighting against it all the 
time. The first week I stayed with P3 it was difficult to because I wanted to 

Page 118



30
30

 

drink. The staff helped me to become focused and helped and supported me 
by showing me what future opportunities I had that would come to me.

What has kept you staying positive throughout this?

What kept me going is that I would like a family one day. Staying at Safe 
Space gave me the chance to be sober, to look for suitable work and helped 

me save money for my own accommodation.

Page 119



31

Service pathway for homelessness & people in vulnerable circumstances Appendix 1

Accommodation based 
support short term

GCC funding

Direct, agency or 
START* referral

START referral

 Assessment Service

GCC funding

Assertive Homeless 
Outreach

Jointly commissioned

CCG, GCC,LA’s PCC

C

Reconnection or 
independent 
accommodation 
options including: 
rent deposits for 
access to the 
private rented 
sector, shared 
housing options, 
intensive housing 
management 
properties, social 
housing and 
sheltered housing 

Community Based 
Support is a wrap 
around provision 
and is available to 
all individuals who 
are transitioning to 
independent living 
as a drop in or 1:1 
service. 

Provision Move on Additional support Referral Mechanism

Street Link Referral

National funding

Prevention & 
support

Community based 
support (CBS)

GCC funding 

Homeless Health 
Care team and Time 
to Heal

CCG funding

Local Authority 
housing advice and 
assistance

Somewhere Safe to 
Stay

Navigator Service

 

Assertive Homeless 
Outreach

 Action Glos

Social impact bond 
payments by results

Drug and alcohol 
support and 
treatment

Domestic abuse 
support

 
Specialist CBS

Refugee & asylum

Seeker advice 

 

P
age 120



32

Appendix 2

THE NSNO PRINCIPLES7

7 Homeless Link 2014.

• New rough sleepers should be identified and helped off the streets immediately so that 
they do not fall into a dangerous rough sleeping lifestyle.

• Members of the public should be able to play an active role by reporting and referring 
people sleeping rough.

• Rough sleepers should be helped to access a place of safety where their needs can be 
quickly assessed and they can receive advice on their options.

• Rough sleepers should be able to access emergency accommodation and other services, 
such as healthcare, if needed.

• If people have come from another area or country and find themselves sleeping rough, the 
aim should be to reconnect them back to their local community unless there is a good reason 
why they cannot return. There, they will be able to access housing and recovery services, and 

have support from family and friends.

P
age 121



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Adult Social Care and Communities
Scrutiny Committee – 
Report from Commissioning Director: Adults and DASS

_________________________________________________

Closure of Southfield and Wyatt House update 
 
 
The decision was taken by Cabinet to close Wyatt House and Southfield Care 
Homes in Stroud on 24th July 2019. This was called in and a special Scrutiny 
meeting was held on the 13th August. The decision was upheld. 
 
Since then residents and families have been consulted on the impact of the home 
closures and supported to identify suitable alternative accommodation. 
 
There are currently (6th September) 6 people remaining at Southfield and 11 at 
Wyatt House. Every effort is being made to move people sensitively and with care 
and to avoid leaving any one person as the last remaining resident in an empty 
home. 
There have been 3 deaths during the process, none of which are attributable to the 
move. 
 
Current plans will see Southfield empty and closing from 13th September and Wyatt 
House closing 2 weeks after on 4th October. 
 
There have been no staffing issues at either home. The majority of staff are seeking 
redundancy as they do not wish to travel outside Stroud to work. 
 
Commissioning staff continue to work with the provider (GCP) to determine a robust 
and sustainable way of working together in future.

The EIO project 

We continue to develop the two main pathways, home with care as a default or into a 
bed based pathway if the person requires further assessment or cannot for whatever 
reason go home due to physical incapacitation.

In terms of mobilisation for the home based pathway; Gloucestershire Care Services 
has had the specification for the service for some time, and we are awaiting a 
detailed operational plan for how the service will operate on a day to day basis. 

Page 123

Agenda Item 9



There is a Gloucestershire Care Services Board meeting on the 26th September 
where the plan will be ratified, and it will then be shared with partners after that point.

For the bed based pathway we are working with Orders of St John Care Trust to 
develop a working specification for reablement and assessment beds. We will be 
identifying homes in key strategic locations where these services will operate from. 
We are also currently awaiting a steer from the Clinical Commissioning Group 
regarding Discharge To Assess capacity, in order to ensure there is the right supply 
in the system.

As some of the above will not be available for winter, there is work underway on an 
interim plan.

The Caja team continue to support the Adult Single Programme and Lead 
Commissioner to deliver the above.

Employment

Currently the national employment rate for people with learning disabilities is 6%.   
This has remained constant for a number of years.   In Gloucestershire our ASCOF 
employment rate for people in long term care is around 8% which compared to 
others in our group is good.   This only counts those people who are in long term 
care and does not account for people who come into short term services, who are 
transitioning from education or who are in enablement or employment services.   Our 
employment rate including these groups is around 20 – 23%.  

Around 40% of disabled people are in work compared to 80% of the working age 
population.  Again this gap has not changed for many years.   As well as people with 
learning disabilities there are low employment rates for people with autism, sensory 
impairment and long term mental health conditions.

Gloucestershire ICS organisations offer a range of opportunities through both the 
organisations themselves and the supply chains.  As well as benefitting the 
individuals this proposal can benefit organisations through helping staff to 
understand more about a broad range of disabilities and needs which could 
positively impact on patient experience, build the capacity of managers to help 
existing staff with disabilities or health conditions which could improve retention rates 
and save on recruitment costs and raise the profile of the NHS as an employer 
encouraging a wider range of applicant for jobs and apprenticeships.

Key elements of this proposal are;
 All ICS organisations sign up to the LD Pledge
 Development of a detailed plan to include;

Page 124



 Work taster days for individuals and groups from schools (particularly special 
schools).  This would be tours of different areas to showcase the different 
roles that are available in organisations

 Work Experience Programmes – up to 8 weeks supported where appropriate 
by a job coach in a specific area of work which may be of interest to an 
individual 

 30/30 Challenge – a programme arranged through Forwards for young people 
with disabilities, who are not in education, employment or training (NEET) or 
who are a child in care.  This is primarily aimed at 15/16 year olds as a way of 
increasing their knowledge about an employer or area of work

 Supported Internships – arranged through colleges which are supported by a 
job coach and help young people in their last year of education develop the 
skills they need to move into sustainable employment (In some cases 
internships could lead into apprenticeships)

 Paid work

Admission Avoidance in Care Homes

GCC and the CCG continue to work with our providers to support nursing homes to 
use SWAST (ambulance services) appropriately thus releasing capacity for those 
who really require their urgent response. Using data supplied by SWAST, we are 
now able to identify those homes which call the ambulance service frequently and 
then do not require onward transfer to the acute hospital. This information is being 
utilised, alongside other indicators, by Rapid Response (RR) who, supported by 
iBCF monies for additional staff, target those homes with support and training 
regarding recognising the deteriorating patients (the NEWS score ) and then offering 
direct access to RR. 

The aim is that identified homes will become more confident decision makers and 
access RR as oppose to SWAST and that ongoing education will result in reduced 
callouts.

RR are rolling out the programme and currently have trained 20 homes with 
excellent feedback.

Work is now being explored with the Care Home Support Team to see if a modified 
programme could obtain similar results with residential homes.

Community Offer - Supporting frequent users of Services 

In January 2019, a pilot programme was established to help to support frequent 
users of one or more urgent care service. To enable us to identify high users of 
services across the integrated care system a series of data sets have been linked 
together, Population Health Management approaches are being used to understand 

Page 125



this data. The programme aims to create a ‘joined up’ approach to enabling people 
who are high users of urgent care across Gloucestershire to manage their health and 
wellbeing needs differently. 

Through taking a ‘joined up’ approach, and putting the person at the centre of their 
care, the projects and services which are part of this programme aim to find the most 
appropriate way of helping the individual manage their health and wellbeing needs.  
This may include a discussion at a network multi-disciplinary team meeting and an 
onward referral to another service or voluntary organisation, or and identification of 
an individual to coordinate their care. Key to this approach is the use of coaching 
which empowers people to take ownership of their health and focuses on their goals 
rather than what professionals want to achieve. 

As well as improved health and wellbeing outcomes for the individual, this 
programme will enable the integrated care system to have a deeper understanding 
of the high intensity user patient population, and will reduce the inappropriate use of 
urgent and emergency care by high users of services. Following a successful pilot 
this approach will be rolled out more widely across the county by late 2019.

Remote Monitoring – Telehealth in Gloucestershire

We are currently running a small pilot of 7 people, to understand if there is a benefit 
of using Telehealth to monitor people with learning difficulties to identify early risk of 
deterioration and onset of sepsis using the National Early Warning Score 2 
(NEWS2). Staff have been given training with the Telehealth equipment, ‘the 
deteriorating patient and NEWS2’ alongside this. 

Early findings show a variety of unique baselines for these individuals and they are 
often 4 and above as their normal. The majority of individuals without a learning 
disability have a NEWS2 of 0 as a starting point.  Using Telehealth is enabling GP’s 
and care home staff to gain a better understanding of the individuals unique ‘normal’ 
baseline observations. Telehealth also allows the care staff to ask questions that 
could indicate ‘soft signs’ of deterioration for that person. This has enabled the staff 
to monitor them more closely and to identify quicker if someone is deteriorating. This 
was demonstrated recently when one patient was identified early as being unwell 
from his Telehealth data; care staff escalated their concerns to the manager who 
contacted the hospital which resulted in him being admitted and treated immediately 
for sepsis. Another benefit of the monitoring is that the individuals become 
desensitised to the equipment and are becoming more willing to have their 
observations taken. 

We are supporting the current care home project in Cheltenham working with 4 
identified homes, using Telehealth to support the management of people who are at 
risk of being admitted. The equipment is supporting staff within the care homes to 

Page 126



understand baselines observations for the residents using the equipment in order to 
detect early when a patient is deteriorating. Care home staff reported that it enabled 
them to ‘keep a closer eye on people’ and that they felt more confident in recognising 
when the monitoring is out of normal ranges. One resident was asked how he felt 
about the monitoring and he stated that he thought it was a ‘wonderful scheme and 
felt that everyone should have this’. He liked that fact that someone was monitoring 
his blood pressure. 
We have now extended the pilot to test if this could also work with people who have 
dementia. Telehealth has been set up in a specialised care home for people with 
dementia and being monitored by their GP.  

A user Telehealth survey for the evaluation has been developed and circulated in an 
article in ‘what’s new this week’ and to all GP practices and other services using 
Telehealth. 

Redevelopment of Pre-Placement Contract

Commissioning is leading on the redevelopment of the “Pre-Placement Contract” 
(PPC). There are over 6000 nursing and residential care home beds in 
Gloucestershire and as at 31st March 2018 1843 beds were commissioned under 
this contract (Care Home Strategy 2018).  This contract dates back to 2006 and is 
out of date in terms of key legislation and also in terms of meeting our 
commissioning intentions going forward. Whilst the legislation updates can be 
incorporated into contract amendments there are several key areas which warrant 
the development of a new contract. 

Change from net to gross payment: 
Currently the GCC assessed financial contribution is collected by the provider from 
the resident. GCC pay the home the difference between the contribution and the 
agreed GCC rate - the “net” price.  Care Act guidance expects that a local authority 
will pay the provider the “gross” price and collect the individual’s contribution from 
them. 

Inclusion of equipment:  
Guidance in the current contract regarding the provision of equipment is limited. This 
guidance should be redeveloped to clarify what equipment should be included in as 
standard in residential and nursing homes and what will be supplied by GCC/GCCG. 

Short term beds:
The new contract needs to include the ability to purchase a variety of short term 
beds that will cover all of our commissioning needs under the “Home First” initiative, 
including respite and re-ablement. We need the re-ablement offer to successfully 
provide a short term intervention either: after a hospital stay that returns people 
home in a timely manner; or to avoid a hospital stay becoming necessary by 

Page 127



providing an intervention that returns people home with an enhanced level of 
independence.  

Single contract for everyone: 
The PPC currently covers all service user groups but a number of more specialised 
beds are currently commissioned at individually negotiated rates. Going forward the 
intention is that the contract will facilitate the commissioning of all bed based care 
within a consistent and transparent pricing structure with only the most complex 
cases being individually negotiated. 

Commissioning process: 
Whilst changes to update the legislation within the PPC can be done as an 
amendment the other changes are significant ones which will require a new contract. 
In order to implement this, a commissioning process will need to be employed and in 
doing so careful consideration needs to be given to how price will be determined.

Each of these considerations carries risks and opportunities. We are proposing 
therefore a two stage process which would see minor amendments to the current 
contract in the first stage ensuring a more robust contract from December 2019 and 
a longer period to undertake full analysis and full engagement regarding more 
impactful changes leading to a new contract in April 2021.

Page 128



Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny
Committee

Quarter 1 Reporting 2019/20

The following scorecards are enclosed:

This report has been prepared by the Performance & Improvement Team using data up to 30/06/2019

Page No.
Key to Symbols 2
Adult Social Care Performance 3
Public Health 5
Public Protection Parking & Libraries 10
Strategic Risk Register Summary 12

1

P
age 129

javascript:app.OpenBookmark(1,2243,true,null,null,false,'','');


Risk Impact/Consequence

Likelihood 1
Insignificant

2
Minor

3
Moderate

4
Major

5
Critical

Almost
certain
(5)

5 10 15 20 25

Likely
(4) 4 8 12 16 20

Probable
(3) 3 6 9 12 15

Possible
(2) 2 4 6 8 10

Rare
(1) 1 2 3 4 5

Level of
Risk

Score

Low 1  6
Moderate 7 – 12
High 13 – 25

Performance better than tolerance

Performance within tolerance

Performance worse than tolerance

No information

Missing target

No value

Value Increasing (Smaller is Better)

Value Decreasing (Smaller is Better)

Value Increasing (Bigger is Better)

Value Decreasing (Bigger is Better)

No change

Bigger is better A bigger value for this measure is good

Smaller is
better

A smaller value for this measure is good

Plan is best Where it is best for performance to be on target rather than above or below

Reporting Basis

Year to Date Performance accumulated over the year

Rolling Year Average performance over a 12 month
period

Annual Performance measured once a year

Latest
Quarter

Performance this quarter

Snapshot Performance at a particular point in time

Forecast Predicted position at the end of the year

Key to Symbols

Key to Symbols  Risk

Risk Rating
(calculated by multiplying the Impact with

the Likelihood of each risk)

The Gloucestershire Risk Matrix

2

P
age 130



Adult Social Care Performance

Cllr Kathy Williams
Cllr Roger Wilson

Employment & Settled Accommodation

Proportion of Adults with a learning
disability in paid employment

Bigger is Better Monthly n/a 20.37 21.21 21.93 23.24 15.00 Publicly Reported

Proportion of adults in contact with
secondary mental health services living
independently, with or without support

Bigger is Better Quarterly 55.0 % 87.0 % 87.0 % 87.0 % 88.0 % 80.0 % Publicly Reported

Proportion of adults with a learning
disability who live in their own home or
with their family

Bigger is Better Monthly 73.30 75.90 76.05 76.24 76.56 75.00 Publicly Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Comparator
Group
15/16

Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Target Jun
19 Comments Jun19

Reablement & Preventative

Number of Adults in Reablement/Enablement Bigger is Better Snapshot 365 363 327 348 330 Publicly Reported
Number of Adults in other care (i.e Preventative) Bigger is Better Snapshot 484 484 490 711 532 Publicly Reported
% of clients with more than 1 episode of reablement
in the last 12 months

Bigger is Better Data unavailable reporting to commence from Quarter 2 Publicly Reported

% of clients who need no long term care after their
period of reablement

Bigger is Better
Latest
Quarter

91.7 % 89.6 % 87.1 % 89.8 %
This is currently measured for LD and MH clients only. A data request has been
submitted to also measure OP and PD clients.

Publicly Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Comments Jun19

Admissions & Transfers

Permanent admissions 1864 to
residential & nursing care homes per
100,000 population

Smaller is Better Rolling Year 15.2 12.5 14.4 16.3 16.3 13.8 12.0

This equates to a total of 51 permanent admissions in the
rolling year to the end of June 2019, a 15% reduction from
the 60 permanent admissions in the rolling year to the end
of March 2019

Publicly Reported

Permanent admissions aged 65+ to
residential & nursing care homes per
100,000 population

Smaller is Better Rolling Year 555.9 513.8 494.7 478.8 560.0 397.1 500.0
This equates to a total of 525 permanent admissions in
the rolling year to the end of June 2019

Publicly Reported

Delayed transfers of care from hospital
due to Adult Social Care per 100,000
pop

Smaller is Better Rolling Year 5.50 4.61 4.39 4.19 4.51 4.75 Publicly Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Comparator
Group
17/18

Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Target Jun
19 Comments Jun19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Comparator
Group
17/18

Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Target Jun
19 Comments Jun19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Comparator
Group
17/18

Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Comments Mar19

Long Term Care

Number of Adults in Community Care Smaller is Better Snapshot 3,311 3,262 3,167 3,181 3,023 Publicly Reported
Number of Adults in Residential Care Smaller is Better Snapshot 1,285 1,275 1,265 1,290 1,268 Publicly Reported
Number of Adults in Nursing Care Smaller is Better Snapshot 645 644 650 618 611 Publicly Reported

% of service users who have had a review/ re
assessment of their needs within the last 12 months.

Bigger is Better Snapshot 77.3 % 73.0 % 68.0 % 61.7 % 50.9 % 80.0 % Publicly Reported

Average waiting time for a Carers Assessment in weeks Smaller is Better Snapshot Data unavailable reporting to commence from Quarter 2 Publicly Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Comments Jun19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Target Jun

19 Comments Jun19

Customer Services

% of calls offered that are answered Bigger is Better
Latest
Quarter

89 % 89 % 90 % 94 % 96 %

Answered rates were consistently above target for April, May and June across
Adults and the switchboard. This was due to a combination of an increase in
staff completing their probation and working independently and fairly static call
volumes.

Publicly Reported

% of ASC contacts signposted or closed Bigger is Better
Latest
Quarter

22.7 % 29.6 % 31.7 % 32.7 % 34.2 % Publicly Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Comments Jun19

3

P
age 131

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col19')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col20')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col21')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col22')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col23')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col24')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col25')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col26')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col29')


Adult Social Care Performance

Cllr Kathy Williams
Cllr Roger Wilson

Employment & Settled Accommodation

Proportion of Adults with a learning
disability in paid employment

Bigger is Better Monthly n/a 20.37 21.21 21.93 23.24 15.00 Publicly Reported

Proportion of adults in contact with
secondary mental health services living
independently, with or without support

Bigger is Better Quarterly 55.0 % 87.0 % 87.0 % 87.0 % 88.0 % 80.0 % Publicly Reported

Proportion of adults with a learning
disability who live in their own home or
with their family

Bigger is Better Monthly 73.30 75.90 76.05 76.24 76.56 75.00 Publicly Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Comparator
Group
15/16

Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Target Jun
19 Comments Jun19

Reablement & Preventative

Number of Adults in Reablement/Enablement Bigger is Better Snapshot 365 363 327 348 330 Publicly Reported
Number of Adults in other care (i.e Preventative) Bigger is Better Snapshot 484 484 490 711 532 Publicly Reported
% of clients with more than 1 episode of reablement
in the last 12 months

Bigger is Better Data unavailable reporting to commence from Quarter 2 Publicly Reported

% of clients who need no long term care after their
period of reablement

Bigger is Better
Latest
Quarter

91.7 % 89.6 % 87.1 % 89.8 %
This is currently measured for LD and MH clients only. A data request has been
submitted to also measure OP and PD clients.

Publicly Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Comments Jun19

Admissions & Transfers

Permanent admissions 1864 to
residential & nursing care homes per
100,000 population

Smaller is Better Rolling Year 15.2 12.5 14.4 16.3 16.3 13.8 12.0

This equates to a total of 51 permanent admissions in the
rolling year to the end of June 2019, a 15% reduction from
the 60 permanent admissions in the rolling year to the end
of March 2019

Publicly Reported

Permanent admissions aged 65+ to
residential & nursing care homes per
100,000 population

Smaller is Better Rolling Year 555.9 513.8 494.7 478.8 560.0 397.1 500.0
This equates to a total of 525 permanent admissions in
the rolling year to the end of June 2019

Publicly Reported

Delayed transfers of care from hospital
due to Adult Social Care per 100,000
pop

Smaller is Better Rolling Year 5.50 4.61 4.39 4.19 4.51 4.75 Publicly Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Comparator
Group
17/18

Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Target Jun
19 Comments Jun19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Comparator
Group
17/18

Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Target Jun
19 Comments Jun19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Comparator
Group
17/18

Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Comments Mar19

Long Term Care

Number of Adults in Community Care Smaller is Better Snapshot 3,311 3,262 3,167 3,181 3,023 Publicly Reported
Number of Adults in Residential Care Smaller is Better Snapshot 1,285 1,275 1,265 1,290 1,268 Publicly Reported
Number of Adults in Nursing Care Smaller is Better Snapshot 645 644 650 618 611 Publicly Reported

% of service users who have had a review/ re
assessment of their needs within the last 12 months.

Bigger is Better Snapshot 77.3 % 73.0 % 68.0 % 61.7 % 50.9 % 80.0 % Publicly Reported

Average waiting time for a Carers Assessment in weeks Smaller is Better Snapshot Data unavailable reporting to commence from Quarter 2 Publicly Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Comments Jun19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Target Jun

19 Comments Jun19

Customer Services

% of calls offered that are answered Bigger is Better
Latest
Quarter

89 % 89 % 90 % 94 % 96 %

Answered rates were consistently above target for April, May and June across
Adults and the switchboard. This was due to a combination of an increase in
staff completing their probation and working independently and fairly static call
volumes.

Publicly Reported

% of ASC contacts signposted or closed Bigger is Better
Latest
Quarter

22.7 % 29.6 % 31.7 % 32.7 % 34.2 % Publicly Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Comments Jun19

4

P
age 132

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col9')


Public Health
Cllr Tim Harman

% of eligible patients
offered an NHS health
check

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

2.4 % 3.6 % 2.0 % 2.5 % 5.0 %

Q1 19/20 data is not currently available due to technical
issues with the data extraction tool which is impacting on
data quality and completeness. Work is underway to
resolve these; and an update is expected at the end of Q2.
There is an alternative data set available if the problem
cannot be resolved.

Publicly
Reported

% of all customers who
achieve a significant risk
factor improvement

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

73.0 % 76.0 % 72.0 % 68.0 % 72.0 % 75.0 %

High numbers of service users continue to make behaviour
changes that will impact on their health.   There has been
an increase in the numbers achieving in this indicator from
601/888 (68%) in Q4 to 817/1141 (72%) in Q1. Of the
1141, HLS achievement was 351/458 (77%)  and SW
466/683 (68%) Of the 324 that did not meet the threshold
for significant improvement 215 (19%) made some
improvement in achieving their behaviour change goal.
Therefore in total 1,032 (90%) made some improvement
in their behaviour change goal.

Publicly
Reported

% of infants being
breastfed at 68 weeks
(breastfeeding prevalence)

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 51.60 53.60 54.30 53.70 56.30

Q4 18/19 rate of 56.3% continues the improvement achieved in Q3 but
remains below the local aim of 58%.  The retention rate of mothers recorded
as breastfeeding at 2 weeks who are still breastfeeding at 8 weeks is 81%.
GCC continues to commission a revised Breastfeeding Peer Support service
targeting areas with lower rates of uptake and increased numbers of younger
mums than the Gloucestershire average. BFPS offer support in the more
deprived wards of Gloucester, Cheltenham and the Forest of Dean.  Further
initiatives contributing to increasing Breastfeeding rates are facilitated by
the Gloucestershire Infant Feeding Strategic partnership led by GCC.
Q4 18/19 rate of 56.3%  continues to improve rates towards local aim of
58%.  The retention rate of mothers recorded as breastfeeding at 2 weeks
who are still breastfeeding at 8 weeks is 81%. GCC continues to commission
a revised Breastfeeding Peer Support service targeting areas with lower rates
of uptake and increased numbers of younger mums than the Gloucestershire
average. BFPS offer support in the more deprived wards of Gloucester,
Cheltenham and the Forest of Dean.  Further initiatives contributing to
increasing Breastfeeding rates are facilitated by the Gloucestershire Infant
Feeding Strategic partnership led by GCC.

Publicly
Reported

Total no. of pregnant
smokers achieving a 4
week quit

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

28 31 25 25 22

The numbers of pregnant women achieving a 4 week quit is broken down by
those accessing support from HLS and those receiving support via the
PHES.

For HLS there has been a drop from in the numbers of 4 week quits achieved
as well as a significant drop in the quit rate.  Q3 figures were 25/31
(81%) whereas Q4 saw 19/34 (56%).  Data for the PHES has increased from 0
in Q3 to 3/8 (38%) in Q4.  This equates to an overall quit rate of 22/42 (52%)

HLS are still achieving above the national quit rate average (50%) but there
has been a drop in performance.  This is largely due to the appointment of
an additional specialised maternity coach and the requirement to train her
in both systems and processes as well as specialist smoking in pregnancy
behaviour change techniques.  This has taken some capacity away from our
existing coach i.e. both to train the new coach but also moving some women
over to the new coach for support.   We therefore expected the quit rate to be
lower whilst she gains experience and builds relationships within the
maternity system.

HLS annual performance was 100/127 (79%) of women achieving a
successful quit attempt, which is an exceptional quit rate.  PHES
achievement was 3/20 (15%) which was expected as GP's and Pharmacy's do
not have the expertise to support pregnant women and who only support
those that do not wish to access HLS. 

there is a significant amount of work taking place around this area to build
on the above results

Publicly
Reported

% of pregnant smokers
achieving a 4 week quit

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

? 88.5 % 80.6 % 64.0 % 52.3 % 70.0 %
See above.

Publicly
Reported

Proportion of adult alcohol
misusers who have left
treatment successfully

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

29.3 % 27.7 % 32.6 % 32.1 % 38.7 % 32.0 %

Performance continues to improve and meet the
expectations set in the drug and alcohol contract. This
performance places Gloucestershire in the top quartile of
Local Authority comparator families .

This upward performance is expected to continue in
2019/20

Publicly
Reported

Proportion of all Opiate
Users in treatment, who
successfully completed
treatment and did not
represent within 6 months
of completion

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

4.6 4.1 4.6 5.3 7.0 5.4

Performance continues to improve and meet the
expectations set in the drug and alcohol contract. We
expect to see this continue to improve in 2019/20.

This performance places Gloucestershire closer to the top
quartile of Local Authority comparator families
performance and would require at least 6 additional
completions to go into the top quartile.

Publicly
Reported

Proportion of all Non
Opiate Users in treatment,
who successfully
completed treatment and
did not represent within 6
months of completion

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

22.79 21.01 27.20 26.90 32.50 28.30

Performance continues to improve and meet the
expectations set in the drug and alcohol contract. This
performance places Gloucestershire in the top quartile of
Local Authority comparator performance .

Publicly
Reported

% of Universal partnership
plus infants who receive a
new birth visit by 30 days
old

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

100.0 % 100.0 %

Families are categorised by level of need indicators
Universal (U), Universal Plus (UP) and Universal
Partnership Plus (UPP) these are nationally recognised
offers in Health Visiting. This indicator relates to the
highest need category (UPP). Performance for Q3 2018/19
was also 100%.

Publicly
Reported

% of Universal partnership
plus children who received
a 12mth review by the age
of 15mths

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

95.8 % 100.0 %

Families are categorised by level of need indicators
Universal (U), Universal Plus (UP) and Universal
Partnership Plus (UPP) these are nationally recognised
offers in Health Visiting. This indicator relates to the
highest need category (UPP). From a cohort of 71 eligible
UPP children 68 children receive d their one year review
and 3 did not attend. These children have had their
appointment rebooked as per protocol for UP and UPP
children.  Performance for Q3 2018/19 was 96.2%.

Publicly
Reported

% Reception Children
overweight including
obesity

Smaller is
Better

Annual 24.7 % 23.1 % 22.2 % 24.5 % 23.8 %

23.8% children measured in 2017/18 had an access weight (either
overweight or obesity. This is significantly higher than both regional and
national levels at 21.9% and 22.4% respectively. The county average
conceals significant incounty variation with the prevalence of excess weight
at district level ranging from 21.7% in Cheltenham to 25.9% in
Tewkesbury.   The new 'first 1001 days' targeted healthy lifestyles
programme delivered by the healthy lifestyles service aims to support
pregnant and postnatal women to maintain a healthier weight and to
support obesity prevention within the family.  Following our participation in
the national whole systems obesity programme we are mapping obesity
prevention activity to inform our development priorities.

Publicly
Reported

% Year 6 Children
overweight including
obesity

Smaller is
Better

Annual 32.1 % 31.3 % 32.1 % 31.1 % 32.1 %

32.1% children measured in 2017/18 had an access weight (either
overweight or obesity).  This is significantly lower than the national level of
34.3% and in line with the regional average. The county average conceals
significant incounty variation with the prevalence of excess weight at
district level ranging from 27.8% in Cotswolds to 36.8% in
Gloucester.  Levels of obesity are 17.8% at county level, which is
significantly lower than the national level (20.1%) but higher than the
regional level (16.8%).     The county average conceals significant in
county variation with the prevalence of obesity at district level ranging from
13.5% in Cotswolds to 21.1% in Gloucester.  The level of severe obesity in
Gloucester is 5.0, which is higher (but not statistically significantly higher)
than the national average of 4.2%, and is the highest level of any district in
the South West region. Following our participation in the national whole
systems obesity programme we are mapping obesity prevention activity to
inform our development priorities.  Funding has been secured for a two year
pilot programme to develop and deliver weight management support for
families with children affected by obesity.  Service delivery will start in the
Autumn and an independent evaluation of the offer will be used to shape
future commissioning.

Publicly
Reported

% of late HIV diagnosis 
Annual

Smaller is
Better

Annual 42.2 % 43.3 % 36.1 % 50.7 % 63.8 % 40.0 %

**No new data available this Qtr** Data shown covers the
three year period 201517 and the indicator is updated by
PHE annually. Gloucestershire has now had two
consecutive periods (three year rolling averages) which
show that a higher proportion of diagnoses of HIV in the
county are classified as 'late'. For the three years 2015 to
2017 this equates to 44 cases diagnosed late. While we
have relatively few cases of HIV in Gloucestershire overall,
it is important to understand the cause of the issue, and to
identify interventions to reduce the risk of late diagnosis.
The Public Health team have been working with Public
Health England Field Epidemiology Service to review the
data in more depth. A group of multiagency
stakeholders has been brought together to review the
issues (and data) and a number of actions are being taken
forward. Updates are being provided to the Director of
Public Health.

Publicly
Reported

Suicide rate per 100K
Population

Smaller is
Better

3 Year
Average

12.9 12.2 10.6 10.8 9.8 9.6

This figure is the three year average suicide rate per
100,000 population (201517) which is published
nationally to enable comparisons between areas.  This is
the latest available data which has approximately one
year lag due to reporting delays which occur as a result of
the inquest decision process.  Providing three year
averages reduces the fluctuations due to random chance
which occur when analysing small
numbers.  Gloucestershire's suicide rate is statistically
similar to the England Average.

Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19
Target Qtr
Jun19

Comments Qtr Jun19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Comments Qtr Mar19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19
Target Qtr
Mar19

Comments Qtr Mar19

Annual Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar15 Qtr Mar16 Qtr Mar17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Mar19 Comments Qtr Mar19

Annual Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Year in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec14 Qtr Dec15 Qtr Dec16 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

Comments Qtr Dec18

Three Year Average Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep15
(1113)

Qtr Sep16
(1214)

Qtr Sep17
(1315)

Qtr Sep18
(1416)

Qtr Jun19
(1517)

Target Qtr
Jun19

Comments Qtr Jun19

5

P
age 133

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col18')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')


Public Health
Cllr Tim Harman

% of eligible patients
offered an NHS health
check

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

2.4 % 3.6 % 2.0 % 2.5 % 5.0 %

Q1 19/20 data is not currently available due to technical
issues with the data extraction tool which is impacting on
data quality and completeness. Work is underway to
resolve these; and an update is expected at the end of Q2.
There is an alternative data set available if the problem
cannot be resolved.

Publicly
Reported

% of all customers who
achieve a significant risk
factor improvement

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

73.0 % 76.0 % 72.0 % 68.0 % 72.0 % 75.0 %

High numbers of service users continue to make behaviour
changes that will impact on their health.   There has been
an increase in the numbers achieving in this indicator from
601/888 (68%) in Q4 to 817/1141 (72%) in Q1. Of the
1141, HLS achievement was 351/458 (77%)  and SW
466/683 (68%) Of the 324 that did not meet the threshold
for significant improvement 215 (19%) made some
improvement in achieving their behaviour change goal.
Therefore in total 1,032 (90%) made some improvement
in their behaviour change goal.

Publicly
Reported

% of infants being
breastfed at 68 weeks
(breastfeeding prevalence)

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 51.60 53.60 54.30 53.70 56.30

Q4 18/19 rate of 56.3% continues the improvement achieved in Q3 but
remains below the local aim of 58%.  The retention rate of mothers recorded
as breastfeeding at 2 weeks who are still breastfeeding at 8 weeks is 81%.
GCC continues to commission a revised Breastfeeding Peer Support service
targeting areas with lower rates of uptake and increased numbers of younger
mums than the Gloucestershire average. BFPS offer support in the more
deprived wards of Gloucester, Cheltenham and the Forest of Dean.  Further
initiatives contributing to increasing Breastfeeding rates are facilitated by
the Gloucestershire Infant Feeding Strategic partnership led by GCC.
Q4 18/19 rate of 56.3%  continues to improve rates towards local aim of
58%.  The retention rate of mothers recorded as breastfeeding at 2 weeks
who are still breastfeeding at 8 weeks is 81%. GCC continues to commission
a revised Breastfeeding Peer Support service targeting areas with lower rates
of uptake and increased numbers of younger mums than the Gloucestershire
average. BFPS offer support in the more deprived wards of Gloucester,
Cheltenham and the Forest of Dean.  Further initiatives contributing to
increasing Breastfeeding rates are facilitated by the Gloucestershire Infant
Feeding Strategic partnership led by GCC.

Publicly
Reported

Total no. of pregnant
smokers achieving a 4
week quit

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

28 31 25 25 22

The numbers of pregnant women achieving a 4 week quit is broken down by
those accessing support from HLS and those receiving support via the
PHES.

For HLS there has been a drop from in the numbers of 4 week quits achieved
as well as a significant drop in the quit rate.  Q3 figures were 25/31
(81%) whereas Q4 saw 19/34 (56%).  Data for the PHES has increased from 0
in Q3 to 3/8 (38%) in Q4.  This equates to an overall quit rate of 22/42 (52%)

HLS are still achieving above the national quit rate average (50%) but there
has been a drop in performance.  This is largely due to the appointment of
an additional specialised maternity coach and the requirement to train her
in both systems and processes as well as specialist smoking in pregnancy
behaviour change techniques.  This has taken some capacity away from our
existing coach i.e. both to train the new coach but also moving some women
over to the new coach for support.   We therefore expected the quit rate to be
lower whilst she gains experience and builds relationships within the
maternity system.

HLS annual performance was 100/127 (79%) of women achieving a
successful quit attempt, which is an exceptional quit rate.  PHES
achievement was 3/20 (15%) which was expected as GP's and Pharmacy's do
not have the expertise to support pregnant women and who only support
those that do not wish to access HLS. 

there is a significant amount of work taking place around this area to build
on the above results

Publicly
Reported

% of pregnant smokers
achieving a 4 week quit

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

? 88.5 % 80.6 % 64.0 % 52.3 % 70.0 %
See above.

Publicly
Reported

Proportion of adult alcohol
misusers who have left
treatment successfully

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

29.3 % 27.7 % 32.6 % 32.1 % 38.7 % 32.0 %

Performance continues to improve and meet the
expectations set in the drug and alcohol contract. This
performance places Gloucestershire in the top quartile of
Local Authority comparator families .

This upward performance is expected to continue in
2019/20

Publicly
Reported

Proportion of all Opiate
Users in treatment, who
successfully completed
treatment and did not
represent within 6 months
of completion

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

4.6 4.1 4.6 5.3 7.0 5.4

Performance continues to improve and meet the
expectations set in the drug and alcohol contract. We
expect to see this continue to improve in 2019/20.

This performance places Gloucestershire closer to the top
quartile of Local Authority comparator families
performance and would require at least 6 additional
completions to go into the top quartile.

Publicly
Reported

Proportion of all Non
Opiate Users in treatment,
who successfully
completed treatment and
did not represent within 6
months of completion

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

22.79 21.01 27.20 26.90 32.50 28.30

Performance continues to improve and meet the
expectations set in the drug and alcohol contract. This
performance places Gloucestershire in the top quartile of
Local Authority comparator performance .

Publicly
Reported

% of Universal partnership
plus infants who receive a
new birth visit by 30 days
old

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

100.0 % 100.0 %

Families are categorised by level of need indicators
Universal (U), Universal Plus (UP) and Universal
Partnership Plus (UPP) these are nationally recognised
offers in Health Visiting. This indicator relates to the
highest need category (UPP). Performance for Q3 2018/19
was also 100%.

Publicly
Reported

% of Universal partnership
plus children who received
a 12mth review by the age
of 15mths

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

95.8 % 100.0 %

Families are categorised by level of need indicators
Universal (U), Universal Plus (UP) and Universal
Partnership Plus (UPP) these are nationally recognised
offers in Health Visiting. This indicator relates to the
highest need category (UPP). From a cohort of 71 eligible
UPP children 68 children receive d their one year review
and 3 did not attend. These children have had their
appointment rebooked as per protocol for UP and UPP
children.  Performance for Q3 2018/19 was 96.2%.

Publicly
Reported

% Reception Children
overweight including
obesity

Smaller is
Better

Annual 24.7 % 23.1 % 22.2 % 24.5 % 23.8 %

23.8% children measured in 2017/18 had an access weight (either
overweight or obesity. This is significantly higher than both regional and
national levels at 21.9% and 22.4% respectively. The county average
conceals significant incounty variation with the prevalence of excess weight
at district level ranging from 21.7% in Cheltenham to 25.9% in
Tewkesbury.   The new 'first 1001 days' targeted healthy lifestyles
programme delivered by the healthy lifestyles service aims to support
pregnant and postnatal women to maintain a healthier weight and to
support obesity prevention within the family.  Following our participation in
the national whole systems obesity programme we are mapping obesity
prevention activity to inform our development priorities.

Publicly
Reported

% Year 6 Children
overweight including
obesity

Smaller is
Better

Annual 32.1 % 31.3 % 32.1 % 31.1 % 32.1 %

32.1% children measured in 2017/18 had an access weight (either
overweight or obesity).  This is significantly lower than the national level of
34.3% and in line with the regional average. The county average conceals
significant incounty variation with the prevalence of excess weight at
district level ranging from 27.8% in Cotswolds to 36.8% in
Gloucester.  Levels of obesity are 17.8% at county level, which is
significantly lower than the national level (20.1%) but higher than the
regional level (16.8%).     The county average conceals significant in
county variation with the prevalence of obesity at district level ranging from
13.5% in Cotswolds to 21.1% in Gloucester.  The level of severe obesity in
Gloucester is 5.0, which is higher (but not statistically significantly higher)
than the national average of 4.2%, and is the highest level of any district in
the South West region. Following our participation in the national whole
systems obesity programme we are mapping obesity prevention activity to
inform our development priorities.  Funding has been secured for a two year
pilot programme to develop and deliver weight management support for
families with children affected by obesity.  Service delivery will start in the
Autumn and an independent evaluation of the offer will be used to shape
future commissioning.

Publicly
Reported

% of late HIV diagnosis 
Annual

Smaller is
Better

Annual 42.2 % 43.3 % 36.1 % 50.7 % 63.8 % 40.0 %

**No new data available this Qtr** Data shown covers the
three year period 201517 and the indicator is updated by
PHE annually. Gloucestershire has now had two
consecutive periods (three year rolling averages) which
show that a higher proportion of diagnoses of HIV in the
county are classified as 'late'. For the three years 2015 to
2017 this equates to 44 cases diagnosed late. While we
have relatively few cases of HIV in Gloucestershire overall,
it is important to understand the cause of the issue, and to
identify interventions to reduce the risk of late diagnosis.
The Public Health team have been working with Public
Health England Field Epidemiology Service to review the
data in more depth. A group of multiagency
stakeholders has been brought together to review the
issues (and data) and a number of actions are being taken
forward. Updates are being provided to the Director of
Public Health.

Publicly
Reported

Suicide rate per 100K
Population

Smaller is
Better

3 Year
Average

12.9 12.2 10.6 10.8 9.8 9.6

This figure is the three year average suicide rate per
100,000 population (201517) which is published
nationally to enable comparisons between areas.  This is
the latest available data which has approximately one
year lag due to reporting delays which occur as a result of
the inquest decision process.  Providing three year
averages reduces the fluctuations due to random chance
which occur when analysing small
numbers.  Gloucestershire's suicide rate is statistically
similar to the England Average.

Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19
Target Qtr
Jun19

Comments Qtr Jun19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Comments Qtr Mar19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19
Target Qtr
Mar19

Comments Qtr Mar19

Annual Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar15 Qtr Mar16 Qtr Mar17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Mar19 Comments Qtr Mar19

Annual Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Year in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec14 Qtr Dec15 Qtr Dec16 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

Comments Qtr Dec18

Three Year Average Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep15
(1113)

Qtr Sep16
(1214)

Qtr Sep17
(1315)

Qtr Sep18
(1416)

Qtr Jun19
(1517)

Target Qtr
Jun19

Comments Qtr Jun19

6

P
age 134

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col18')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col19')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col9')


Public Health
Cllr Tim Harman

% of eligible patients
offered an NHS health
check

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

2.4 % 3.6 % 2.0 % 2.5 % 5.0 %

Q1 19/20 data is not currently available due to technical
issues with the data extraction tool which is impacting on
data quality and completeness. Work is underway to
resolve these; and an update is expected at the end of Q2.
There is an alternative data set available if the problem
cannot be resolved.

Publicly
Reported

% of all customers who
achieve a significant risk
factor improvement

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

73.0 % 76.0 % 72.0 % 68.0 % 72.0 % 75.0 %

High numbers of service users continue to make behaviour
changes that will impact on their health.   There has been
an increase in the numbers achieving in this indicator from
601/888 (68%) in Q4 to 817/1141 (72%) in Q1. Of the
1141, HLS achievement was 351/458 (77%)  and SW
466/683 (68%) Of the 324 that did not meet the threshold
for significant improvement 215 (19%) made some
improvement in achieving their behaviour change goal.
Therefore in total 1,032 (90%) made some improvement
in their behaviour change goal.

Publicly
Reported

% of infants being
breastfed at 68 weeks
(breastfeeding prevalence)

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 51.60 53.60 54.30 53.70 56.30

Q4 18/19 rate of 56.3% continues the improvement achieved in Q3 but
remains below the local aim of 58%.  The retention rate of mothers recorded
as breastfeeding at 2 weeks who are still breastfeeding at 8 weeks is 81%.
GCC continues to commission a revised Breastfeeding Peer Support service
targeting areas with lower rates of uptake and increased numbers of younger
mums than the Gloucestershire average. BFPS offer support in the more
deprived wards of Gloucester, Cheltenham and the Forest of Dean.  Further
initiatives contributing to increasing Breastfeeding rates are facilitated by
the Gloucestershire Infant Feeding Strategic partnership led by GCC.
Q4 18/19 rate of 56.3%  continues to improve rates towards local aim of
58%.  The retention rate of mothers recorded as breastfeeding at 2 weeks
who are still breastfeeding at 8 weeks is 81%. GCC continues to commission
a revised Breastfeeding Peer Support service targeting areas with lower rates
of uptake and increased numbers of younger mums than the Gloucestershire
average. BFPS offer support in the more deprived wards of Gloucester,
Cheltenham and the Forest of Dean.  Further initiatives contributing to
increasing Breastfeeding rates are facilitated by the Gloucestershire Infant
Feeding Strategic partnership led by GCC.

Publicly
Reported

Total no. of pregnant
smokers achieving a 4
week quit

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

28 31 25 25 22

The numbers of pregnant women achieving a 4 week quit is broken down by
those accessing support from HLS and those receiving support via the
PHES.

For HLS there has been a drop from in the numbers of 4 week quits achieved
as well as a significant drop in the quit rate.  Q3 figures were 25/31
(81%) whereas Q4 saw 19/34 (56%).  Data for the PHES has increased from 0
in Q3 to 3/8 (38%) in Q4.  This equates to an overall quit rate of 22/42 (52%)

HLS are still achieving above the national quit rate average (50%) but there
has been a drop in performance.  This is largely due to the appointment of
an additional specialised maternity coach and the requirement to train her
in both systems and processes as well as specialist smoking in pregnancy
behaviour change techniques.  This has taken some capacity away from our
existing coach i.e. both to train the new coach but also moving some women
over to the new coach for support.   We therefore expected the quit rate to be
lower whilst she gains experience and builds relationships within the
maternity system.

HLS annual performance was 100/127 (79%) of women achieving a
successful quit attempt, which is an exceptional quit rate.  PHES
achievement was 3/20 (15%) which was expected as GP's and Pharmacy's do
not have the expertise to support pregnant women and who only support
those that do not wish to access HLS. 

there is a significant amount of work taking place around this area to build
on the above results

Publicly
Reported

% of pregnant smokers
achieving a 4 week quit

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

? 88.5 % 80.6 % 64.0 % 52.3 % 70.0 %
See above.

Publicly
Reported

Proportion of adult alcohol
misusers who have left
treatment successfully

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

29.3 % 27.7 % 32.6 % 32.1 % 38.7 % 32.0 %

Performance continues to improve and meet the
expectations set in the drug and alcohol contract. This
performance places Gloucestershire in the top quartile of
Local Authority comparator families .

This upward performance is expected to continue in
2019/20

Publicly
Reported

Proportion of all Opiate
Users in treatment, who
successfully completed
treatment and did not
represent within 6 months
of completion

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

4.6 4.1 4.6 5.3 7.0 5.4

Performance continues to improve and meet the
expectations set in the drug and alcohol contract. We
expect to see this continue to improve in 2019/20.

This performance places Gloucestershire closer to the top
quartile of Local Authority comparator families
performance and would require at least 6 additional
completions to go into the top quartile.

Publicly
Reported

Proportion of all Non
Opiate Users in treatment,
who successfully
completed treatment and
did not represent within 6
months of completion

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

22.79 21.01 27.20 26.90 32.50 28.30

Performance continues to improve and meet the
expectations set in the drug and alcohol contract. This
performance places Gloucestershire in the top quartile of
Local Authority comparator performance .

Publicly
Reported

% of Universal partnership
plus infants who receive a
new birth visit by 30 days
old

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

100.0 % 100.0 %

Families are categorised by level of need indicators
Universal (U), Universal Plus (UP) and Universal
Partnership Plus (UPP) these are nationally recognised
offers in Health Visiting. This indicator relates to the
highest need category (UPP). Performance for Q3 2018/19
was also 100%.

Publicly
Reported

% of Universal partnership
plus children who received
a 12mth review by the age
of 15mths

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

95.8 % 100.0 %

Families are categorised by level of need indicators
Universal (U), Universal Plus (UP) and Universal
Partnership Plus (UPP) these are nationally recognised
offers in Health Visiting. This indicator relates to the
highest need category (UPP). From a cohort of 71 eligible
UPP children 68 children receive d their one year review
and 3 did not attend. These children have had their
appointment rebooked as per protocol for UP and UPP
children.  Performance for Q3 2018/19 was 96.2%.

Publicly
Reported

% Reception Children
overweight including
obesity

Smaller is
Better

Annual 24.7 % 23.1 % 22.2 % 24.5 % 23.8 %

23.8% children measured in 2017/18 had an access weight (either
overweight or obesity. This is significantly higher than both regional and
national levels at 21.9% and 22.4% respectively. The county average
conceals significant incounty variation with the prevalence of excess weight
at district level ranging from 21.7% in Cheltenham to 25.9% in
Tewkesbury.   The new 'first 1001 days' targeted healthy lifestyles
programme delivered by the healthy lifestyles service aims to support
pregnant and postnatal women to maintain a healthier weight and to
support obesity prevention within the family.  Following our participation in
the national whole systems obesity programme we are mapping obesity
prevention activity to inform our development priorities.

Publicly
Reported

% Year 6 Children
overweight including
obesity

Smaller is
Better

Annual 32.1 % 31.3 % 32.1 % 31.1 % 32.1 %

32.1% children measured in 2017/18 had an access weight (either
overweight or obesity).  This is significantly lower than the national level of
34.3% and in line with the regional average. The county average conceals
significant incounty variation with the prevalence of excess weight at
district level ranging from 27.8% in Cotswolds to 36.8% in
Gloucester.  Levels of obesity are 17.8% at county level, which is
significantly lower than the national level (20.1%) but higher than the
regional level (16.8%).     The county average conceals significant in
county variation with the prevalence of obesity at district level ranging from
13.5% in Cotswolds to 21.1% in Gloucester.  The level of severe obesity in
Gloucester is 5.0, which is higher (but not statistically significantly higher)
than the national average of 4.2%, and is the highest level of any district in
the South West region. Following our participation in the national whole
systems obesity programme we are mapping obesity prevention activity to
inform our development priorities.  Funding has been secured for a two year
pilot programme to develop and deliver weight management support for
families with children affected by obesity.  Service delivery will start in the
Autumn and an independent evaluation of the offer will be used to shape
future commissioning.

Publicly
Reported

% of late HIV diagnosis 
Annual

Smaller is
Better

Annual 42.2 % 43.3 % 36.1 % 50.7 % 63.8 % 40.0 %

**No new data available this Qtr** Data shown covers the
three year period 201517 and the indicator is updated by
PHE annually. Gloucestershire has now had two
consecutive periods (three year rolling averages) which
show that a higher proportion of diagnoses of HIV in the
county are classified as 'late'. For the three years 2015 to
2017 this equates to 44 cases diagnosed late. While we
have relatively few cases of HIV in Gloucestershire overall,
it is important to understand the cause of the issue, and to
identify interventions to reduce the risk of late diagnosis.
The Public Health team have been working with Public
Health England Field Epidemiology Service to review the
data in more depth. A group of multiagency
stakeholders has been brought together to review the
issues (and data) and a number of actions are being taken
forward. Updates are being provided to the Director of
Public Health.

Publicly
Reported

Suicide rate per 100K
Population

Smaller is
Better

3 Year
Average

12.9 12.2 10.6 10.8 9.8 9.6

This figure is the three year average suicide rate per
100,000 population (201517) which is published
nationally to enable comparisons between areas.  This is
the latest available data which has approximately one
year lag due to reporting delays which occur as a result of
the inquest decision process.  Providing three year
averages reduces the fluctuations due to random chance
which occur when analysing small
numbers.  Gloucestershire's suicide rate is statistically
similar to the England Average.

Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19
Target Qtr
Jun19

Comments Qtr Jun19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Comments Qtr Mar19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19
Target Qtr
Mar19

Comments Qtr Mar19

Annual Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar15 Qtr Mar16 Qtr Mar17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Mar19 Comments Qtr Mar19

Annual Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Year in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec14 Qtr Dec15 Qtr Dec16 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

Comments Qtr Dec18

Three Year Average Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep15
(1113)

Qtr Sep16
(1214)

Qtr Sep17
(1315)

Qtr Sep18
(1416)

Qtr Jun19
(1517)

Target Qtr
Jun19

Comments Qtr Jun19

7

P
age 135

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col12')


Public Health
Cllr Tim Harman

% of eligible patients
offered an NHS health
check

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

2.4 % 3.6 % 2.0 % 2.5 % 5.0 %

Q1 19/20 data is not currently available due to technical
issues with the data extraction tool which is impacting on
data quality and completeness. Work is underway to
resolve these; and an update is expected at the end of Q2.
There is an alternative data set available if the problem
cannot be resolved.

Publicly
Reported

% of all customers who
achieve a significant risk
factor improvement

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

73.0 % 76.0 % 72.0 % 68.0 % 72.0 % 75.0 %

High numbers of service users continue to make behaviour
changes that will impact on their health.   There has been
an increase in the numbers achieving in this indicator from
601/888 (68%) in Q4 to 817/1141 (72%) in Q1. Of the
1141, HLS achievement was 351/458 (77%)  and SW
466/683 (68%) Of the 324 that did not meet the threshold
for significant improvement 215 (19%) made some
improvement in achieving their behaviour change goal.
Therefore in total 1,032 (90%) made some improvement
in their behaviour change goal.

Publicly
Reported

% of infants being
breastfed at 68 weeks
(breastfeeding prevalence)

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 51.60 53.60 54.30 53.70 56.30

Q4 18/19 rate of 56.3% continues the improvement achieved in Q3 but
remains below the local aim of 58%.  The retention rate of mothers recorded
as breastfeeding at 2 weeks who are still breastfeeding at 8 weeks is 81%.
GCC continues to commission a revised Breastfeeding Peer Support service
targeting areas with lower rates of uptake and increased numbers of younger
mums than the Gloucestershire average. BFPS offer support in the more
deprived wards of Gloucester, Cheltenham and the Forest of Dean.  Further
initiatives contributing to increasing Breastfeeding rates are facilitated by
the Gloucestershire Infant Feeding Strategic partnership led by GCC.
Q4 18/19 rate of 56.3%  continues to improve rates towards local aim of
58%.  The retention rate of mothers recorded as breastfeeding at 2 weeks
who are still breastfeeding at 8 weeks is 81%. GCC continues to commission
a revised Breastfeeding Peer Support service targeting areas with lower rates
of uptake and increased numbers of younger mums than the Gloucestershire
average. BFPS offer support in the more deprived wards of Gloucester,
Cheltenham and the Forest of Dean.  Further initiatives contributing to
increasing Breastfeeding rates are facilitated by the Gloucestershire Infant
Feeding Strategic partnership led by GCC.

Publicly
Reported

Total no. of pregnant
smokers achieving a 4
week quit

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

28 31 25 25 22

The numbers of pregnant women achieving a 4 week quit is broken down by
those accessing support from HLS and those receiving support via the
PHES.

For HLS there has been a drop from in the numbers of 4 week quits achieved
as well as a significant drop in the quit rate.  Q3 figures were 25/31
(81%) whereas Q4 saw 19/34 (56%).  Data for the PHES has increased from 0
in Q3 to 3/8 (38%) in Q4.  This equates to an overall quit rate of 22/42 (52%)

HLS are still achieving above the national quit rate average (50%) but there
has been a drop in performance.  This is largely due to the appointment of
an additional specialised maternity coach and the requirement to train her
in both systems and processes as well as specialist smoking in pregnancy
behaviour change techniques.  This has taken some capacity away from our
existing coach i.e. both to train the new coach but also moving some women
over to the new coach for support.   We therefore expected the quit rate to be
lower whilst she gains experience and builds relationships within the
maternity system.

HLS annual performance was 100/127 (79%) of women achieving a
successful quit attempt, which is an exceptional quit rate.  PHES
achievement was 3/20 (15%) which was expected as GP's and Pharmacy's do
not have the expertise to support pregnant women and who only support
those that do not wish to access HLS. 

there is a significant amount of work taking place around this area to build
on the above results

Publicly
Reported

% of pregnant smokers
achieving a 4 week quit

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

? 88.5 % 80.6 % 64.0 % 52.3 % 70.0 %
See above.

Publicly
Reported

Proportion of adult alcohol
misusers who have left
treatment successfully

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

29.3 % 27.7 % 32.6 % 32.1 % 38.7 % 32.0 %

Performance continues to improve and meet the
expectations set in the drug and alcohol contract. This
performance places Gloucestershire in the top quartile of
Local Authority comparator families .

This upward performance is expected to continue in
2019/20

Publicly
Reported

Proportion of all Opiate
Users in treatment, who
successfully completed
treatment and did not
represent within 6 months
of completion

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

4.6 4.1 4.6 5.3 7.0 5.4

Performance continues to improve and meet the
expectations set in the drug and alcohol contract. We
expect to see this continue to improve in 2019/20.

This performance places Gloucestershire closer to the top
quartile of Local Authority comparator families
performance and would require at least 6 additional
completions to go into the top quartile.

Publicly
Reported

Proportion of all Non
Opiate Users in treatment,
who successfully
completed treatment and
did not represent within 6
months of completion

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

22.79 21.01 27.20 26.90 32.50 28.30

Performance continues to improve and meet the
expectations set in the drug and alcohol contract. This
performance places Gloucestershire in the top quartile of
Local Authority comparator performance .

Publicly
Reported

% of Universal partnership
plus infants who receive a
new birth visit by 30 days
old

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

100.0 % 100.0 %

Families are categorised by level of need indicators
Universal (U), Universal Plus (UP) and Universal
Partnership Plus (UPP) these are nationally recognised
offers in Health Visiting. This indicator relates to the
highest need category (UPP). Performance for Q3 2018/19
was also 100%.

Publicly
Reported

% of Universal partnership
plus children who received
a 12mth review by the age
of 15mths

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

95.8 % 100.0 %

Families are categorised by level of need indicators
Universal (U), Universal Plus (UP) and Universal
Partnership Plus (UPP) these are nationally recognised
offers in Health Visiting. This indicator relates to the
highest need category (UPP). From a cohort of 71 eligible
UPP children 68 children receive d their one year review
and 3 did not attend. These children have had their
appointment rebooked as per protocol for UP and UPP
children.  Performance for Q3 2018/19 was 96.2%.

Publicly
Reported

% Reception Children
overweight including
obesity

Smaller is
Better

Annual 24.7 % 23.1 % 22.2 % 24.5 % 23.8 %

23.8% children measured in 2017/18 had an access weight (either
overweight or obesity. This is significantly higher than both regional and
national levels at 21.9% and 22.4% respectively. The county average
conceals significant incounty variation with the prevalence of excess weight
at district level ranging from 21.7% in Cheltenham to 25.9% in
Tewkesbury.   The new 'first 1001 days' targeted healthy lifestyles
programme delivered by the healthy lifestyles service aims to support
pregnant and postnatal women to maintain a healthier weight and to
support obesity prevention within the family.  Following our participation in
the national whole systems obesity programme we are mapping obesity
prevention activity to inform our development priorities.

Publicly
Reported

% Year 6 Children
overweight including
obesity

Smaller is
Better

Annual 32.1 % 31.3 % 32.1 % 31.1 % 32.1 %

32.1% children measured in 2017/18 had an access weight (either
overweight or obesity).  This is significantly lower than the national level of
34.3% and in line with the regional average. The county average conceals
significant incounty variation with the prevalence of excess weight at
district level ranging from 27.8% in Cotswolds to 36.8% in
Gloucester.  Levels of obesity are 17.8% at county level, which is
significantly lower than the national level (20.1%) but higher than the
regional level (16.8%).     The county average conceals significant in
county variation with the prevalence of obesity at district level ranging from
13.5% in Cotswolds to 21.1% in Gloucester.  The level of severe obesity in
Gloucester is 5.0, which is higher (but not statistically significantly higher)
than the national average of 4.2%, and is the highest level of any district in
the South West region. Following our participation in the national whole
systems obesity programme we are mapping obesity prevention activity to
inform our development priorities.  Funding has been secured for a two year
pilot programme to develop and deliver weight management support for
families with children affected by obesity.  Service delivery will start in the
Autumn and an independent evaluation of the offer will be used to shape
future commissioning.

Publicly
Reported

% of late HIV diagnosis 
Annual

Smaller is
Better

Annual 42.2 % 43.3 % 36.1 % 50.7 % 63.8 % 40.0 %

**No new data available this Qtr** Data shown covers the
three year period 201517 and the indicator is updated by
PHE annually. Gloucestershire has now had two
consecutive periods (three year rolling averages) which
show that a higher proportion of diagnoses of HIV in the
county are classified as 'late'. For the three years 2015 to
2017 this equates to 44 cases diagnosed late. While we
have relatively few cases of HIV in Gloucestershire overall,
it is important to understand the cause of the issue, and to
identify interventions to reduce the risk of late diagnosis.
The Public Health team have been working with Public
Health England Field Epidemiology Service to review the
data in more depth. A group of multiagency
stakeholders has been brought together to review the
issues (and data) and a number of actions are being taken
forward. Updates are being provided to the Director of
Public Health.

Publicly
Reported

Suicide rate per 100K
Population

Smaller is
Better

3 Year
Average

12.9 12.2 10.6 10.8 9.8 9.6

This figure is the three year average suicide rate per
100,000 population (201517) which is published
nationally to enable comparisons between areas.  This is
the latest available data which has approximately one
year lag due to reporting delays which occur as a result of
the inquest decision process.  Providing three year
averages reduces the fluctuations due to random chance
which occur when analysing small
numbers.  Gloucestershire's suicide rate is statistically
similar to the England Average.

Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19
Target Qtr
Jun19

Comments Qtr Jun19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Comments Qtr Mar19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19
Target Qtr
Mar19

Comments Qtr Mar19

Annual Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar15 Qtr Mar16 Qtr Mar17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Mar19 Comments Qtr Mar19

Annual Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Year in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec14 Qtr Dec15 Qtr Dec16 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

Comments Qtr Dec18

Three Year Average Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep15
(1113)

Qtr Sep16
(1214)

Qtr Sep17
(1315)

Qtr Sep18
(1416)

Qtr Jun19
(1517)

Target Qtr
Jun19

Comments Qtr Jun19

8

P
age 136

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col11')


Public Health
Cllr Tim Harman

% of eligible patients
offered an NHS health
check

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

2.4 % 3.6 % 2.0 % 2.5 % 5.0 %

Q1 19/20 data is not currently available due to technical
issues with the data extraction tool which is impacting on
data quality and completeness. Work is underway to
resolve these; and an update is expected at the end of Q2.
There is an alternative data set available if the problem
cannot be resolved.

Publicly
Reported

% of all customers who
achieve a significant risk
factor improvement

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

73.0 % 76.0 % 72.0 % 68.0 % 72.0 % 75.0 %

High numbers of service users continue to make behaviour
changes that will impact on their health.   There has been
an increase in the numbers achieving in this indicator from
601/888 (68%) in Q4 to 817/1141 (72%) in Q1. Of the
1141, HLS achievement was 351/458 (77%)  and SW
466/683 (68%) Of the 324 that did not meet the threshold
for significant improvement 215 (19%) made some
improvement in achieving their behaviour change goal.
Therefore in total 1,032 (90%) made some improvement
in their behaviour change goal.

Publicly
Reported

% of infants being
breastfed at 68 weeks
(breastfeeding prevalence)

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 51.60 53.60 54.30 53.70 56.30

Q4 18/19 rate of 56.3% continues the improvement achieved in Q3 but
remains below the local aim of 58%.  The retention rate of mothers recorded
as breastfeeding at 2 weeks who are still breastfeeding at 8 weeks is 81%.
GCC continues to commission a revised Breastfeeding Peer Support service
targeting areas with lower rates of uptake and increased numbers of younger
mums than the Gloucestershire average. BFPS offer support in the more
deprived wards of Gloucester, Cheltenham and the Forest of Dean.  Further
initiatives contributing to increasing Breastfeeding rates are facilitated by
the Gloucestershire Infant Feeding Strategic partnership led by GCC.
Q4 18/19 rate of 56.3%  continues to improve rates towards local aim of
58%.  The retention rate of mothers recorded as breastfeeding at 2 weeks
who are still breastfeeding at 8 weeks is 81%. GCC continues to commission
a revised Breastfeeding Peer Support service targeting areas with lower rates
of uptake and increased numbers of younger mums than the Gloucestershire
average. BFPS offer support in the more deprived wards of Gloucester,
Cheltenham and the Forest of Dean.  Further initiatives contributing to
increasing Breastfeeding rates are facilitated by the Gloucestershire Infant
Feeding Strategic partnership led by GCC.

Publicly
Reported

Total no. of pregnant
smokers achieving a 4
week quit

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

28 31 25 25 22

The numbers of pregnant women achieving a 4 week quit is broken down by
those accessing support from HLS and those receiving support via the
PHES.

For HLS there has been a drop from in the numbers of 4 week quits achieved
as well as a significant drop in the quit rate.  Q3 figures were 25/31
(81%) whereas Q4 saw 19/34 (56%).  Data for the PHES has increased from 0
in Q3 to 3/8 (38%) in Q4.  This equates to an overall quit rate of 22/42 (52%)

HLS are still achieving above the national quit rate average (50%) but there
has been a drop in performance.  This is largely due to the appointment of
an additional specialised maternity coach and the requirement to train her
in both systems and processes as well as specialist smoking in pregnancy
behaviour change techniques.  This has taken some capacity away from our
existing coach i.e. both to train the new coach but also moving some women
over to the new coach for support.   We therefore expected the quit rate to be
lower whilst she gains experience and builds relationships within the
maternity system.

HLS annual performance was 100/127 (79%) of women achieving a
successful quit attempt, which is an exceptional quit rate.  PHES
achievement was 3/20 (15%) which was expected as GP's and Pharmacy's do
not have the expertise to support pregnant women and who only support
those that do not wish to access HLS. 

there is a significant amount of work taking place around this area to build
on the above results

Publicly
Reported

% of pregnant smokers
achieving a 4 week quit

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

? 88.5 % 80.6 % 64.0 % 52.3 % 70.0 %
See above.

Publicly
Reported

Proportion of adult alcohol
misusers who have left
treatment successfully

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

29.3 % 27.7 % 32.6 % 32.1 % 38.7 % 32.0 %

Performance continues to improve and meet the
expectations set in the drug and alcohol contract. This
performance places Gloucestershire in the top quartile of
Local Authority comparator families .

This upward performance is expected to continue in
2019/20

Publicly
Reported

Proportion of all Opiate
Users in treatment, who
successfully completed
treatment and did not
represent within 6 months
of completion

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

4.6 4.1 4.6 5.3 7.0 5.4

Performance continues to improve and meet the
expectations set in the drug and alcohol contract. We
expect to see this continue to improve in 2019/20.

This performance places Gloucestershire closer to the top
quartile of Local Authority comparator families
performance and would require at least 6 additional
completions to go into the top quartile.

Publicly
Reported

Proportion of all Non
Opiate Users in treatment,
who successfully
completed treatment and
did not represent within 6
months of completion

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

22.79 21.01 27.20 26.90 32.50 28.30

Performance continues to improve and meet the
expectations set in the drug and alcohol contract. This
performance places Gloucestershire in the top quartile of
Local Authority comparator performance .

Publicly
Reported

% of Universal partnership
plus infants who receive a
new birth visit by 30 days
old

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

100.0 % 100.0 %

Families are categorised by level of need indicators
Universal (U), Universal Plus (UP) and Universal
Partnership Plus (UPP) these are nationally recognised
offers in Health Visiting. This indicator relates to the
highest need category (UPP). Performance for Q3 2018/19
was also 100%.

Publicly
Reported

% of Universal partnership
plus children who received
a 12mth review by the age
of 15mths

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

95.8 % 100.0 %

Families are categorised by level of need indicators
Universal (U), Universal Plus (UP) and Universal
Partnership Plus (UPP) these are nationally recognised
offers in Health Visiting. This indicator relates to the
highest need category (UPP). From a cohort of 71 eligible
UPP children 68 children receive d their one year review
and 3 did not attend. These children have had their
appointment rebooked as per protocol for UP and UPP
children.  Performance for Q3 2018/19 was 96.2%.

Publicly
Reported

% Reception Children
overweight including
obesity

Smaller is
Better

Annual 24.7 % 23.1 % 22.2 % 24.5 % 23.8 %

23.8% children measured in 2017/18 had an access weight (either
overweight or obesity. This is significantly higher than both regional and
national levels at 21.9% and 22.4% respectively. The county average
conceals significant incounty variation with the prevalence of excess weight
at district level ranging from 21.7% in Cheltenham to 25.9% in
Tewkesbury.   The new 'first 1001 days' targeted healthy lifestyles
programme delivered by the healthy lifestyles service aims to support
pregnant and postnatal women to maintain a healthier weight and to
support obesity prevention within the family.  Following our participation in
the national whole systems obesity programme we are mapping obesity
prevention activity to inform our development priorities.

Publicly
Reported

% Year 6 Children
overweight including
obesity

Smaller is
Better

Annual 32.1 % 31.3 % 32.1 % 31.1 % 32.1 %

32.1% children measured in 2017/18 had an access weight (either
overweight or obesity).  This is significantly lower than the national level of
34.3% and in line with the regional average. The county average conceals
significant incounty variation with the prevalence of excess weight at
district level ranging from 27.8% in Cotswolds to 36.8% in
Gloucester.  Levels of obesity are 17.8% at county level, which is
significantly lower than the national level (20.1%) but higher than the
regional level (16.8%).     The county average conceals significant in
county variation with the prevalence of obesity at district level ranging from
13.5% in Cotswolds to 21.1% in Gloucester.  The level of severe obesity in
Gloucester is 5.0, which is higher (but not statistically significantly higher)
than the national average of 4.2%, and is the highest level of any district in
the South West region. Following our participation in the national whole
systems obesity programme we are mapping obesity prevention activity to
inform our development priorities.  Funding has been secured for a two year
pilot programme to develop and deliver weight management support for
families with children affected by obesity.  Service delivery will start in the
Autumn and an independent evaluation of the offer will be used to shape
future commissioning.

Publicly
Reported

% of late HIV diagnosis 
Annual

Smaller is
Better

Annual 42.2 % 43.3 % 36.1 % 50.7 % 63.8 % 40.0 %

**No new data available this Qtr** Data shown covers the
three year period 201517 and the indicator is updated by
PHE annually. Gloucestershire has now had two
consecutive periods (three year rolling averages) which
show that a higher proportion of diagnoses of HIV in the
county are classified as 'late'. For the three years 2015 to
2017 this equates to 44 cases diagnosed late. While we
have relatively few cases of HIV in Gloucestershire overall,
it is important to understand the cause of the issue, and to
identify interventions to reduce the risk of late diagnosis.
The Public Health team have been working with Public
Health England Field Epidemiology Service to review the
data in more depth. A group of multiagency
stakeholders has been brought together to review the
issues (and data) and a number of actions are being taken
forward. Updates are being provided to the Director of
Public Health.

Publicly
Reported

Suicide rate per 100K
Population

Smaller is
Better

3 Year
Average

12.9 12.2 10.6 10.8 9.8 9.6

This figure is the three year average suicide rate per
100,000 population (201517) which is published
nationally to enable comparisons between areas.  This is
the latest available data which has approximately one
year lag due to reporting delays which occur as a result of
the inquest decision process.  Providing three year
averages reduces the fluctuations due to random chance
which occur when analysing small
numbers.  Gloucestershire's suicide rate is statistically
similar to the England Average.

Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19
Target Qtr
Jun19

Comments Qtr Jun19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Comments Qtr Mar19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19
Target Qtr
Mar19

Comments Qtr Mar19

Annual Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar15 Qtr Mar16 Qtr Mar17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Mar19 Comments Qtr Mar19

Annual Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Year in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec14 Qtr Dec15 Qtr Dec16 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

Comments Qtr Dec18

Three Year Average Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep15
(1113)

Qtr Sep16
(1214)

Qtr Sep17
(1315)

Qtr Sep18
(1416)

Qtr Jun19
(1517)

Target Qtr
Jun19

Comments Qtr Jun19

9

P
age 137

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col11')


Public Protection, Parking & Libraries
Cllr Dave Norman

Trading Standards

Number of
complaints/reports of scam
activity against vulnerable
individuals (includes
doorstep crime)

Bigger is
Better

77 141 209 304
Publicly
Reported

% of complaints/reports of
scam activity against
vulnerable individuals
where there is a trader
present or immediate risk
of additional loss
responded to within 1
working day

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Data for Quarter1 unavailable report to recommence
Quarter 2.

Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19
Target Qtr
Jun19

Comments Qtr Jun19

Fire & Rescue

Number of Safe and Well
visits undertaken

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 2,259 2,023 1,751 2,025 1,626 1,875

The Service is liaising with HR to bring in secondary
contracts which will include Safe and Well visits. This will
assist us getting the visit rate up without encroaching on
Risk critical firefighter training

Publicly
Reported

% of incidents of dwelling
fires attended within 8
minutes  Risk Category 1

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

80.0 % 92.9 % 92.9 % 93.0 % 60.0 % 80.0 %

The number of Cat 1 dwelling fires remains low (5). Target
response times were met on three occasions. Response
times exceeded target on two occasions and related to
cover arrangements. A review of factors impacting
on response arrangements is being undertaken and a
review of the Strategy will be developed.

Publicly
Reported

% of Safe and Well visits
undertaken to those in high
risk groups

Bigger is
Better

76.0 % 80.0 % 77.0 % 78.0 % 82.0 % 75.0 %
Publicly
Reported

Number of Accidental
Dwelling Fires

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 67 78 94 64 65 66
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19
Target Qtr
Jun19

Comments Qtr Jun19

Libraries

No of lighttouch business
interactions supported by
the Growth Hubs

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 276
Publicly
Reported

No. of borrowers of estock
Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 6,706 13,827 19,525 27,490 8,386 5,900
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Comments Qtr Jun19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19
Target Jun
19

Comments Qtr Jun19

10

P
age 138

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col18')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')


Public Protection, Parking & Libraries
Cllr Dave Norman

Trading Standards

Number of
complaints/reports of scam
activity against vulnerable
individuals (includes
doorstep crime)

Bigger is
Better

77 141 209 304
Publicly
Reported

% of complaints/reports of
scam activity against
vulnerable individuals
where there is a trader
present or immediate risk
of additional loss
responded to within 1
working day

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Data for Quarter1 unavailable report to recommence
Quarter 2.

Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19
Target Qtr
Jun19

Comments Qtr Jun19

Fire & Rescue

Number of Safe and Well
visits undertaken

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 2,259 2,023 1,751 2,025 1,626 1,875

The Service is liaising with HR to bring in secondary
contracts which will include Safe and Well visits. This will
assist us getting the visit rate up without encroaching on
Risk critical firefighter training

Publicly
Reported

% of incidents of dwelling
fires attended within 8
minutes  Risk Category 1

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

80.0 % 92.9 % 92.9 % 93.0 % 60.0 % 80.0 %

The number of Cat 1 dwelling fires remains low (5). Target
response times were met on three occasions. Response
times exceeded target on two occasions and related to
cover arrangements. A review of factors impacting
on response arrangements is being undertaken and a
review of the Strategy will be developed.

Publicly
Reported

% of Safe and Well visits
undertaken to those in high
risk groups

Bigger is
Better

76.0 % 80.0 % 77.0 % 78.0 % 82.0 % 75.0 %
Publicly
Reported

Number of Accidental
Dwelling Fires

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 67 78 94 64 65 66
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19
Target Qtr
Jun19

Comments Qtr Jun19

Libraries

No of lighttouch business
interactions supported by
the Growth Hubs

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 276
Publicly
Reported

No. of borrowers of estock
Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 6,706 13,827 19,525 27,490 8,386 5,900
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Comments Qtr Jun19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19
Target Jun
19

Comments Qtr Jun19

11

P
age 139

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')


Strategic Risk Summary

SR7.1
Failure to protect vulnerable adults in Gloucestershire from
abuse neglect in situations that potentially could have been
predicted and prevented.

Willcox,
Margaret High 20 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10

The Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board is
continuing with its programme of continuous
improvement in safeguarding adults practice through
learning and awareness raising of current issues. The
Board is currently collaborating with the Children's
service to improve practice in safeguarding young
adults with complex needs who are making the
transition from children's services and ran a joint
learning event for practitioners in the last quarter.

SR7.6

Unable to support all those who can, to live independently at
home, because demand for home care services outstrips
available capacity. Resulting in the reliance on temporary
respite/alternative bed based care in lieu of home care

Willcox,
Margaret

High 20 High 15 High 15 High 15

We continue to work with providers to maintain
existing services and develop new ones.  This is
proving productive but the market is variable, both
locally and nationally.

SR9.1
Failure to deliver outcomes of the PREVENT Strategy impacting
on the residents and businesses of Gloucestershire

Bowcock,
Wayne High 20 High 15 High 15 High 15 High 15 High 15

Gloucestershire PREVENT Partnership Board meet
quarterly.  This complements the Counter Terrorism
Local Profile and the recent national referral system
to ensure agencies effectively understand and
prioritise local threats and vulnerabilities and agree
courses of action as required by: •         Annual
Training  and SelfAssessment survey to identify gaps
•         Monitoring agencies PREVENT activity Running
awareness workshops and training sessions for all
agency members to: •         ensure understanding of
the risk of radicalisation •         embedded in the day
to day safeguarding work within their agency,
educational institution or body
Gloucestershire PREVENT Partnership Board meet
quarterly.  This complements the Counter Terrorism
Local Profile and the recent national referral system
to ensure agencies effectively understand and
prioritise local threats and vulnerabilities and agree
courses of action as required by: •         Annual
Training  and SelfAssessment survey to identify gaps
•         Monitoring agencies PREVENT activity Running
awareness workshops and training sessions for all
agency members to: •         ensure understanding of
the risk of radicalisation •         embedded in the day
to day safeguarding work within their agency,
educational institution or body

SR10.1

Failure of the Council or a key partner to effectively respond to
a major incident or event external to the council that results in
community disruption and failure to return to normal, within
required timescales.

Bowcock,
Wayne

High 15 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 9

Community risk register and commensurate risk
plans are in place and regularly reviewed by the Civil
Protection Team. Threats and impacts to service
delivery are encompassed within the business
continuity management assessments and plans
developed to cover high risk eventualities. All BCM
plans have recently been reviewed, tested and where
appropriate, updated.

SR10.3 Implications of the Policing and Crime Bill impacting on the Fire
& Rescue Service and County Council

Bowcock,
Wayne

High 15 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10

In February 2019 the OPCC submitted a business
case to the Secretary of State for change in relation
to the governance of the Fire and Rescue Service in
Gloucestershire.  GCC submitted its response to the
business case opposing the PCC's proposals on the
grounds that it will impact public safety, reduce the
level of funding available to the Service and minimise
public scrutiny of decisions.  Currently the Secretary
of State has deferred making the decision until after
the OPCC elections in May 2020.

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children & Young People and Adults
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Jun18
Residual Risk
Qtr Sep18

Residual Risk
Qtr Dec18

Residual Risk
Qtr Mar19

Residual Risk
Qtr Jun19

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children & Young People and Adults (New Quarter 1 2018/19)
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Dec18
Residual Risk
Qtr Mar19

Residual Risk
Qtr Jun19

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 9: Gloucestershire Prevent
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Jun18
Residual Risk
Qtr Sep18

Residual Risk
Qtr Dec18

Residual Risk
Qtr Mar19

Residual Risk
Qtr Jun19

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 10: Emergency Response & Business Continuity Threats
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Jun18
Residual Risk
Qtr Sep18

Residual Risk
Qtr Dec18

Residual Risk
Qtr Mar19

Residual Risk
Qtr Jun19

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

12

P
age 140

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col12')


Strategic Risk Summary

SR7.1
Failure to protect vulnerable adults in Gloucestershire from
abuse neglect in situations that potentially could have been
predicted and prevented.

Willcox,
Margaret High 20 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10

The Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board is
continuing with its programme of continuous
improvement in safeguarding adults practice through
learning and awareness raising of current issues. The
Board is currently collaborating with the Children's
service to improve practice in safeguarding young
adults with complex needs who are making the
transition from children's services and ran a joint
learning event for practitioners in the last quarter.

SR7.6

Unable to support all those who can, to live independently at
home, because demand for home care services outstrips
available capacity. Resulting in the reliance on temporary
respite/alternative bed based care in lieu of home care

Willcox,
Margaret

High 20 High 15 High 15 High 15

We continue to work with providers to maintain
existing services and develop new ones.  This is
proving productive but the market is variable, both
locally and nationally.

SR9.1
Failure to deliver outcomes of the PREVENT Strategy impacting
on the residents and businesses of Gloucestershire

Bowcock,
Wayne High 20 High 15 High 15 High 15 High 15 High 15

Gloucestershire PREVENT Partnership Board meet
quarterly.  This complements the Counter Terrorism
Local Profile and the recent national referral system
to ensure agencies effectively understand and
prioritise local threats and vulnerabilities and agree
courses of action as required by: •         Annual
Training  and SelfAssessment survey to identify gaps
•         Monitoring agencies PREVENT activity Running
awareness workshops and training sessions for all
agency members to: •         ensure understanding of
the risk of radicalisation •         embedded in the day
to day safeguarding work within their agency,
educational institution or body
Gloucestershire PREVENT Partnership Board meet
quarterly.  This complements the Counter Terrorism
Local Profile and the recent national referral system
to ensure agencies effectively understand and
prioritise local threats and vulnerabilities and agree
courses of action as required by: •         Annual
Training  and SelfAssessment survey to identify gaps
•         Monitoring agencies PREVENT activity Running
awareness workshops and training sessions for all
agency members to: •         ensure understanding of
the risk of radicalisation •         embedded in the day
to day safeguarding work within their agency,
educational institution or body

SR10.1

Failure of the Council or a key partner to effectively respond to
a major incident or event external to the council that results in
community disruption and failure to return to normal, within
required timescales.

Bowcock,
Wayne

High 15 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 9

Community risk register and commensurate risk
plans are in place and regularly reviewed by the Civil
Protection Team. Threats and impacts to service
delivery are encompassed within the business
continuity management assessments and plans
developed to cover high risk eventualities. All BCM
plans have recently been reviewed, tested and where
appropriate, updated.

SR10.3 Implications of the Policing and Crime Bill impacting on the Fire
& Rescue Service and County Council

Bowcock,
Wayne

High 15 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10

In February 2019 the OPCC submitted a business
case to the Secretary of State for change in relation
to the governance of the Fire and Rescue Service in
Gloucestershire.  GCC submitted its response to the
business case opposing the PCC's proposals on the
grounds that it will impact public safety, reduce the
level of funding available to the Service and minimise
public scrutiny of decisions.  Currently the Secretary
of State has deferred making the decision until after
the OPCC elections in May 2020.

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children & Young People and Adults
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Jun18
Residual Risk
Qtr Sep18

Residual Risk
Qtr Dec18

Residual Risk
Qtr Mar19

Residual Risk
Qtr Jun19

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children & Young People and Adults (New Quarter 1 2018/19)
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Dec18
Residual Risk
Qtr Mar19

Residual Risk
Qtr Jun19

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 9: Gloucestershire Prevent
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Jun18
Residual Risk
Qtr Sep18

Residual Risk
Qtr Dec18

Residual Risk
Qtr Mar19

Residual Risk
Qtr Jun19

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 10: Emergency Response & Business Continuity Threats
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Jun18
Residual Risk
Qtr Sep18

Residual Risk
Qtr Dec18

Residual Risk
Qtr Mar19

Residual Risk
Qtr Jun19

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

13

P
age 141

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col11')


T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Title Chief Fire Officer Report – Adult and Social Care and 
Communities Scrutiny Committee

Chief Fire Officer 
suite of Services

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service, Trading Standards, Civil 
Protection and Coroners Services. 

Date 24th September 2019

Purpose of Report To provide a strategic update on issues and key areas of service 
provision, opportunities and challenges

Fire and Rescue

1. HMICFRS Inspection Update

1.1 Inspection Outcomes:
Following a full inspection in June 19, the Service have received a letter from Wendy 
Williams, Her Majesty’s Inspector of Fire & Rescue Services. It states that following 
consideration of the evidence they collected during the inspection, they have identified 
two causes of concern in relation to how Gloucestershire FRS keeps the public safe 
through the regulation of fire safety and how the service promotes its values and 
culture. A number of other areas for consideration were discussed during a ‘hot debrief’ 
at the end of inspection week. 

1.2 Protection:
HMI state that Gloucestershire FRS does not have a clear protection strategy that 
describes how it will meet its statutory responsibilities. They are not satisfied the 
service is using its risk based inspection programme (RBIP) to effectively identify the 
highest-risk premises and there are too few staff to meet the requirements of its RBIP, 
albeit recognising resource levels are being reconsidered. It also states that the 
Service needs to understand how to interpret its protection data effectively.  

1.3 Culture:
The second concern is about the culture of the service and the behaviour of some staff. 
They state that staff do not believe in, nor work to, the service’s values and, worryingly, 
they found examples of bullying. They state that the Service needs to introduce and 
embed its new values as a matter of urgency to allow staff and managers to 
understand the priorities for the future and the behaviours that are acceptable. It also 
states that the service’s management must all role model these behaviours.

1.4 Progress:
The full report is due in December 2019.  The Service has already begun to deal with 
identified issues using an informal action plan to address all of the areas discussed in 
the ‘hot debrief’.  This includes an MTFS bid for additional resources to enable us to 

Page 143

Agenda Item 10



2

take forward the areas of concern identified both from the HMI inspection and from the 
internal audit reports. Work has also started on values alignment with GCC to help take 
the Service forward.

1.5 Since the Service received notification that fire protection was a cause for concern, an 
action-plan has been developed to improve the specific areas identified from the initial 
inspection. The action-plan was submitted to HMICFRS on the 28th August 2019, 
leading to a request to re-visit. The aim of the visit is to assess and assure the 
management and oversight of the fire protection action-plan. The re-inspection will take 
place over three days, from the 20th November to the 23rd November 2019. The re-
inspection is only concerned with the area of fire protection. The second cause for 
concern (culture of the service), will not be re-inspected until the next cycle of full 
inspections beginning in 2020.

2. GFRS Structural Review

2.1 GFRS started a six-week period of consultation with trade unions, staff and 
stakeholders on the 5th August 2019. A comprehensive communication strategy and 
staff engagement plan has been implemented to ensure all parts of the service are 
consulted. This follows a review of the service’s statutory duties and the existing 
structure, followed by the development of a new draft structure that better reflects 
service delivery needs.  This structure identifies additional resources required to take 
forward the improvements from both from the HMI inspection and from the internal 
audit reports.  An additional resources bid has been submitted and is going through the 
MTFS bid process.

3. Community Safety Team

3.1 Staffing:
Progress on the medium-term staffing solution has continued. GFRS and GCC HR 
have worked with the trade unions to deliver 8 – 10 fixed-term firefighter positions to 
cover medium-term shortages due to maternity, sickness and secondments. A 
selection process for on-call firefighters to transfer to whole-time contracts for a 12-
month period finished on 26th July 2019 and the successful candidates have already 
started. All candidates will have started by the end of September 2019.

3.2 NFCC Position on National Pay Negotiations:
The National Fire Chiefs Council have written to the Chair of the National Joint Council 
regarding pay negotiations that have been ongoing for a number of years. The Fire 
Brigades Union believe that the broadening role of firefighters deserves a sizeable pay 
increase. The NFCC recognises the need for a cost of living pay rise and the need for a 
delivery model that reflects the changing nature of the role and the context and 
environment within which the fire and rescue service operates.  The NFCC have the 
view that future discussions on pay should be evidence based, on a model that allows 
flexibility and productivity. In the absence of agreement on the pay negotiations, the 
NFCC are supporting a 2% cost of living pay rise for this year and this has been agreed 
with the FBU.

3.3 Warm Weather Affects Non-Traditional Fire and Rescue Roles:
The warm weather experienced in August resulted in a marked rise in the number of 
non-traditional Fire and Rescue Service incident types. Incident data will be reviewed in 

Page 144



3

the coming months to ensure other factors are not influencing the upturn. The incidents 
include:

3.4  Causes for Concern:
These are incidents where the Fire and Rescue Service is mobilised to an address 
where there is a particular concern for the safety or welfare of a patient inside a 
property and the Ambulance Service is unable to gain access. GFRS attended 72% 
more of these incidents in August compared to the first 4 months of 2019.

3.5 Cardiac Care and Co-responding:
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service responds to critical medical emergencies 
when they are closer than an ambulance unit. The GFRS response can be from a Fire 
Appliance or an individual Firefighter in a SWAST provided vehicle. GFRS attended 
78% more of these incidents in August compared to the first 4 months of 2019.

3.6 Telecare:
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service also provides a non-emergency service to 
check on the welfare of GCC Telecare service-users when neighbours and family are 
unavailable. GFRS responded to 154 calls in August, 58% more than the first 4 months 
of 2019.

4. Trading Standards

4.1 Withdrawal from the European Union will result in some changes to the manner in 
which businesses are able to trade with EU countries.  The degree of change and the 
extent to which existing legislation must be amended depends upon the final 
withdrawal situation, which remains uncertain, however a ‘no-deal’ withdrawal will place 
significant burdens on businesses and regulators.

4.2 Central Government have been preparing for a ‘no deal’ withdrawal. Legislation has 
been drafted and is now ready to be enacted. High-level guidance notes have been 
published highlighting areas likely to change, however DEFRA, MHCLG, the Food 
Standards Agency, The Office for Product Safety and local organisations such as 
Better Business for all and the Growth Hub are all set to signpost businesses to local 
Trading Standards Services for detailed advice. This may place a short to medium-term 
strain on existing resources.  

5. GCC Audits 

5.1 Following the eight reports published in April this year, a further six were considered by 
the council’s Audit and Governance Committee on 26 July 2019.  The audits have 
highlighted a number of areas where compliance was or is ‘limited’, identifying that 
historically our systems and processes have not been robust enough and those 
governance arrangements were not always understood or followed by all.  As with the 
previous audits, a range of actions have been agreed to ensure that GFRS makes the 
necessary improvements that give staff and the public confidence in our processes and 
systems.

5.2 The managers responsible for delivery and the timescales are all set out in the reports 
and a number of the actions have already been implemented. A programme board has 
been established to oversee the implementation of the actions.  Progress will also be 

Page 145



4

scrutinised under the new arrangements established by the council, taking the form of 
a cross-party councillor cabinet panel as an extra level of oversight, to support delivery 
of the actions.  

6. Quarterly performance review (Q1)

6.1 Number of Safe and Wells undertaken (Q1 target 1875, actual 1626): The 
Service is liaising with HR to bring in secondary contracts, which will include Safe and 
Well visits. This will assist the Service in getting the visit rate up without having a 
detrimental effect on risk critical firefighter training.

6.2 % Safe and Wells carried out for high risk groups (Q1 target 75%, actual 82%) 
The Service continues to identify and prioritise vulnerble groups. 

6.3 % of dwelling fires attended within 8 minutes Risk Category 1 CSD174 (Q1 target 
80%, actual 57%) GFRS responded to 5 FDR1 Cat 1 dwelling fires in the first 
quarter.  Two have not met the 8-minute response time and these have been 
investigated.  One incident was down due to travel time to the property. The other was 
due to appliances travelling to provide cover at another station when the call was 
received. Our policy on how we move appliances is currently being reviewed as a 
result.

7. Executive Decision Making by an Officer with Delegated Powers

7.1 There are no decisions taken for this reporting period by the Chief Fire Officer Wayne 
Bowcock.

Report end

Page 146


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	Draft Minutes Joint meeting 30 July 2019 (2)
	Draft minutes - 13 August 2019

	4 Drug and Alcohol briefing
	6 Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report
	7 Annual Public Health Report
	8 Director Public Heath Report
	9 Director Adult Social Care Report
	ASCC Scrutiny Scorecards Q1 11.9.19

	10 Chief Fire Officer Report



